
 
Chief Executive   
Ian Davidson  
 
 

www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
Minicom: 01255 475566  

 
 
 
 
 

 
IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, ESSEX, CO15 1SE.  TELEPHONE (01255) 686868 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: Thursday, 22 September 2022 

TIME: 6.00 pm 

 

VENUE: Committee Room  - Town Hall, 
Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 
1SE 

 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP: 
 

 

Councillor White (Chairman) 
Councillor Fowler (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Alexander 
Councillor Baker 
Councillor Codling 
 

Councillor V Guglielmi 
Councillor Harris 
Councillor Placey 
Councillor Wiggins 
 

 

AG
EN

D
A

Public Document Pack

http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/


  
Most Council meetings are open to the public and press. The space for 
the public and press will be made available on a first come first served 
basis. Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the 
meeting date and the Council aims to publish Minutes within five working 
days of the meeting. Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large 
print, in Braille, or on disc, tape, or in other languages. 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be 
filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items, and the 
footage will be on the website for up to 24 months (the Council retains 
one full year of recordings and the relevant proportion of the current 
Municipal Year). The Council will seek to avoid/minimise footage of 
members of the public in attendance at, or participating in, the meeting. 
In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public 
to take photographs, film, audio record and report on the proceedings at 
public meetings. The Council will only seek to prevent this should it be 
undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner. 
 
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of 
meetings by the public, please contact Emma Haward Email: 
democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk or Telephone on 01255 686007. 
 

 

 
 DATE OF PUBLICATION: Monday, 12 September 2022  

 



AGENDA 
 
  
1 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions  
 
 The Committee is asked to note any apologies for absence and substitutions received 

from Members. 
  

2 Declarations of Interest  
 
 Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Personal 

Interest, and the nature of it, in relation to any item on the agenda. 
  

3 Questions on Notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 38  
 
 Subject to providing two working days’ notice, a Member of the Committee may ask the 

Chairman of the Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the Tendring District and which falls within the terms of 
reference of the Committee. 
  

4 Report of Assistant Director (Planning) - A.1 - Planning Application – 20/00594/FUL 
– Land adjoining Ipswich Road and Wick Lane, Ardleigh, CO7 7QL (Pages 1 - 156) 

 
 The application proposes a large warehouse to be used as a food storage and 

distribution facility, with a height of between 16-20m, and a depth of up to 170m set in an 
extensive area of proposed hard standing. New access arrangements are proposed from 
Old Ipswich Road, including car parking as well as a large vehicle yard to the rear (south-
east of the proposed warehouse building) with facilities for vehicle washing and refuelling. 
The proposal also includes provision for a large attenuation pond for managing surface 
flows. 
 

 
 



 
Date of the Next Scheduled Meeting 
 
The next scheduled meeting of the Planning Committee is to be held in the Committee 
Room  - Town Hall, Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 1SE at 6.00 pm on Tuesday, 
27 September 2022. 
 

 
 

Information for Visitors 
 
 
 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

There is no alarm test scheduled for this meeting.  In the event of an alarm sounding, please 
calmly make your way out of any of the fire exits in the hall and follow the exit signs out of the 
building. 
 
Please heed the instructions given by any member of staff and they will assist you in leaving the 
building and direct you to the assembly point. 
 
Please do not re-enter the building until you are advised it is safe to do so by the relevant member 
of staff. 
 
Your calmness and assistance is greatly appreciated. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
PUBLIC SPEAKING SCHEME 

March 2021 
 
This Public Speaking Scheme is made pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 40 and gives 
the opportunity for a member of the public and other parties identified below to speak to 
Tendring District Council's Planning Committee when they are deciding a planning 
application. 
 

TO WHICH MEETINGS DOES THIS SCHEME APPLY? 
Public meeting of the Council's Planning Committee are normally held every 4 weeks at 
6.00 pm in either the Committee Room at the Town Hall, Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea 
CO15 1SE and the public are encouraged to check the venue etc. on the Council’s 
Website before attending. 
 
WHO CAN SPEAK & TIME PERMITTED?  All speakers must be aged 18 or over: 
 
1. The applicant, his agent or representative; or (where applicable) one person the 

subject of the potential enforcement action or directly affected by the potential 
confirmation of a tree preservation order, his agent or representative.  A maximum 
of 3 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 
2. One member of the public who wishes to comment on or to speak in favour of the 

application or someone who produces a signed, written authority to speak on their 
behalf.  A maximum of 3 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 
3.   One member of the public who wishes to comment on or speak against the 

application or someone who produces a signed, written authority to speak on their 
behalf.  A maximum of 3 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 
4. Where the proposed development is in the area of a Parish or Town Council, one 

Parish or Town Council representative.  A maximum of 3 minutes to speak is 
allowed; 

 
5.  All District Councillors for the ward where the development is situated (“ward 

member”) or (if the ward member is unable to attend the meeting) a District 
Councillor appointed in writing by the ward member.  Member(s) of adjacent wards 
or wards impacted by the proposed development may also speak with the 
agreement of the Chairman.  Permission for District Councillors to speak is subject 
to the Council’s Code of Conduct and the declarations of interest provisions will 
apply.  A maximum of 5 minutes to speak is allowed; 

 



In accordance, with Council Procedure Rule 34.1, this Public Speaking Scheme 
takes precedence and no other Member shall be entitled to address or speak to the 
Planning Committee under Rule 34.1; and 

 
6. A member of the Council’s Cabinet may also be permitted to speak on any 

application but only if the proposed development has a direct impact on the portfolio 
for which the Cabinet member is responsible.  The Leader of the Council must 
approve the Cabinet Member making representations to the Planning Committee.  
A maximum of 3 minutes is allowed. 

 
Any one speaking as a Parish/Town Council representative maybe requested to produce 
written evidence of their authority to do so, by the District Council’s Committee Services 
Officer (CSO).  This evidence may be an official Minute, copy of standing orders (or 
equivalent) or a signed letter from the Clerk to the Parish/Town Council and must be 
shown to the DSO before the beginning of the Planning Committee meeting concerned. 
 
No speaker, (with the exception of Ward Members, who are limited to 5 minutes) may 
speak for more than 3 minutes on any agenda items associated with applications (such as 
a planning application and an associated listed building consent application).  Speakers 
may not be questioned at the meeting, nor can any public speaker question other 
speakers, Councillors or Officers.  Speakers are not permitted to introduce any 
photograph, drawing or written material, including slide or other presentations, as part of 
their public speaking. 
 
All Committee meetings of Tendring District Council are chaired by the Chairman or Vice-
Chairman (in their absence) whose responsibility is to preside over meetings of the 
Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of 
Councillors and the interests of the community.  The Chairman of the Planning Committee 
therefore, has authority to use their discretion when applying the Public Speaking Scheme 
to comply with this duty. 
 
WHICH MATTERS ARE COVERED BY THIS SCHEME? 
 
Applications for planning permission, reserved matters approval, listed building consent, 
conservation area consent, advertisement consent, hazardous substances consent, 
proposed or potential enforcement action and the proposed or potential confirmation of 
any tree preservation order, where these are the subject of public reports to the Planning 
Committee meeting. 
 
HOW CAN I FIND OUT WHEN A MATTER WILL BE CONSIDERED? 
 
In addition to the publication of agendas with written reports, the dates and times of the 
Planning Committee meetings are shown on the Council's website.  It should be noted that 
some applications may be withdrawn by the applicant at short notice and others may be 
deferred because of new information or for procedural reasons.  This means that deferral 
takes place shortly before or during the Planning Committee meeting and you will not be 
able to speak at that meeting, but will be able to do so at the meeting when the application 
is next considered by the Planning Committee. 
 
DO I HAVE TO ATTEND THE PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING TO MAKE THE 
COMMITTEE AWARE OF MY VIEWS? 
 



No.  If you have made written representations, their substance will be taken into account 
and the Committee report, which is available to all Planning Committee Councillors, will 
contain a summary of the representations received. 
 
HOW DO I ARRANGE TO SPEAK AT THE MEETING? 
 
You can:- 
 
Telephone the Committee Services Officer (“CSO”) (01255 686007) during normal 
working hours on any weekday after the reports and agenda have been published; or 
 
Email: democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk 
 
OR 
 
On the day of the Planning Committee meeting, you can arrive in the Council Chamber or 
Town Hall (as appropriate) at least 15 minutes before the beginning of the meeting 
(meetings normally begin at 6.00pm) and speak to the CSO. 
 
If more than one person wants to speak who is eligible under a particular category (e.g. a 
member of the public within the description set out in numbered paragraphs 2 or 3 above), 
the right to speak under that category will be on a “first come, first served” basis. 
 
Indicating to the Chairman at a site visit that you wish to speak on an item is NOT formal 
notification or registration to speak; this must be made via the Committee Services Officer 
in the manner set out above. 
 
 
WHAT WILL HAPPEN WHEN THE MATTER CONCERNED IS CONSIDERED?  
 
 Planning Officer presents officer report 
 Public speaking takes place in the order set out above under the heading “WHO CAN 

SPEAK?” 
 Officer(s) may respond on factual issues arising from public speaking and may sum 

up the key policies and material planning considerations relevant to the application  
 Committee Members may ask Officers relevant questions and may move, debate 

and vote  
 
Normally, the Committee then determines the matter, but sometimes the Councillors 
decide to defer determination, to allow officers to seek further information about a 
particular planning issue.  If a matter is deferred after the public speaking, the Committee 
will not hear public speaking for a second time, unless there has been a substantial 
change in the application which requires representations to be made.  The Executive 
Summary section of the Planning Committee Report will identify whether public speaking 
is going to be permitted on an application being reconsidered after deferral.  If there is an 
update since the Report was published, the Council’s website will confirm this information. 
 
WHAT SHOULD I SAY AT THE MEETING?  
 
Please be straightforward and concise and try to keep your comments to planning matters 
which are directly relevant to the application or matter concerned.  Planning matters may 
include things such as planning policy, previous decisions of the Council on the same site 
or in similar circumstances, design, appearance, layout, effects on amenity, overlooking, 



loss of light, overshadowing, loss of privacy, noise or smell nuisance, impact on trees, 
listed buildings or highway safety. 
 
Matters such as the following are not relevant planning matters, namely the effect of the 
development on property value(s), loss of view, personality or motive of the applicant, 
covenants, private rights or easements and boundary or access disputes. 
 
Please be courteous and do not make personal remarks.  You may wish to come to the 
meeting with a written statement of exactly what you want to say or read out, having 
checked beforehand that it will not overrun the 3 minutes allowed. 
 
WHO DO I CONTACT FOR MORE INFORMATION?  
 
The Council’s website will help you and you can also contact the relevant planning Case 
Officer for the matter.  The name of the Officer is on the acknowledgement of the 
application or in the correspondence we have sent you. 
 
Tendring District Council, Planning Services,  
Council Offices, Thorpe Road, Weeley, CLACTON-ON-SEA, Essex CO16 9AJ  
Tel: 01255 686161 Fax: 01255 686417  
Email: planningservices@tendringdc.gov.uk Web: www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
 
It always helps to save time if you can quote the planning application reference number. 
 
 
 
As approved at the meeting of the Full Council held on 16 March 2021 



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

22 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING) 
 

A.1 PLANNING APPLICATION – 20/00594/FUL – LAND ADJOINING IPSWICH ROAD AND 
WICK LANE ARDLEIGH  CO7 7QL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO NOT SCALE  
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s 
Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

 

 

 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
Application: 20/00594/FUL Town / Parish: Ardleigh Parish Council 
 
Applicant: Flying Trade Group PLC 
 
Address: Land adjoining Ipswich Road and Wick Lane Ardleigh  CO7 7QL   
 

 

Development: Full planning for food storage and distribution facility and associated parking, 
logistics yard and offices. 

 

 

 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The application proposes a large warehouse to be used as a food storage and distribution 

facility, with a height of between 16-20m, and a depth of up to 170m set in an extensive area 
of proposed hard standing. New access arrangements are proposed from Old Ipswich Road, 
including car parking as well as a large vehicle yard to the rear (south east of the proposed 
warehouse building) with facilities for vehicle washing and re-fuelling. The proposal also 
includes provision for a large attenuation pond for managing surface flows. 

 
1.2 Clear policy conflict has been identified in terms of the landscape harm, and the harmful 

impact of the ‘in depth’ part of the warehouse and HGV hardstanding area on the character 
and appearance of Wick Lane and the immediate hinterland to the east of the site, as well as 
the impact of the large warehouse on residential amenity by way of light pollution and being 
overbearing in nature to nearby residents, especially those residents to the north west and 
east of the site.  These harmful elements weigh significantly against the development 
proposal.   The proposal will also result in the loss of agricultural land and as a result there is 
conflict with Paragraph 174 a) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (‘the 
Framework’).   

 
1.3 Against this harm the benefits to the local and wider economy, the benefits to the food 

distribution sector in particular, and direct and indirect job retention/creation would be 
substantial, and very significant weight is attributed to these benefits. 

 
1.4 All other material planning considerations have been taken into account and where relevant, 

where harm arises, these can be mitigated against by way of planning conditions or s106 
obligations, all these elements are neutral in the planning balance.  

 
1.5 Ultimately, the weight given to the substantial benefits as outlined in this report is considered 

to very marginally outweigh the significant weight given to the landscape and character harm, 
as well as the identified harm to residential amenity. For these reasons, it is recommended that 
planning permission be granted, subject to the completed S106 legal agreement and the 
conditions as recommended in section 7.0 below. 
 
 

 

  
Recommendation: 
    
(1) On appropriate terms as summarised below and those as may be deemed necessary 
to the satisfaction of the Assistant Director for Planning to secure the completion of a legal 
agreement under the provisions of section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
dealing with the following matters:  
 
 

o To promote sustainable transport and comply with the accessibility 

Page 2



requirements of the development plan and the Framework, the submission of a 
workplace travel plan is necessary, such approved travel plan shall be actively 
implemented for a minimum period of 5 years and shall be accompanied by a 
one-off monitoring fee of £6,383 (plus the relevant sustainable travel 
indexation) to be paid before occupation to cover the 5-year period.   

 
o To also promote sustainable transport the Development has agreed to provide 

a free minibus service that will operate between the site and the Colchester 
Park and Ride and/or to and from the nearest bus stops (Old Ipswich Road – 
Balkerne Gate) during the AM and PM peak periods; the service and route will 
be agreed and finalised by both the developer and ECC Highways as part of 
the Workplace Travel Plan. Provision of this service including the routing and 
frequency will be dependent on the demand for the service which will be 
monitored through the Workplace Travel Plan and employee surveys.   

 

o A Traffic Management Plan shall be provided outlining a designated route to 
and from the development for all HGV movements via the Crown Interchange/ 
A12/A120 to be agreed in advance with the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority; 

 
o A financial contribution of £10,000 (to be index linked) towards the 

implementation of future speed reduction on Old Ipswich Road in the vicinity of 
the site (not restricted to but including the introduction of a 40-mph speed 
limit).  Scheme to be agreed in writing by relevant Highways authority prior to 
commencement of any development, and agreed scheme implemented in full 
before the development hereby approved is first brought into use. 

 

o A financial contribution towards waiting and parking restrictions on Old Ipswich 
Road either side of the site access junction, on either side of the Wick Lane 
junction and opposite each junction, the extent of the restrictions to be agreed 
in writing in advance with the Highway Authority and prior to commencement of 
any development, and agreed scheme implemented in full before the 
development hereby approved is first brought into use. 

 

o A £15,000 financial contribution (index linked) towards the feasibility, design 
and/or delivery of pedestrian/cycle improvements (or part thereof) between the 
development site and the existing cycleway network in North Colchester/ 
Colchester Business Park or the proposed cycleway network for North 
Colchester forming part of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.  
Such contribution to be paid on commencement of development. (Payback 5 
years).  

 
o A Section 278 agreement to secure off site highways improvement works in 

partnership with Highways England and ECC Highways 
 

o The use local contractors to implement the development (as far as possible 
and practicable) and that any temporary or permanent employment vacancies 
(including apprenticeships) will be advertised through agreed channels to 
reach and prioritise local people. 

 
(2) That the Assistant Director for Planning be authorised to Grant Planning Permission 
upon completion of the legal agreement subject to conditions as stated in Section 7.0 (or as 
need to be varied*) and those as may be deemed necessary by the Assistant Director for 
Planning  

 
(3) And the informative notes as may be deemed necessary:  

Page 3



 
(4) That in the event of the Planning obligations or requirements referred to in Resolution 
(1) above not being secured and/or not secured within 6 months that the Assistant Director for 
Planning be authorised to refuse the application on appropriate ground at their discretion. 
 
*To account for any errors, legal and necessary updates 

 
 

2. Planning Policy 
 

Status of the Local Plan 
 

2.1 Planning law requires that decisions on applications must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (Section 
70(2) of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  This is set out in Paragraph 2 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (the Framework).  The ‘development plan’ for Tendring comprises, in part, 
Sections 1 and 2 of the Tendring District Council 2013-33 and Beyond Local Plan (adopted 
January 2021 and January 2022, respectively), together with any neighbourhood plans that 
have been brought into force. 

 
2.2 The following National and Local Planning Policies are relevant to this planning application. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (the Framework) 
Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Adopted Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond (the 2013-33 Local Plan) 
 
Section 1: 
 
SP1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SP3  Spatial Strategy for North Essex 
SP5 Employment 
SP6 Infrastructure and Connectivity 
SP7  Place Shaping Principles 
 
Section 2: 
 
SPL1  Managing Growth 
SPL2  Settlement Development Boundaries 
SPL3 Sustainable Design 
HP1 Improving Health and Wellbeing 
HP3 Green Infrastructure 
PP4  Local Impact Threshold 
PP7  Employment Allocations 
PP12 Improving education and skills 
PP13 The Rural Economy 
PPL1 Development and Flood Risk 
PPL3 The Rural Landscape 
PPL4  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
PPL5  Water Conservation, Drainage and Sewerage 
PPL7 Archaeology  
PPL8 Conservation Areas 
PPL9 Listed Buildings 
PPL10  Renewable Energy Generation and Energy Efficiency Measures 

Page 4



PPL13  Ardleigh Reservoir Catchment Area 
CP1  Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
CP2 Improving the Transport Network 
DI1 Infrastructure Delivery and Impact Mitigation 
 
Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 (MLP) 
 
Of specific reference is policy S8 (Safeguarding mineral resources and mineral reserves) of 
the MLP 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
Essex County Council Development Management Policies 2011 (the Highways SPD) 
Essex County Council Parking Standards Design/Good Practice Guide 2009 (the Parking 
SPD) 
Tendring Landscape Character Assessment 2001 (TLCA) 

 
Other relevant documents 

 
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Area Designation 

 
2.3 Tendring District Council received an application to designate a neighbourhood area from 

Ardleigh Parish Council over the winter of 2019-20. The application proposed that the 
neighbourhood area should cover the entire parish of Ardleigh and that this would be the area 
covered by the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan.  At the time of writing this report, and according 
to Ardleigh Parish Council’s website, the PC is currently working with various stakeholders as 
part of finalising the Policy Headings for their draft neighbourhood plan.   

 
3. Relevant Planning History 

   
93/00729/FUL (Land adjoining Wick Lane and Old 

Ipswich Road, Ardleigh) - Change of 
use to airfield for group 1 purposes 
[light   aircraft] including part 
regrading of land with         buildings 
and associated facilities 

Refused 
 

19.07.1994 

 
95/00042/FUL Construction of a building for the 

sale, repairs,   maintenance of 
agricultural and horticultural 
machinery together with ancillary 
access road, car parking,    storage 
and servicing (Variation of Condition 
No. 1 to extend the time limit for 
commencement for further 5 years) 

Refused 
 

14.03.1995 

 
96/00885/FUL Variation of the design of a building 

previously  approved and partly 
implemented to be used for the sale, 
repair and maintenance of 
agricultural and horticultural 
machinery together with ancillary 
access road, car park, storage and 
servicing facilities 

Approved 
 

14.12.1998 

 
04/01623/CMTR Development of offices, industry, Withdrawn 18.02.2005 

Page 5



stores and metal recycling centre.  
 

10/01270/FUL Use of land as car dealership:- 
Erection of building for use as car 
show room, workshop and ancillary 
offices with associated car parking 
and landscaping, and construction of 
new access and upgrading of 
existing access. 

Withdrawn 
 

07.03.2011 

 
11/00289/FUL Use of land as car dealership:- 

Erection of building for use as car 
show room, workshop and ancillary 
offices with associated car parking 
and landscaping, and construction of 
new access and upgrading of 
existing access. 

Approved 
 

13.06.2011 

 
 

16/01036/FUL Erection of 2 No. new workshop 
buildings and 7 No. office cabins 
with associated surfacing works to 
create new depot for the 
fitting/repairing of hire container 
units. 

Approved 
 

27.01.2017 

 
17/00976/FUL Erection of 2 No. new workshop 

buildings and 7 No. office cabins 
with associated surfacing works 
including formation of new site 
access off Wick Lane create new 
depot for the fitting/repairing of hire 
container units. 

Withdrawn 
 

23.10.2017 

 
17/01777/DISCON Discharge of conditions 04 

(illumination Scheme), 05 (Working 
hours), 07 (access), 08 (Visibility 
Splays), 09 (Surface Treatment), 10 
(Off Road Parking), 11 (HGV 
Parking and Turning Facilities) and 
13 (Surface Water Drainage) of 
planning permission 16/01036/FUL. 

Approved 
 

22.01.2018 

 
20/30024/PREAPP Proposed logistics and distribution 

centre. 
Advice 
provided 
 

Meetings held 
in 2020 and 
first part of 
2021 

 
20/00594/FUL Full planning for food storage and 

distribution facility and associated 
parking, logistics yard and offices 
(reconsultation: Supplementary 
Sequential Test Statement received 
23/03/2022). 

Current 
 

 

 
21/00003/FUL Retrospective erection of warehouse Approved 08.03.2021 

Page 6



building for roofing trade supplies  
 

21/02042/EIASCR 
 
 
 
 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) Screening request for 
proposed food storage and 
distribution facility and associated 
parking, logistics yard and offices. 

Not EIA 
Development 
 

04.02.2022 

Other relevant Planning History in the vicinity of the application site 
 
20/01783/FUL 
(Systematic 
Business Park, Old 
Ipswich Road, CO7 
7QL) – this site is 
directly to the north 
of the application 
site 

Construction of up to 30 'start-up' 
business units under flexible E(g), 
B2 and B8 use and associated 
development. 

Approved 10/12/2021 

    
19/01939/OUT 
(Crown Quarry 
Business Park) – 
located on opposite 
(south side) of Wick 
Lane 

Proposed small business park 
development of B1, B2 and B8 
storage. The construction of a new 
internal access from the existing 
access road, relocation of the 
existing temporary quarry office to a 
new building together with 
associated car / cycle parking. 

Approved 06/08/2020 

    
17/00720/FUL and 
14/01044/FUL (DTE 
Scaffolding site – 
this site is located to 
the south of the 
‘Crown Quarry 
Business Park site 
mentioned above) 

Proposed detached two storey office 
building (17/00720/FUL) 
 
Change of use of land to premises 
for use of scaffolding and safety 
netting contractor together with 
erection of 3 No. detached single 
storey buildings (14/01044/FUL) 

Approved 
 
 
Approved 

14/07/2017 
 
 
19/09/2014 

    
18/02118/FUL 
(Crown Business 
Centre ‘Evolve’ – 
this site is located 
further to the south 
along Old Ipswich 
Road next to 
Junction 29 and 
adjacent to the 
Crown Inn Public 
House) 

The construction of 90 small B1 & 
B8 use commercial units with 
ancillary facilities, associated car 
parking and landscaping; and the 
construction of 5 commercial office 
blocks with B1 use with associated 
car parking and landscaping. 

Approved  17/06/2019 

    
18/01840/OUT 
(Crown Business 
Centre and Golf 
Driving Range 
Old Ipswich Road, 
CO7 7 QR) – this 
site is to the south of 

Outline planning application with all 
matters reserved for the residential 
development of 0.2 ha of land to 
create 4 detached dwellings with 
associated garaging and parking 
(following demolition of existing B1a 
offices and driving range shelter). 

Approved 18/11/2019 

Page 7



Crown Business 
Centre. 

(Renewal and variation to previously 
approved 15/00669/OUT). 

    
 

4. Consultations 
 
Statutory and Other Consultees 
 
Anglian Water 
Services Ltd 

No response 
 
 

Ardleigh 
Reservoir 
Operator 

No response on file but explained that details of the application were passed onto their 
colleagues at Anglian Water. 

  
East Anglia 
Green 

No response 

  
National Grid No response 
  
  
Colchester 
Borough 
Council 
04.02.2022 

Thank you for consulting Colchester Borough (your letter dated 17.1.22) regarding the 
above development close to our mutual boundary. As per our previous consultation 
response (Our ref 201573) this is a significant development proposal on an 
unallocated site in open countryside within the catchment of Ardleigh Reservoir and 
sited adjacent to Wick Lane, a Protected Lane. The application site lies in close 
proximity to the Dedham Vale and Stour Valley AONB designation. 
  
The Borough Council still wishes to acknowledge the important contribution made by 
the applicant to the local economy and the considerable inward investment this 
represents. Nevertheless, as per our previous comment, the application site is 
unallocated in both the Adopted Local Plan (2007) and within the emerging Local Plan 
(2021-2033) and represents major development that is not directly connected to the 
primary road network. Consequently, Colchester shares the continuing concerns of the 
surrounding rural communities that this scheme will inevitably generate considerable 
HGV movements and has the potential to impact adversely on the capacity of the local 
rural road network and to potentially harm the safety of road users. There could also 
be a detriment to the residential amenity of occupants in the vicinity of the site and 
also to those who live in close proximity to roads serving the site. 
  
As before, the Council defers to the Highway Authority and Highways England on 
highway safety issues, but remain very concerned that the application site is not well 
located to provide direct access to the primary road network and is therefore contrary 
to relevant adopted and emerging local plan policies concerning major employment 
proposals (QL10, Q11, ER2, ER7 adopted plan and PP7, PP13, PPL3, CP1,DI1 of the 
ELP). 
  
We also reiterate the concerns that the scheme has the potential to prejudice the 
character, tranquillity and natural beauty of the wider landscape; including the Dedham 
Vale and Stour Valley AONB designation to the north. This is clearly contrary to 
para.174 and 176 of the National Panning Policy Framework and relevant local plan 
policies (QL1, QL7, QL9, QL11, EN5 adopted plan and PP13, PPL3 of the ELP). In 
this respect and notwithstanding the concerns about landscape impact, the Council's 
Landscape Officer has made the following comments: 
  
"Assessment of the TDC application would indicate that in order to avoid harm to the 

Page 8



character of the landscape with Colchester Borough immediately adjacent and to the 
west of the site it will need to consider that: 
 
Officer comment: some of the above paragraphs refer to previous local plan policies, 
now superseded and replaced by the recently adopted local plan – notwithstanding, 
the issues raised above and below by Colchester Borough Council will be addressed 
in the main body of the report. 
  
The site adjoins Colchester Borough Landscape Character Assessment Area B7 
(CBLCA B7), the Langham Farmland Plateau, this describes the character of the 
landscape in detail and identifies characteristics of the Area. It goes on to identify 
planning issue(s) relevant to this application as 'Visual intrusion from A12 corridor' and 
sets a landscape strategy objective to 'conserve' the landscape character of the Area. 
Finally, it gives a landscape planning guideline to 'Conserve the mostly rural character 
of the area' and a landscape management guideline to 'Seek ways to mitigate the 
visual impact of the railway A12 corridor through introducing new and strengthening 
existing parallel shelter belts'.  
  
To help meet the above planning/management guidelines/issues and help the 
proposals avoid harm by ensuring it complements, conserves and enhances the 
landscape character of CBLCA B7, it is recommended any revised proposals address 
the following: 
  
1. Propose a deep woodland shelter belt to the site frontage set behind a native 
hedge. 
2. Develop Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment No. 1229.V.2 further to 
include Type 1 visualisations from viewpoints within Colchester Borough, i.e., 
visualisations outlining the width and height of the proposed development. This 
augmented with photomontaged visualisations of the mitigation woodland shelter belt 
(recommended in 1 above) at years 1 and at maturity from key viewpoints within 
Colchester Borough, i.e. viewpoints l & n."   
  
In terms of other issues, Tendring District council is advised to have appropriate 
consideration in respect of impact upon trees and vegetation, ecology and 
archaeology. 
  
Overall, once again the Borough Council acknowledges that there are significant 
public benefits associated with the development that TDC will wish to weigh in the 
'planning balance' yet these benefits could be delivered on an allocated employment 
site, in either TDC or CBC, without the negative impacts upon the countryside and 
highway network associated with the current proposal. In conclusion, the current 
scheme is contrary to significant key local plan policies and does not represent 
sustainable development. Once again, the Borough Council urges TDC to support the 
applicant in identifying alternative allocated employment sites; including those within 
CBC providing good access to the primary highway network and capable of delivering 
the requisite mitigation for the development. 
 
Officer comment: All the comments from Colchester Borough Council are noted and 
covered in the main body of the report below.  Section 2 of the Tendring Local Plan 
was adopted on 25th January 2022 as such the 2007 Local Plan policies are no longer 
relevant and the current Local Plan policies are now fully adopted and afforded full 
weight (as per the ‘Status of the Local Plan’ section above). 
 
 

Essex County 
Council 

No further comments to add to the revised information submitted, Original 
recommendation below: 

Page 9



Archaeology 
17.01.2022 

  
20/00594/FUL - LAND ADJ IPSWICH RD AND WICK LANE ARDLEIGH 
The above planning application has been identified as having the potential to harm 
non-designated heritage assets with archaeological interest. 
  
The Essex Historic Environment Record (HER) and Tendring Historic Environment 
Characterisation Project, demonstrate that the proposed development lies within an 
area of archaeological interest.  
  
The site lies to the north of Crown Quarry where archaeological investigations over the 
last 10 years have revealed multi-period archaeological evidence. Of significance are 
the remains of an extensive Late Iron Age (mid-1st century BC to mid-1st century AD) 
settlement which includes a large D shaped enclosure and annexe which was likely 
used for industrial activity. The Old Ipswich road follows the route of a Roman road 
which lies along part of the western site boundary and Wick Lane is a historic route. 
  
The medieval and later remains at Crown Quarry relate to a field system and 
enclosures predating the existing field pattern. Cropmark evidence for historic 
agricultural activity in the adjoining field is revealed through aerial photography 
adjacent to Bloomfields Farm which dates from the medieval period. A lane once 
joined the farm at Bloomfields to Bluegates Farm which is no longer extant and 
crosses the development area.  
  
The site has remained undeveloped and preservation of any archaeological remains 
would be good, the site has the potential to preserve archaeological remains 
associated with the adjacent Roman road and known medieval settlement and activity 
within the immediate area. 
  
The following recommendations are made in line with the National Planning Policy 
Framework: 
  
RECOMMENDATION: A Programme of Archaeological evaluation 
  
1. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a 
programme of archaeological investigation has been secured in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant, and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
  
2. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until the 
completion of the programme of archaeological evaluation identified in the WSI 
defined in Part 1 and confirmed by the Local Authority archaeological advisors.  
  
3. A mitigation strategy detailing the excavation / preservation strategy shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority following the completion of the archaeological 
evaluation.  
  
4. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence on those areas 
containing archaeological deposits until the satisfactory completion of fieldwork, as 
detailed in the mitigation strategy, and which has been approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 
  
5. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post excavation 
assessment (to be submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork, 
unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning Authority). This will result in the 
completion of post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report 
ready for deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication report. 

Page 10



  
Further Recommendations: 
  
A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the archaeological work. A 
brief outlining the level of archaeological investigation will be issued from this office on 
request. Tendring District Council should inform the applicant of the recommendation 
and its financial implications. 
 

ECC Highways 
(comments 
dated 9 June 
2022) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Essex County Council in their capacity as Highway Authority has thoroughly assessed 
the highways and transportation information submitted in support of the above 
planning application together with the additional information provided. The 
(rural/remote) location of the site is such that access to key active and sustainable, 
public transport, facilities are limited and for the vast majority of journeys the only 
practical option would be the car. This should be taken into consideration by the 
Planning Authority when assessing the overall sustainability and acceptability of the 
site against for example any employment benefits. Notwithstanding, the assessment of 
the application and Transport Assessment was undertaken with reference to the 
National Planning Policy Framework in particular, the following aspects were 
considered: access and safety; capacity; HGV movements on routes; the opportunities 
for sustainable transport; and highway mitigation measures, considering these factors:  
   
From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is 
acceptable to Highway Authority subject to the following mitigation and 
conditions: 
 
1.     No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until 
a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. The Plan shall provide for: 
i. vehicle routing, 
ii. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,  
iii. loading and unloading of plant and materials,  
iv. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,  
v. wheel and underbody washing facilities. 
vi. Before and after condition survey to identify defects to highway in the vicinity of 
the access to the site and where necessary ensure repairs are undertaken at the 
developer expense when caused by developer. 
 
Reason: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets 
does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto 
the highway in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM1. 
 
2.    No occupation of the development shall take place until the following have been 
provided or completed: 
a) A priority junction off Old Ipswich Road to provide access to the proposed site as 
shown in principle on planning application, amended viability and access plan drawing 
number: IT2114_TA_03. 
a) Carriageway measuring no less than 9m in width for the first 30 metres. 
b) Kerb radii measuring a maximum or no more than 15 metres. 
c) A straight section of carriageway to be provided from the entrance junction for 30 
metres. 
d) 2-metre-wide footway on both sides of the junction and continued around the kerb 
radii. 
e) Appropriate pedestrian crossing facilities (drop kerbs/ tactile paving). 
f)  Waiting restrictions shall be provided on Old Ipswich Road either side of the site 
access junction and on either side of the Wick Lane junction and opposite each 

Page 11



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

junction the extent of the restrictions to be agreed in advance with the Highway 
Authority.  
g) Any other reasonable items to ensure the access is in accordance with current 
policy standards. 
 
Reason: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled 
manner and to avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the interest of 
highway safety in accordance with policy DM1. 
 
3. The gradient and proposed vehicular access/ road junction shall be in 
accordance with DMRB standards. 
 
Reason: to ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled 
manner in the interest of highway safety to ensure accordance with safety in 
accordance with policy DM1. 
 
4. Prior to occupation of the development, the road junction / access at its centre 
line shall be provided with minimum clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 
2.4m x 160m to the north of the access junction 2.4m x 110m to the south of the 
access junction, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. 
Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before the road junction / access is 
first used by vehicular traffic and retained free of obstruction above 600mm and below 
2 metres at all times. In addition, the development site boundary fence/wall/vegetation 
should be located outside of the visibility splays. 
 
Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the road junction / 
access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety in 
accordance with policy DM1. 
 
5. Prior to occupation of the development, the Wick Lane junction at its centre line 
shall be provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4m x 98m 
in both directions, in accordance with drawing no. IT2114_TA_05, as measured from 
and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Such vehicular visibility splays shall 
be provided before the development becomes operational and retained free of any 
obstruction at all times.  
 
Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the road junction / 
access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety in 
accordance with policy DM1. 
 
6. The existing access at (Total Roofing Supplies) north of Wick Lane which is 
located adjacent to the proposed car park shall be suitably and permanently closed 
incorporating the reinstatement to full height of the highway verge / kerbing  prior to 
the proposed new access into the site is brought into first beneficial use.   
 
Reason: To ensure the removal of and to preclude the creation of unnecessary points 
of traffic conflict in the highway in the interests of highway safety in accordance with 
policy DM1. 
 
7.   The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle 
parking area indicated on the approved plans, including any parking spaces for the 
mobility impaired, has been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking bays.  
The vehicle parking area and associated turning area shall be retained in this form at 
all times. The vehicle parking shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking 
of vehicles that are related to the use of the development unless otherwise agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 12



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does not 
occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is provided in 
accordance with Policy DM8. 
 
8.     The Cycle / Powered Two-wheeler parking shall be provided in accordance with 
the EPOA Parking Standards. The approved facility shall be secure, convenient, 
covered and provided prior to occupation and retained at all times.  
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate cycle / powered two-wheeler parking is provided in 
the interest of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DM8. 
 
9.     The submission of a workplace travel plan to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval in consultation with Essex County Council. Such approved travel plan shall 
be actively implemented for a minimum period of 5 years.  It shall be accompanied by 
a one-off monitoring fee of £6,383 (plus the relevant sustainable travel indexation) to 
be paid before occupation to cover the 5-year period.  
 
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting 
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10. 
 
10. The Developer will provide a free minibus service; in principle, it will operate 
between the site and the Colchester Park and Ride and/or to and from the nearest bus 
stops (Old Ipswich Road – Balkerne Gate) during the AM and PM peak periods; the 
service and route will be agreed and finalised by both the developer and ECC as part 
of the Workplace Travel Plan. Provision of this service including the routing and 
frequency will be dependent on the demand for the service which will be monitored 
through the Workplace Travel Plan and employee surveys. 
 
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting 
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10. 
 
11.        Prior to occupation of the development an appropriate Traffic Management 
Plan shall be provided outlining a designated route to and from the development for all 
HGV movements via the Crown Interchange/ A12/A120 to be agreed in advance with 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
                                                                                                                 
Reason: To control the location and direction of HGV vehicle movements to and from 
the site in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM1. 
 
12.  A financial contribution of £10,000 (to be index linked) towards future speed 
reduction measures on Old Ipswich Road in the vicinity of the site (not restricted to but 
including the introduction of a 40-mph speed limit).  
 
Reason: To protect highway efficiency of movement and safety and to ensure the 
proposal site is accessible, in accordance with policy DM1 and DM17. 
 
13. A £15,000 financial contribution (index linked) towards the feasibility, design 
and/or delivery of pedestrian/cycle improvements (or part thereof) between the 
development site and the existing cycleway network in North Colchester/ Colchester 
Business Park or the proposed cycleway network for North Colchester forming part of 
the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.  Such contribution to be paid on 
commencement of development. (Payback 5 years). 
 
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting 
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10. 

Page 13



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Note: Conditions 11 and 12 requires a Legal Agreement between the Applicant/ 
Developer and the Highway Authority using the powers in Section 106 of the 1990 
Town & Country Planning Act. 
 
The above conditions are to ensure that the proposal conforms to the relevant policies 
contained within the County Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, 
adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011. 
 
Notes: 
(i)       Prior to any works taking place in the highway the developer should enter 
into an S278 agreement with the Highway Authority under the Highways Act 1980 to 
regulate the construction of the highway works.                                                                                                         
(ii)       The grant of planning permission does not automatically allow development 
to commence. In the event of works affecting the highway, none shall be permitted to 
commence until such time as they have been fully agreed with this Authority. 
(iii) A formal Stage 2 Road Safety Audit outlining  the junction detail/ footway 
design/ improvements will be required. 
 
Informative:  
1: All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior 
arrangement with and to the requirements and specifications of the Highway Authority; 
all details shall be agreed before the commencement of works.  
 
The applicants should be advised to contact the Development Management Team by 
email at development.management@essexhighways.org  
 
2: The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a 
developer’s improvement. This includes design check safety audits, site supervision, 
commuted sums for maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of 
the Land Compensation Act 1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such 
compensation claims a cash deposit or bond may be required.  
 
Officer comment: The above ECC Highways comments will be considered and taken 
into account in the main body of report below. 
 

ECC Highways 
(latest 
comments 
dated 
03.08.2022) 
 

The current position is that from a highways viewpoint the proposed development is 
acceptable subject to the measures set out in the highway recommendation dated 9 
June 2022.  This includes parking restrictions and a potential speed limit change both 
of which would be subject to their own consultation process outside of planning.  
There is every chance that either of these Orders could attract objections, these 
objections would have to be dealt with on a case by case basis and whilst the Highway 
Authority are confident that  a robust case could be made to the Highways Portfolio 
holder to support these, delivery of the required Orders cannot be guaranteed. 
 
I have reviewed the situation in light of this and fundamentally the highway authority 
position is that removal of the on-street parking remains a requirement to allow the 
proposed new access to operate safely and for the required visibility splays to remain 
unobstructed. This is further supported by the stage one road safety audit, reference 
2.3.1 (attached to this committee report). 
 
Since the recorded traffic speeds at this location on Old Ipswich Road are significantly 
lower than the national speed limit of 60mph the highway authority additionally 
required the developer to fund a 40 mph speed limit.  This would simply reflect the 
speed at which vehicles currently use Old Ipswich Road and the change in 
environment to a developed rather than rural frontage along the western side Old 

Page 14

mailto:development.management@essexhighways.org


Ipswich Road.  A change in speed limit is also supported by the stage one road safety 
audit, reference 2.3.1 (again see the stage one road safety audit attached to this 
committee report).  
 
It is possible that removal of the car parking could influence recorded vehicle speeds 
and the required visibility splays.  However the speed survey contained in the 
Transport Assessment (TA) provides 85 percentile speeds from weekends when the 
on street parking is unlikely to be in place to the extent it is on weekdays. This has 
been reviewed and whilst slightly higher northbound 85th percentile speeds are 
recorded in February 2020 for a Saturday at 34mph and Sunday at 36mph and 
southbound 85th percentile speeds of 34mph the visibility splays required within the 
highway recommendation would remain appropriate.  This also appears to be 
supported by the additional August 2021 speed survey data. This means that from the 
data contained within the TA a change in speed limit is not critical to delivery of 
appropriate visibility splays but from a professional viewpoint would be to better reflect 
the highway environment that would prevail should the planning application be 
approved.  It is also the belief of highway officers that it would accord with the Essex 
Speed Management Strategy. 
 
Given that at this stage there is no guarantee that the parking restrictions and the 
change in speed limit can be guaranteed the options appear to be as set out below: 
 

 The planning application is paused and the applicant carries out Informal 
consultation for the required parking restrictions and speed limit change in 
conjunction with Essex Highways.  The applicant would need to meet the 
appropriate costs for this  and it would allow consideration to be given as to 
any likely objections and whether the Orders could be supported by ECC. 

 

 By agreement with the applicant and the Local Planning Authority Grampian 
style planning conditions requiring the orders associated with the parking 
restrictions and speed limit change to be made prior to any development taking 
place.   (Following the order being made there is a period of 2 years during 
which the required markings and signage can be provided to support the order 
and for it to come into operation.) 

 

 Refusal of the planning application on the grounds of highway safety on the 
basis that without removal of the on street parking visibility from the site access 
will be compromised which in combination with the additional traffic movements 
associated with the planning application and shuttle/one way operation of Old 
Ipswich Road created by the on-street parking would give rise to highway 
safety concerns. 

 
I hope this is highway position statement is sufficient for you to engage with the 
applicant’s agent and should you require further support from the Highway Authority 
with this please let me know. 
 
Officer comment: Again the above ECC Highways comments will be considered and 
taken into account in the main body of report, under the relevant Highways section 
below. 

  
Essex County 
Council 
Heritage 
09.02.2022 

The application is for full planning for food storage and distribution facility and 
associated parking, logistics yard and offices. 
  
The proposed site is in proximity of several designated heritage assets, all Grade II 
listed, which are located in close proximity to its boundary, and potentially a number of 
non-designated assets, as  

Page 15



Wick Lane Cottages: 
  
- Blue Barns Farmhouse and Cottage; 
- Thorpe Ley; 
- Bloomfields Farmhouse and Barn; 
- Fountain Farmhouse; 
- Wick Farmhouse and Barn; 
- Clarke Farmhouse; and 
- Milestone on east verge approximately 240 metres south of Harts Lane. 
  
The visual impact of the development on the above-mentioned heritage assets was 
assessed by the applicant in their Planning Statement to be low or neutral. Residual 
impacts would be mitigated by existing and proposed additional landscaping along the 
site boundaries, including the insertion of a balancing pool at the South-East corner. 
Following site inspection, I have no objection to the proposed development subject to 
the following conditions: 
  
- Prior to installation, a schedule of drawings that show details and specifications of 
proposed landscape at appropriate scales, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Works shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details and shall be permanently maintained as such. 
 

ECC Planner 
Minerals 
(response 
dated 
18/05/2022 
 

Thank you for re-consulting the Essex Minerals and Waste Planning Authority 
(MWPA) on the above application. This response primarily restricts itself to 
commenting on matters raised in an Advice Note (AN) sent by the promoter to 
Tendring District Council (TDC) on 14th May 2022, which sought to provide additional 
information to address minerals safeguarding issues. This response does not 
supersede previous responses and should be read in conjunction.  
 
The AN seeks to address issues raised by the MWPA in relation to both potential 
impacts on the safeguarded mineral resource located within the proposed 
development site, and potential impacts on a safeguarded mineral development 
located in proximity. This latter development is Crown Quarry, whose operation was 
originally permitted under Application ESS/57/04/TEN in January 2013. This is an 
active permission for mineral extraction followed by the construction of a public water 
storage reservoir as an extension to the Ardleigh Reservoir, with restoration also 
including landscaping and an area of public open space. Crown Quarry is located to 
the south of the proposed development, to which it is separated by Wick Lane. Issues 
relating to the safeguarding of the mineral resource within the application site, and to 
the operations at Crown Quarry, are addressed in turn.  
 
In summation, whilst the AN accurately summarises the final position reached with 
regards to safeguarding considerations in relation to existing mineral resources at the 
application site, it does not accurately set out the planning context with regards to 
permitted operations at Crown Quarry.  
 
Nonetheless, the MWPA removes its holding objection in those areas where it 
remained extant following its earlier correspondence dated 1st March 2022, provided 
that TDC, as the determining authority, is satisfied that the development will not have 
an impact on the existing mineral operation at Crown Quarry. The following response 
is considered to contain material considerations in relation to permitted operations at 
Crown Quarry which may not yet have been taken fully into account in documentation 
supporting Application 20/00594/FUL.  
 
Safeguarding of the Mineral Resource  
 

Page 16



As set out in the consultation response from the MWPA dated 31st January 2022, the 
entirety of the application site is located within land which is designated as a Mineral 
Safeguarding Area (MSA) and therefore the application is subject to Policy S8 of the 
Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 (MLP). A Minerals Resource Assessment (MRA) was 
subsequently requested. 
 
Following the receipt of correspondence from the site promoter dated 22nd February 
2022, the MWPA understood that there is currently a leasehold interest on the majority 
of the application site which restricts any access to prepare a MRA at this time. In its 
response to that letter, dated 1st March 2022, the MWPA stated that if, as the 
determining authority, TDC considers that there is a need for the proposed 
development, the MWPA would not object to non-conformity with the part of Policy S8 
relating to development in an MSA due to the restrictions placed on accessing the site 
to carry out the MRA.  
 
The AN subsequently states that ‘the applicants consider that this places the decision 
firmly back in the court of the LPA. Should the economic benefits outweigh the 
environmental considerations, then there is a demonstrable need for the proposed 
development, and consequently, the MWPA concerns regarding the Minerals 
Safeguarding will fall away.’ The MWPA confirms that it has removed its holding 
objection with regards to the safeguarding of mineral resources at the application site. 
The MWPA however makes no comment with regards to the points made in the AN 
regarding easements and whether the proposed development represents a true 
sterilisation of the resource as they are not considered to be sufficiently evidenced 
within the AN and would not impact in any event on the overall conclusion.  
 
Mineral Consultation Areas  
 
The application site passes through a Mineral Consultation Area (MCA) associated 
with Crown Quarry, as shown in Appendix One and listed in Appendix Two of this 
response. With regards to MCAs, Policy S8 of the MLP seeks to ensure that existing 
and allocated mineral sites and infrastructure are protected from inappropriate 
neighbouring developments that may prejudice their continuing efficient operation or 
ability to carry out their allocated function in the future.  
 
The AN includes, at Appendix One. a Minerals Infrastructure Impact Assessment 
(MIIA) which seeks to establish whether the proposed development would have any 
potential impact on the safeguarded mineral development at Crown Quarry. The MIIA 
contains a number of inaccurate statements which the MWPA clarifies below.  
 
The MIIA states that ‘The mineral resource is now almost entirely used, with interim 
restoration underway and the construction of an additional water storage reservoir in 
the near future.’ It is further stated that ‘Quarrying operations are winding down, with 
the extended reservoir expected to be in use within three years of the opening of the 
proposed development.’ These statements are potentially misleading and do not 
accurately convey what the planning permission for Crown Quarry permits, nor the 
stage of operations on-site.  
 
It is uncertain what is meant by the statement that quarrying activities are ‘winding 
down'. The permission has an end date of July 2028. Although naturally mineral 
extraction is a temporary development, the rate of extraction is not proposed to reduce 
as operations progress. The MIIA also states that ‘the proposed development includes 
a substantial increase in the tree belt to the south, while actual operations at the 
safeguarded facility are closer to 235m south of Wick Lane’. The MWPA clarifies that 
the processing area for the extracted mineral is circa 235m from the proposed 
development but that the closest working is potentially 50m away from the proposed 

Page 17



development depending on the extent of the resource, which will be ascertained 
through progressive working. The red line boundaries of the two planning permissions 
are even closer than that.  
 
Further, the mineral site is being worked anti-clockwise and one of the final extraction 
phases will be in the north-west, which is the closest part of Crown Quarry to the 
proposed development. Given indicative timelines, there is the potential for extraction 
to be taking place in the north-west of Crown Quarry after the development proposed 
under Application 20/00594/FUL would be operating. In addition, as the processing 
plant area is worked the likelihood is that mobile plant will be needed and chances are 
this will also be installed and used somewhere in the locality immediate to the 
proposed development, as it will be the only area available by virtue of not being in the 
process of being restored to a reservoir. As such, to say that the mineral development 
is 235m south of Wick Lane is not correct. As set out above, future extraction is 
currently permitted at a location approximately 50m from the proposed development.  
 
It is also important to note that as part of the application permitting mineral extraction, 
the MWPA have secured, by way of legal agreement, that the open space around the 
reservoir is to become “public open space” which the public will have use of for at least 
55 years after the reservoir is complete. This legal agreement needs to be considered 
in the context of the MIIA seemingly suggesting that there is only potentially three 
years overlap between the two permissions (‘...the extended reservoir expected to be 
in use within three years of the opening of the proposed development’). As the 
determining authority, TDC will need to give consideration to the impact (if any) the 
proposed development may have on the quality and attractiveness of this public open 
space in the long term.  
 
In this context, the MIIA statement that ‘The proposed development will help to shield 
sensitive development to the north, residential properties etc., from any excess noise 
from the quarry.’ is questioned, as the long-term use of the mineral extraction site as 
established through its agreed restoration scheme is that of public open space.  
 
The MIIA also states that ‘The proposed development is not a type of development 
that is likely to be particularly sensitive to the continued working of the quarry, as it is a 
commercial operation…The offices to the front of the development will be glazed with 
sufficient noise protection due to the close proximity of the strategic road network.’. 
The MIIA concludes that ‘The proposed development is not expected to suffer any 
sensitivity to the existing or future operations on the Crown Quarry site. Noise, air 
quality and visual impact assessments all took into account the safeguarded site 
during their evaluation.’  
 
It is important that TDC as the determining authority is satisfied that all bespoke 
assessments associated with the proposed development sufficiently take the existing 
mineral workings/ permission into account. This includes the programme of mineral 
working, which has not been accurately captured in the AN, and which brings 
extraction closer to the proposed development over time.  
 
Due to the existence of the mineral working, the proposed development is considered 
to be an Agent of Change for the purposes of assessing the provisions of NPPF 
Paragraph 187 and subsequently Policy S8 of the Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014. 
NPPF Paragraph 187 states that ‘Existing businesses and facilities should not have 
unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted after 
they were established.’ TDC must therefore be satisfied that the land use subject to 
Application 20/00594/FUL will not give rise to any potential incompatibility with the 
existing mineral operation as it is this proposed development that is the Agent of 
Change that will be required to demonstrate that any impact can be mitigated as part 

Page 18



of its planning application, and not the existing business.  
 
Finally, the MIIA further states that ‘The safeguarded development has been designed 
to minimise the impacts beyond the boundaries of that site with regards to noise, dust, 
odour, traffic, visual impact, and light. Nothing in the design proposals for this 
application changes that.’ Whilst this conclusion is not disputed, and as alluded to 
above, it is noted that the existing business is not required to retrospectively take into 
account any change of local sensitivities bought about by the Agent of Change. To 
conclude, whilst the MPWA remove its holding objection with regards to this 
application, this is on the proviso that TDC is satisfied that any potential impact 
between the proposed development and the existing mineral development has been 
suitably assessed and mitigated ahead of permission being granted. 

  
Environment 
Agency - 
(Initial 
response 
dated 
07.03.2022 
(following re-
consultation 
and receipt of 
new 
information)) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thank you for your consultation. We have inspected the application and are 
maintaining the holding objections in our response dated 31 July 2020, referenced 
AE/2020/125343/01 
  
Foul Water Disposal 
  
We do not have enough information to determine if it is reasonable to connect to the 
foul sewer. Page 21 of the drainage strategy indicates the nearest foul sewer is in 
excess of 2km away. Basic checks we've undertaken indicate there may be a foul 
sewer within a closer distance to the site. The applicant should demonstrate that they 
have approached the local sewerage undertaker and provide their formal response 
regarding connection to the public foul sewer. 
  
Information on the estimated total flow in litres per day of waste water, including any 
trade effluent should be provided. This information, along with supporting calculations 
will also help assess if it may be reasonable to connect to the public foul sewer. 
  
Overcoming our objection 
  
The applicant should thoroughly investigate the possibility of connecting to the main 
sewer or provide evidence to show why this is not feasible. 
  
The applicant shouldn't automatically assume that an environmental permit will be 
granted to allow treated effluent from a package water treatment plant to be 
discharged into a nearby watercourse. If a permit were to be granted there may be a 
requirement for additional treatment to be provided. 
  
The applicant may wish to consider parallel tracking their planning application with an 
environmental permit application. Pre-application advice can be obtained at: Get 
advice before you apply for an environmental permit - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
Environmental permit applicants will need to demonstrate why it isn't feasible to 
connect to the foul sewer. Guidance on what information needs to be provided can be 
found in the application form and supporting guidance. These can be obtained via the 
pre-application advice service. 
  
Advice for local authorities on non-mains drainage from non-major development - 
Advice for local authorities on non-mains drainage from non-major development - 
Planning Portal 
  
Trade Effluent 
  
Section 16 of the revised application form indicates trade effluent will be produced. 
The applicant should elaborate on this as the description provided appears to indicate 

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

waste will be sorted and taken off site. It is not clear if the applicant is confusing 
general dry wastes with trade effluent. 
  
Trade effluent includes any effluent which is discharged from premises used for 
carrying on any trade or industry, other than surface water and domestic sewage. The 
site plan in appendix A of the drainage strategy indicates vehicle washing will take 
place. Waste water arising from this activity is a trade effluent. The applicant should 
confirm how waste water from this activity be managed, treated and disposed of. The 
applicant should also confirm if there are going to be any activities in the buildings or 
elsewhere on site which will produce trade effluent. 
  
Overcoming our objection 
  
Further information needs to be provided to show how trade effluence will be dealt 
with and disposed of.  
  
Further Advice 
  
The suitability of draining the emission reduction substance (ERS) dispensing area to 
the foul drainage plan should be discussed and confirmed with the manufacturer of the 
package treatment plant as it could have a negative impact and the plant may not be 
able to treat this material. ERS are water soluble so won't be retained in a treatment 
plant. A site pollution incident response plan should identify what actions need to be 
taken in the event of a spillage of ERS.  
  
We don't agree with the applicants statement in appendix G of the drainage strategy 
about most spillages being of compounds that do not pose a risk to the environment. 
  
Certain food products can be highly polluting. The applicant should develop a pollution 
incident response plan outlining suitable response to all incidents which have the 
potential to cause pollution. We'd recommend that actions in this plan reference the 
principles of the pollution control hierarchy, guidance on which can be found at: 
Containment - ENP | NFCC CPO (ukfrs.com) 
  
The applicant should confirm that they have considered how any firefighting run off 
would be managed on this site. Firefighting run off arising from various food products 
has the potential to be highly polluting. A firefighting strategy should be developed in 
conjunction with the local fire and rescue service to plan how pollution could be 
avoided, for example using a controlled burn strategy and consideration of the 
feasibility of reusing any firefighting water. The applicant could consider the installation 
of penstocks on the outlet to the attenuation basin to prevent water discharging off 
site. We'd recommend the applicant considers installing isolation valves in the surface 
water drainage system to allow pollutants to be contained local to the source in the 
event of a leak or spill. Higher risk areas include delivery bays. Containing pollutants 
at or as close to the source follows the principles in the pollution control hierarchy. 
 

Environment 
Agency -  
(Subsequent  
Response 
dated 
05/04/2022) 

Following the submission of our previous response reference AE/2020/125343/02 
dated 7 March 2022, we have had further discussion and correspondence with the 
applicant regarding this proposal. As a result of this we are now able to remove our 
previous holding objection  
 
The applicant has calculated 10m3 of treated sewage effluent will be discharged each 
day. Using this volume, we’d be asking them to consider connecting to the foul sewer 
if it was within 400m of the site, which it isn’t and therefore we are satisfied with the 
arrangements for foul water disposal proposed. 

  

Page 20



Natural 
England 
11.08.2020 

No objection - Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the 
proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily 
protected nature conservation sites. 

  
Natural 
England 
03.02.2022 

Thank you for your consultation. 
   
Natural England has previously commented on this proposal and made comments to 
the authority in our letter dated 11 August 2020 Reference 323828 
   
The advice provided in our previous response applies equally to this amendment 
although we made no objection to the original proposal. 
   
The proposed amendments to the original application are unlikely to have significantly 
different impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal.   
   
Should the proposal be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact on the 
natural environment then, in accordance with Section 4 of the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act 2006, Natural England should be consulted again.  Before 
sending us the amended consultation, please assess whether the changes proposed 
will materially affect any of the advice we have previously offered.  If they are unlikely 
to do so, please do not re-consult us. 
 

Suffolk Coast 
and Heaths 
Area of 
Outstanding 
Natural Beauty 
07.02.2022 

Proposal - Full planning for food storage and distribution facility and associated 
parking, logistics yard and offices.  
   
Thank you for consulting the AONB team on the above planning application.  
  
The site lies 1.2km north of the boundary with the Dedham Vale Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB). In our response to the previous application, (20/00594/FUL), 
the AONB team raised concerns about the potential impacts of a similar type but 
larger development at this location on the setting to the Dedham Vale AONB. These 
concerns were driven mainly by the scale of the proposed development and the 
materials, namely the reflective metallic finish proposed to construct the warehouse in 
the scheme. The need for a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment was also 
highlighted.  
  
The AONB team welcomes that an LVIA has been completed to support the revised 
proposal. The AONB team broadly concurs with the conclusion in the LVIA regards 
potential impacts on the Dedham Vale AONB. I visited the site and AONB on 28 
January 2022. The topography between the application site and the AONB boundary 
is flat but there is substantial intervening vegetation between the two areas as well as 
some development to the north of the site. Due to these factors, the AONB team 
concur that there is likely to be no inter-visibility between the application site and the 
AONB.  
  
The walls of the warehouse will have a metallic finish comprising 'horizontal bands of 
colour in an ombre'. Given the scale of the warehouse, the colour selected will need 
careful consideration. While the site lies outside the AONB, (the boundary is 1.2km to 
the north)  to assist the colour selection process the AONB team suggest reference is 
made to The Selection and Use of Colour in Development Guide for the Dedham Vale 
AONB.  If an ombre design is not supported, the use of colour guide may be helpful for 
identifying an alternative block colour suitable for the warehouse at this location to 
help integrate it into the landscape.  
  
It is not clear if the proposal will indirectly impact the Dedham Vale AONB by 
increasing the amount of HGV traffic passing through the nationally designated 

Page 21



landscape. The minor road network leading to and across the AONB is not appropriate 
in terms of scale to accommodate any significant increase in HGV traffic. Any such 
increase could adversely impact on tranquillity, one of the defining qualities of the 
AONB. The Local Planning Authority should satisfy itself that the scheme will not result 
in an increase in HGV traffic in the AONB, with a resultant erosion of tranquillity. 
  
Lighting will be needed at this site and without careful consideration this could add to 
the growing sky glow from north Colchester, which is already visible from parts of the 
Dedham Vale AONB. The EIA Scoping Opinion (application ref 21/02042/EIASCR) 
highlighted the need for wildlife sensitive lighting. The Revised Design and Access 
Statement prepared to support application 20/00594/FUL recommends the need for 'a 
Lighting Strategy to reduce the potential impacts on foraging and commuting bats and 
to maintain dark corridors.'  
  
The AONB team fully supports the need for a Lighting strategy given the proximity to 
the AONB. The Design and Access Statement (DAS) makes no specific reference 
about the need to manage light pollution/spill within the setting to the AONB to help 
conserve Dark Skies. The DAS recommends installing a wildlife friendly lighting 
scheme at this site. While this would go someway towards managing light spill levels, 
any lighting scheme at this location should also be designed to avoid excessive 
upwards light spill and excessive sky glow to minimise light pollution. This approach 
will ensure compliance with emerging Local Plan policy PPL3 (The Rural Landscape). 
If the Local Planning Authority is minded to approve this proposal the need for a 
lighting strategy should be secured by condition. 
  
The AONB team also recommends that the landscape mitigation measures referenced 
in section 6 of the LVIA are worked up into a detailed landscaping scheme and 
secured via condition if the scheme is approved. 
  
  

ECC SuDS 
Consultee 
01.02.2022 

As the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) this Council provides advice on SuDS 
schemes for major developments. We have been statutory consultee on surface water 
since the 15th April 2015. 
  
In providing advice this Council looks to ensure sustainable drainage proposals 
comply with the required standards as set out in the following documents: 
  
- Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems 
- Essex County Council's (ECC's) adopted Sustainable Drainage Systems Design 
Guide 
- The CIRIA SuDS Manual (C753) 
- BS8582 Code of practice for surface water management for development sites. 
  
Lead Local Flood Authority position 
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which 
accompanied the planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning 
permission based on the following: 
  
Condition 1 
No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of 
the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme should include 
but not be limited to: 
  
- Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in 30 

Page 22



plus 40% climate change critical storm event. In case the half drain down time is more 
than 24 hours then demonstrate that features are able to accommodate a 1 in 10 year 
storm events within 24 hours of a 1 in 30 year event plus climate change.  
 
- Although FFL level and existing ground levels were provided, however the proposed 
ground levels of the development were not provided. Provide a drainage plan which 
details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and proposed ground levels. Provide 
an updated written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor 
changes to the approved strategy. 
  
We also have the following advisory comments: 
  
- We strongly recommend looking at the Essex Green Infrastructure Strategy to 
ensure that the proposals are implementing multifunctional green/blue features 
effectively. The link can be found below.  
https://www.essex.gov.uk/protecting-environment 
  
In the event that more information was supplied by the applicants then the County 
Council may be in a position to withdraw its objection to the proposal once it has 
considered the additional clarification/details that are required. 
  
Any questions raised within this response should be directed to the applicant and the 
response should be provided to the LLFA for further consideration. If you are minded 
to approve the application contrary to this advice, we request that you contact us to 
allow further discussion and/or representations from us. 
  
Summary of Flood Risk Responsibilities for your Council  
  
We have not considered the following issues as part of this planning application as 
they are not within our direct remit; nevertheless these are all very important 
considerations for managing flood risk for this development, and determining the 
safety and acceptability of the proposal. Prior to deciding this application you should 
give due consideration to the issue(s) below. It may be that you need to consult 
relevant experts outside your planning team.  
 
- Sequential Test in relation to fluvial flood risk;  
- Safety of people (including the provision and adequacy of an emergency plan, 
temporary refuge and rescue or evacuation arrangements);  
- Safety of the building;  
- Flood recovery measures (including flood proofing and other building level resistance 
and resilience measures);  
- Sustainability of the development.  
  
In all circumstances where warning and emergency response is fundamental to 
managing flood risk, we advise local planning authorities to formally consider the 
emergency planning and rescue implications of new development in making their 
decisions. 
  
Please see Appendix 1 at the end of this letter with more information on the flood risk 
responsibilities for your council 
  
INFORMATIVES: 
- Essex County Council has a duty to maintain a register and record of assets which 
have a significant impact on the risk of flooding. In order to capture proposed SuDS 
which may form part of the future register, a copy of the SuDS assets in a GIS layer 
should be sent to suds@essex.gov.uk. 

Page 23



 
- Any drainage features proposed for adoption by Essex County Council should be 
consulted on with the relevant Highways Development Management Office. 
 
- Changes to existing water courses may require separate consent under the Land 
Drainage Act before works take place. More information about consenting can be 
found in the attached standing advice note. 
 
- It is the applicant's responsibility to check that they are complying with common law if 
the drainage scheme proposes to discharge into an off-site ditch/pipe. The applicant 
should seek consent where appropriate from other downstream riparian landowners. 
 
- The Ministerial Statement made on 18th December 2014 (ref. HCWS161) states that 
the final decision regarding the viability and reasonableness of maintenance 
requirements lies with the LPA. It is not within the scope of the LLFA to comment on 
the overall viability of a scheme as the decision is based on a range of issues which 
are outside of this authority's area of expertise. 
 
- We will advise on the acceptability of surface water and the information submitted on 
all planning applications submitted after the 15th of April 2015 based on the key 
documents listed within this letter. This includes applications which have been 
previously submitted as part of an earlier stage of the planning process and granted 
planning permission based on historic requirements. The Local Planning Authority 
should use the information submitted within this response in conjunction with any other 
relevant information submitted as part of this application or as part of preceding 
applications to make a balanced decision based on the available information. 
 

ECC Schools 
Service 
 

Thank you for providing details of the above hybrid planning application for 
employment.  I have calculated that the proposal would create a demand for 6 Early 
Years and Childcare (EY&C) places. 
  
Please note that any developer contribution figures referred to in this letter are 
calculations only, and that final payments will be based on the actual dwelling unit mix 
and the inclusion of indexation. 
  
Early Years and Childcare 
Essex County Council has a statutory duty under the Childcare Act 2006 to ensure 
that there is sufficient and accessible high-quality early years and childcare provision 
to meet local demand. This includes provision of childcare places for children aged 
between 0-5 years as well as wrap around provision for school aged children (5-11 or 
up to 19 with additional needs). 
  
The proposed development is located within the Ardleigh and Little Bromley ward. 
According to Essex County Council's childcare sufficiency data, there are 5 early years 
and childcare providers within the ward. Overall a total of 30 unfilled places were 
recorded. As there are sufficient places available in the area, a developers' 
contribution towards new childcare places will not be required for this application. 
 

  
Highways 
England 
02.03.2022 

Reference: 20/00594/FUL 
Location: land adjoining Ipswich Road and Wick Lane Ardleigh Essex 
  
Proposal: Full planning for food storage and distribution facility and associated 
parking, logistics yard and offices. Outline planning to comprise further B8 distribution 
warehouses and offices. 
  

Page 24



National Highways Ref: 88616 
  
Referring to the consultation on a planning application dated 15 July 2020 referenced 
above, in the vicinity of the A120 that forms part of the Strategic Road Network, notice 
is hereby given that National Highways' formal recommendation is that we: 
  
b) recommend that conditions should be attached to any planning permission that may 
be granted (see Annex A - National Highways recommended Planning Conditions & 
reasons); 
  
Highways Act 1980 Section 175B is not relevant to this application. 
  
This represents National Highways' formal recommendation and is copied to the 
Department for Transport as per the terms of our Licence. 
  
Should the Local Planning Authority not propose to determine the application in 
accordance with this recommendation they are required to consult the Secretary of 
State for Transport, as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Affecting Trunk Roads) Direction 2018, via transportplanning@dft.gov.uk and may not 
determine the application until the consultation process is complete. 
  
Annex A National Highway's assessment of the proposed development 
  
National Highways has been appointed by the Secretary of State for Transport as a 
strategic highway company under the provisions of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and is 
the highway authority, traffic authority and street authority for the Strategic Road 
Network (SRN). The SRN is a critical national asset and as such we work to ensure 
that it operates and is managed in the public interest, both in respect of current 
activities and needs as well as in providing effective stewardship of its long-term 
operation and integrity. 
  
This response represents our formal recommendations with regard 20/00594/FUL and 
has been prepared by Mark Norman. 
  
We have reviewed the technical information provided in support of this planning 
application. And we recommend the following conditions 
  
1. Before any development on planning application 20/0594/FUL amended 
commences the developer shall have submitted and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority in consultation with Highways England the following design details 
relating to the required improvements to the A12 Junction 29. The scheme for traffic 
signals shown in outline on Intermodal Transportation drawing no IT2214/TA/04 titled 
Proposed Roundabout improvement, Ardleigh Deport for the Flying Trade Group PLC 
dated Jan 2021. 
  
Scheme details shall include drawings and Documents showing: 
  
i. How the improvement interfaces with the existing highway alignment and 
carriageway markings including lane destinations 
ii. Full construction details relating to the highway improvement. This should include 
any modifications to existing structures or proposed structures with supporting 
analysis. 
iii. Full Signing and Lighting details 
iv. Confirmation of compliance with Departmental standards (DMRB) and policies (or 
approved relaxations/departures from standards) 
v. Evidence that the scheme is fully deliverable within land in the control of either the 

Page 25



applicant or the Highway Authority. 
vi. An independent Stage 2 Road Safety Audit (taking account of and stage 1 Road 
Safety Audit recommendations carried out in accordance with Departmental Standards 
(DMRB) and Advice Notes. 
vii. A construction Management plan detailing how construction traffic will be 
managed. 
  
2. The above scheme approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be implemented 
and completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
the Highways Authorities and NO beneficial occupation shall take place unless and 
until the junction improvements shown in outline on Intermodal Transportation drawing 
no IT2214/TA/04 titled Proposed Roundabout improvement, Ardleigh Deport for the 
Flying Trade Group PLC dated Jan 2021 have been delivered and are fully 
operational. 
  
3. The total floor areas of the development will not exceed 
  
B2 Office space 1,300 SQM 
B8 Warehouse 16,188 SQM 
  
4. No part of the development herby approved shall be brought into use unless and 
until the Travel Plan has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority who 
shall consult with Essex County Council and National Highways as Highways 
Authorities. 
  
The Travel Plan shall be in line with prevailing policy and best practice and shall as a 
minimum include:- 
  
- The identification of targets for trip reduction and modal Shift 
- The methods employed to meet these targets 
- The mechanisms for monitoring and review 
- The mechanisms and review 
- The penalties to be applied in the event that targets are not met 
- The mechanisms for mitigation 
- Implementation of the travel plan to an agreed timescale or timetable and its 
operation thereafter 
- Mechanisms to secure variations to the Travel plan following monitoring and reviews 
  
A travel plan is required to encourage sustainable travel behaviour to and from the 
proposed development in accordance with national planning policy to encourage 
sustainable travel and to ensure that the A12 continue to serve its purpose as a part of 
a national system for through traffic in accordance. 
  
Reason: To ensure that the A12 and A120 trunk roads continue to serve their purpose 
as a part of a national system for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 of the 
Highways Act 1980, and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety. 
  
The National Highways 'Informative' re S278 agreements dated in respect of planning 
application 20/00594/FUL relating to the development known as warehousing 
Ardleigh, is attached and should be appended to any subsequent planning permission' 
 

  
Essex County 
Council 
Ecology 
(final 

We have reviewed the Amended Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Iceni Ecology, April 
2022) and Amended Landscape And Visual Impact Assessment (Arborterra, 
November 2021) to the likely impacts of development on designated sites, protected 
species and Priority species & habitats and identification of appropriate mitigation 

Page 26



comments 
dated 22 April 
2022 following 
amended 
ecological and 
associated 
information 
provided by 
Applicant) 
 

measures.  
 
We are now satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for 
determination of this application.  
 
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on designated sites, protected 
and Priority species & habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the 
development can be made acceptable. 
 
The mitigation measures identified in the Amended Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
(Iceni Ecology, April 2022) should be secured by a condition of any consent and 
implemented in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority 
species particularly reptiles, nesting bird, bats, Badger, and Stag Beetles. 

  
Internal 
Consultees 

 

  
Building 
Control and 
Access Officer 
25.03.2021 

No adverse comments at this time. 
 

  
  
TDC Economic 
Growth Team 
06.04.2022 

Flying Trade Group PLC - Land Adjoining Ipswich Road and Wick Lane 
  
Application No: 20/00594/FUL 
  
The economic Growth Team supports this application in the view that the new the 
development would bring new jobs into Tendring for the residents of Tendring. The 
number of new jobs this development would create is unclear as many of the 348 jobs 
mentioned on the application form will be existing.  
  
This application promotes the development of commercial space on (in part) a 
speculative basis (supported by an identified demand/need) and it is this approach 
that will assist in growing the district's economy and broadening Tendring's business 
base. 
  
The site occupies a key location in close proximity to strategic transport infrastructure, 
making the site more attractive than employment sites in Clacton or Harwich. It is not 
thought that the development of this site would have any negative impact on 
employment sites or existing commercial activity.  
 

  
Environmental 
Protection 
(EP) 
07.04.2021 

20/00594/FUL - Land Adjoining Ipswich Road and Wick Lane, Ardleigh, Essex, CO7 
7QL 
  
Noise Impact Assessment 
   
We would require a Noise Impact Assessment to be carried out by a relevantly 
qualified, competent person. This will need to focus on the impact from the proposed 
use for the site including B8 activities (Storage and Distribution). 
   
Lighting 
   
Any external lighting on the proposed development shall be located, designed and 
directed [or screened] so that it does not cause avoidable intrusion to neighbouring 

Page 27



residential properties. The applicant shall demonstrate compliance with the Institute of 
Lighting Professionals code of practice. (www.theilp.org.uk). 
  
Air Quality 
  
With reference to the submitted Transport Statement, the proposed development will 
increase traffic flow by over 500 LVG's. 
  
This total is above the threshold required for an air quality assessment as outlined 
within the planning guidance (Land-use Planning and Development Control: Planning 
For Air Quality, January, 2017 v1.2), which sets the level of change at 500 LDVs per 
day (as an annual average daily traffic flow) outside of an Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA).  There are no AQMAs declared within the Tendring District.  There are 
residential receptors located on Old Ipswich Road (slip off the A12) which have the 
potential to be impacted. 
  
The Environmental Protection team also ask that the agent / applicant confirms the 
levels of HGV movement from the proposed site.  
  
Due to the significant change in traffic flow within the local area, the Environmental 
Protection team ask that the applicant undertakes a detailed air quality assessment to 
assess compliance with the UK air quality objectives for consideration with this 
application. 
  
Reason: To prevent people from being exposed to unacceptable levels of air pollution. 
  
Construction Phase 
   
Prior to the commencement of any demolition and/or construction works, the applicant 
(or their contractors) shall submit a full method statement to, and receive written 
approval from, the Pollution and Environmental Control.  
   
- Noise Control 
   
1) The use of barriers to mitigate the impact of noisy operations will be used where 
possible. This may include the retention of part(s) of the original buildings during the 
demolition process to act in this capacity.  
2) No vehicle connected with the works to arrive on site before 07:30 or leave after 
19:00(except in the case of emergency). Working hours to be restricted between 08:00 
and 18:00 Monday to Saturday (finishing at 13:00 on Saturday) with no working of any 
kind permitted on Sundays or any Public/Bank Holidays.  
3) The selection and use of machinery to operate on site, and working practices to be 
adopted will, as a minimum requirement, be compliant with the standards laid out in 
British Standard 5228.  
4) Mobile plant to be resident on site during extended works shall be fitted with non-
audible reversing alarms (subject to HSE agreement).  
5) Prior to the commencement of any piling works which may be necessary, a full 
method statement shall be agreed in writing with the Planning Authority (in 
consultation with Pollution and Environmental Control). This will contain a rationale for 
the piling method chosen and details of the techniques to be employed which minimise 
noise and vibration to nearby residents. 6) If there is a requirement to work outside of 
the recommended hours the applicant or contractor must submit a request in writing 
for approval by Pollution and Environmental Control prior to the commencement of 
works.  
   
- Emission Control  

Page 28



   
1) All waste arising from the demolition process, ground clearance and construction 
processes to be recycled or removed from the site subject to agreement with the Local 
Planning Authority and other relevant agencies.  
2) No materials produced as a result of the site development or clearance shall be 
burned on site. 
3) All reasonable steps, including damping down site roads, shall be taken to minimise 
dust and litter emissions from the site whilst works of construction and demolition are 
in progress.  
4) All bulk carrying vehicles accessing the site shall be suitably sheeted to prevent 
nuisance from dust in transit. 
   
Adherence to the above condition will significantly reduce the likelihood of public 
complaint and potential enforcement action by Pollution and Environmental Control. 
The condition gives the best practice for Demolition and Construction sites. Failure to 
follow them may result in enforcement action under nuisance legislation 
(Environmental Protection Act 1990), or the imposition of controls on working hours 
(Control of Pollution Act 1974). 
   
Contaminated Land 
   
The historical use of the site indicates potential land contamination, we are requesting 
that a watching brief for signs of contamination is kept during groundworks. If visual / 
olfactory signs of contamination are identified the Local Authority must be notified, 
works should stop and a risk assessment be undertaken and submitted in writing to 
the Local Authority.  We have no objections to the discharge of this condition, and 
request the  above comments are noted. 
 

Environmental 
Protection  
03/02/2022 

Air Quality 
EP have reviewed the air quality assessment carried out by Ardent dated 2021. The 
report highlights that the impact from operations is ‘negligible’ and will have ‘no 
significant impact’. EP have no comments to make in relation to the report and agree 
with suggested mitigation outlined in part 6.0 relating to the construction phase. This 
should be implemented in their construction method statement. 
 
Noise 
EP have reviewed the noise impact assessment carried out by Pace Consult dated 
22nd October 2021. The report concludes that the noise generated from operations 
would be considered ‘negligible’ and having a low impact at the nearest resident. 
Environmental Protection have no further comment to make in relation to this 
 
All other comments made by Environmental Protection on 7th April 2021 relating to 
Lighting, Construction Phase and contaminated land remain the same 
 

TDC Tree & 
Landscape 
Officer – On 
landscape 
considerations: 
 

(Officer Summary: Objection)  
Commented as follows: 
In terms of the impact of the development proposal on the local landscape character it 
is clear that it has the potential to have a significant and permanent harmful impact on 
both the character and appearance of the local landscape. 
  
To quantify the degree of harm likely to arise from the development of the land is 
important to recognise the existing qualities and value of the landscape and to quantify 
the potential impact of the proposed development on the local landscape. 
  
The Tendring District Council Landscape Character Assessment defines the area 
within which the application sits as the Bromley Heaths Landscape Character Area 

Page 29



(LCA). The development site is situated on the western boundary of the district and is 
immediately adjacent to land within the administrative boundaries of Colchester 
Borough Council. In this regard it will be important to obtain their views on the 
development proposal. 
  
In terms of the impact of the development proposal on the setting of The Dedham Vale 
Area of Outstanding Beauty (AONB) it will also be important to secure the views of the 
Dedham Vale Area of Outstanding Beauty (AONB) Project Team. This is the body 
engaged, and funded by all local planning authorities with land designated as AONB to 
produce a Management Plan on their behalf.( it is a statutory requirement for local 
planning authorities to produce a management plan) That is; Essex County Council, 
Colchester Borough Council and Tendring District Council. Therefore considerable 
weight should be given to the views of the AONB team to ensure that the aims of the 
management plan are fully considered and where possible followed.  
  
In order to assess the impact of the development proposal on the local landscape 
character the applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVIA). 
The LVIA has been carried out in accordance with Landscape Institute and Institute of 
Environmental Management and Assessment guidance contained in the Guidelines for 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Third Edition 2013. The document 
identifies several locations (visual receptor viewpoints) from which the application site 
can be viewed. Two of these (n and o) being situated within the administrative 
boundaries of Colchester Borough Council. 
  
The document accurately describes existing landscape character and qualities of the 
landscape. It identifies and records the potential impact of the development on the 
character of the landscape and the way that it is perceived and enjoyed by the public. 
It goes on to quantify the degree of harm to both the physical character of the 
landscape and its visual qualities. It contains information to show how design 
principles and soft landscaping will try to mitigate the harm.  
  
It is recognised in section 7 Conclusions, of the LVIA that the development of the land 
will cause a degree of change to the local landscape character and its visual qualities. 
In effect this is describing the degree to which harm will be caused 
  
In terms of landscape effects on landscape receptors the LVIA describes in section 7.4 
the 'low sensitivity of the landscape elements and the medium magnitude of change' 
and goes on to say, in section 7.6, in relation to the effect on landscape character that 
'the effect to landscape character is considered moderate due to the medium 
sensitivity of the landscape of the 'Bromley Heaths' and the medium magnitude of 
change to the wider landscape'. 
  
It is also important to note that section 7.7 of the LVIA it makes it clear that the 
proposals beyond Phase 1 will lead to a far greater actual impact as a result of the 
cumulative effect of the development of the whole site. 
  
It is considered that the size and scale of the current development will result in a 
permanent harmful effect on landscape character changing land from agriculture to 
industrial with a building of such a size that mitigation by way of soft landscaping 
cannot be effective. Further phases of the proposed development would extend and 
increase the harm. 
  
In terms of the visual effects from residential properties sections 7.9 and 7.10 of the 
LVIA draws the conclusion that there will be only a slight/moderate visual effect. 
Nevertheless it is considered that the development proposal of a building 20m tall and 
covering 7 hectares; leading to a completed site covering 18 hectares, will completely 

Page 30



and permanently change the visual qualities of the local landscape and living 
experience for local residents. 
  
The impact of the development for users of Public Rights of Way (PRoW) is described 
in section 7.11 of the LVIA and states that 'two footpaths are considered to have high 
sensitivity; the magnitude of change is medium for users of Footpath 1 for a short 
section of the PRoW, leading to a substantial/slight effect on views. There is a 
moderate slight effect on a short section of Footpath 2. 
  
The views from the PRoW's are fairly distant and the extent of the development may 
not be fully apparent from these locations however the size and scale of the 20m tall 
main building will 'loom large' in the landscape and be a dominant feature in its setting. 
The building will be visible from both PRoW's. 
  
Section 7.12 addresses the impact of the development from Wick Lane but the 
designation of Wick Lane as a 'Protected Lane' does not appear to have been 
addressed in the LVIA. Special consideration must be given not only to views from 
Wick Lane but also to the impact of the development on the character and qualities of 
the protected lane. 
  
On balance whilst the LVIA describes the impact of the development in accordance 
with recognised guidelines this does not fully reflect the permanent change to the local 
landscape character or the visual impact of a structure 20 tall in a semi 'rural setting on 
a development site covering 18 hectares.  
  
The size and scale of the development is out of keeping with the local settlement 
pattern, even when taking into account existing adjacent uses of land. The height of 
the main building and the area of land covered by the development proposal would 
result in a complete and permanent change in the character and visual appearance of 
the area. 
  
The harm caused cannot be adequately mitigated by soft landscaping although it is 
recognised that a degree of screening can be achieved and that there would be 
associated ecological benefits associated with new planting 
 

TDC Tree & 
Landscape 
Officer – on 
Tree 
considerations 
– comments 
dated 2 Aug 
2022: 

The report provides an accurate description of the health and condition of the trees on 
the land and the extent to which they are a constraint on the development potential of 
the application site.  
 
The AIA shows that all established trees will be retained along with other existing, 
important and valued landscape features, such as field boundary hedgerows. 
 
In terms of vegetation removal the implementation of the development proposal will 
necessitate the removal of a short section of hedgerow adjacent to the Old Ipswich 
Road in order to facilitate vehicular access to the land. 
 
In landscape terms the remnant hedgerow is not a significant feature in its setting and 
the minor harm caused by its removal can be relatively easily mitigated by new soft 
landscaping that can be secured by a planning condition. 
 
An internal hedgerow of low quality containing small trees is also identified for 
removal. This feature does not have a significant positive impact on the local 
landscape character and its removal will not cause harm to the character or 
appearance of the countryside. 
 
In essence, it is considered that it has been demonstrated, by way of the information 

Page 31



contained in the AIA, that the development proposal could be implemented without 
causing harm to the best trees and hedgerows on the land. 
 
Details of soft landscaping should be secured by a planning permission attached to 
any planning permission that may be granted. 

  
 

5. Parish Council Representations 
 

5.1 Ardleigh Parish Council objects to the proposal on the following grounds: 
 

5.2 Precedent - Tending District Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA) will also be aware 
that they are obliged, as decision-makers, to "approach similar cases consistently". The Local 
Plan has only very recently been adopted and if the LPA chooses to ignore its most important 
spatial policies, in the absence of compelling justification, then this will set a negative 
precedent for all similar cases throughout the rest of the plan period to 2033 

 
5.3 The Parish Council is aware that TDC is a business-friendly authority and that the Local Plan 

could support employment development beyond site allocations. However, this still requires 
regard to be had to the settlement hierarchy - i.e. major employment development should be 
directed to higher tier settlements. If this development goes ahead in Tendring, it should be 
provided in a suitable and sustainable location within the district having regard to the plan led 
approach.  

 
5.4 The applicant has been quoted in the press to emphasise that they will be bringing jobs to the 

area, but no attempt has been made to engage with the Parish Council on this (or any other) 
matter or to outline where it expects its workforce to travel from. As Colchester BC has pointed 
out, a relocation to a suitable and sustainable site could retain or increase all positive impacts 
of the development whilst substantially reducing the negative impacts. There is thus absolutely 
no compelling reason to ignore the settlement hierarchy in this instance. If the LPA would 
refuse a major housing development on this site (which they surely would - in spite of its 
multiple social and economic benefits - due to its unsustainable location) there is absolutely no 
good reason why they should take a different approach to major employment developments.  

 
5.5 We reiterate our view that the applicant's sequential test falls far short of justifying this choice 

of site above any other more sustainable site in the district or beyond.  
 

5.6 If refused, there is every chance that the applicant could find a more sustainable site in 
Tendring that still met all of the business's functional needs (e.g. access to the strategic road 
network) was more conveniently located for employees (e.g. close to urban centre like Harwich 
no in the rural countryside of Ardleigh/Langham) and had a far lesser impact on the 
countryside and landscape character. 

 
5.7 Highways/Sustainability – The Parish Council note the comments received by Highways 

including the onerous conditions which they would expect to be met. We note that Highways 
have not made an assessment as to the overall sustainability and acceptability of the site as 
this would be a matter for TDC  

 
5.8 ''The (rural/remote) location is such that access to key active and sustainable public transport, 

facilities are limited and for the vast majority of journeys the only practical option would be the 
car. This should be taken into account by the Planning Authority when assessing the overall 
sustainability and acceptability of the site..." 

 
5.9 Our Parish Council would wish to reiterate earlier comments regarding the unsustainability of 

the site and call on the Local Planning Authority to reject the application on these grounds (as 
well as numerous others).  

Page 32



 
5.10 In particular, we believe that the large increase in vehicle movements, including on the rural, 

single tracks, lanes in the immediate vicinity of the site (Wick lane, Harts Lane, Crown Lane 
North) would be inevitable; that proposals or conditions for minibus services/walking links/ 
cycling/ public transport are simply not feasible or realistic; and that the Old Ipswich Road, 
which includes residential properties, could not sustain the increase in HGV movements. 

 
5.11 The planning conditions proposed by Highways seem very onerous and we would question 

whether they are practical or achievable. If this application were to gain approval, we would 
pay very careful attention to the conditions and monitor any sign that the developer has not or 
is not complying with them. We would note that if the developer failed to comply with any pre-
commencement planning condition they could invalidate their planning permission. We are 
aware of building work on part of this site where enforcement action led to retrospective 
planning permission and where conditions still do not appear to have been complied with. 

 
5.12 In addition to the above, a very detailed objection letter has been submitted by Planning Direct 

on behalf of Ardleigh Parish Council, this letter is included as an appendix to the report.  The 
Planning Direct letter objects on the follow grounds (summarised): 
 

 Detrimental impact on planned Public Open Space (per approved application 
ESS/57/04/TEN 

 The development represents a very significant departure from the development plan.  

 The major employment and transport-related development would be sited in an 
unsustainable location 

 The application contains insufficient detail and clarity to enable its impacts (and 
potential dis/benefits) on local employment figures and the economy to be properly 
assessed. 

 The applicant’s assertion that the development would assist to tackle a number of 
Tendring’s social and economic issues is unfounded. 

 The development would entail the permanent loss of productive, best and most 
versatile agricultural land 

 The applicant has failed - by a considerable margin - to justify their claim that there are 
no other suitable sites available anywhere in the district or wider region. 

 The development would cause substantial and permanent harm to the character, 
appearance, quality and integrity of the affected rural landscape.  

 Harm to biodiversity  

 Harm to heritage assets 

 Net amenity impact  

 Air quality concerns 

 Noise concerns 

 Drainage issues 

 Concerned about further future development on the former ‘phase 2’ section of the site 
(to the north)  

 
5.13 Officer comment: All the above issues will be covered and where relevant, addressed in the 

‘Assessment’ section below. 
 

6. Description of the site and surrounding area and the development proposal 
 

Site Description 
 

6.1 The application site is approximately 9 hectares in size and is located on the north eastern 
corner of Old Ipswich Road and Wick Lane.  The site is broadly rectangular and is 
approximately 180m wide (measured approximately 50m setback along Old Ipswich Road) 
and 630m long (along Wick Lane). The A12 is located almost immediately to the west of Old 

Page 33



Ipswich Road and runs more of less parallel with Old Ipswich Road for the entire length (of Old 
Ipswich Road) and up to the A12/A120 interchange further to the south. 

 
6.2 The majority of the central and eastern sections of the site currently comprises active 

agricultural land. Towards the western end of the site it suddenly changes character where it 
becomes brownfield in nature.  The westernmost section of the site comprises of an existing 
commercial premises, Total Roofing Supplies (TRS) with its associated buildings, all facing 
Old Ipswich Road.  The site as a whole is not allocated for any specific land use in the current 
up to date TDC Local Plan to 2033. 

 
6.3 Old Ipswich Road runs directly adjacent to the majority of the western site boundary, whilst 

trees/hedgerows and scrub vegetation form almost the entirety of the southern boundary 
adjacent to Wick Lane, and hedgerows form the eastern site boundary.  There is a private 
access road leading to dwellings and providing access to agricultural fields, located 
immediately to the east of the hedgerows along the eastern site boundary. The site is not 
within or near to a Conservation Area, although there are statutorily listed buildings further 
away (see details under the ‘heritage assets’ subheading below).   Wick Lane is designated as 
a ‘protected lane’ in the 2013-33 Local Plan policies map and is a characterful single country 
lane with occasional passing places, and mature trees and hedgerows on both sides of the 
lane for almost its entire length.  Some of the trees are substantial to very substantial in height, 
occasionally reaching heights of between 14-16 metres. 

 
  Description of Immediate and wider surroundings 
 

6.4 In terms of the immediate and wider surroundings, the site is semi-rural in nature within an 
area characterised by mixed arable agricultural land, some detached residential properties and 
light industrial/storage and distribution uses, the latter predominantly located along Old Ipswich 
Road. There is a separate business (PRM Commercials) located on Old Ipswich Road 
essentially in front of the application site because the PRM Commercials site extends 
eastwards which results in an indentation along the western boundary of the application site.  
The PRM Commercials site clearly does not form part of the application site and it can 
therefore only be assumed that this business will continue to operate regardless of the 
outcome of this application.  This business (PRM Commercials) specialises in truck/HGV 
repairs.   The A12 has a strong audible presence in the area and is located a short distance to 
the west of the site beyond the light industrial units located along Old Ipswich Road, whilst 
further industrial premises in the form of SRC Aggregates are located beyond Wick Lane to the 
south of the site. In some areas along Old Ipswich Road the A12 also has a strong visual 
presence. Indeed due to the audible presence of the A12 as well as the predominant build 
form along Old Ipswich Road, the character of the area changes dramatically (from rural to a 
mix of light industry dominated by strategic and main distributor roads) as one gets closer to 
Old Ipswich Road from the east along Wick Lane.  

 
6.5 To the west and south west (of the site) there are residential properties along Turnpike Close 

and the road linking Turnpike Close to Old Ipswich Road (going underneath the A12) – the 
properties along Turnpike Close are separated from the site by the A12 but are nevertheless 
reasonably close to the site (closest property approximately 90m away). To the east of the site 
(along Wick Lane) are residential properties and gardens, and several large arable fields that 
are enclosed by woodland making up the northern extents of Anglian Water’s Ardleigh 
Reservoir. To the north the site is bounded by agricultural land as well as the south western 
boundary of the neighbouring industrial site located east of Old Ipswich Road.  Further to the 
north there are residential properties with mature gardens along Hart’s Lane, more arable land 
and paddocks for grazing horses. Approximately 400m north of the site is a small, wooded 
area (Birch Wood) and a watercourse lined by mature riparian vegetation that flows east 
towards Ardleigh Reservoir. Beyond this, woodland patches become increasingly frequent as 
the land rises to the north of the site towards Dedham Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

Page 34



(AONB) - the very nearest southern boundary (of the AONB) to the application site is located 
approximately 1.2km away from the site.  

 
  Immediate and wider surrounding area – land uses and environmental sensitivities   
 

6.6 In terms of particular regard to cumulation with other existing development and/or approved 
development, in the vicinity of the site (especially along the east side of Old Ipswich Road) 
there are a number of industrial/storage/distribution uses to the north, and an Aggregates Site 
(SRC Aggregates) to the south.  The application site and wider are is also a ‘safeguarded 
sand/gravel area’ and the site and wider area is an allocated mineral extract site as per the 
policies map of the 2013-33 Local Plan.   Tendring District Council also recently approved 
planning permission (under planning reference 20/01783/FUL) for the construction of up to 30 
'start-up' business units under flexible E(g), B2 and B8 use and associated development, at 
the Systematic Business Park on Old Ipswich Road immediately to the north of the site the 
subject of this application.  The developer of this site is currently going through the process of 
discharging pre-commencement planning conditions. 

 
6.7 In addition and for completeness, there are a number of environmental sensitivities found 

within the wider vicinity of the site and its immediate hinterland.  These are summarised below:   
 

   
Birch Wood Ancient, Semi 
Natural Woodland amd 
Priority Habitat Inventiry 
Deciduous Woodland 

Located approximately 400m to the north 

Kiln Wood – Ancient/Semi 
Natural Woodland and 
Ancient Replanted Woodland 

Located approximately 882m to the west 

Ardleigh Gravel Pit (SSSI) Located approximately 2.5km to the south east 

Bullock Wood (SSSI) Located approximately 1.7km to the south  

Cattawade Marshes SSSI Located approximately 5km to the northeast. 

Stour and Orwell Estuary 
RAMSAR and SAC and 
Cattawade Marshes SSSI  

Nearest boundary located approximately 7.9km to the east  

Ardleigh Reservoir catchment 
area 

The application site falls within the Ardleigh Reservoir 
catchment area 

 
 

  Heritage Assets 
 

6.8 There are a number of statutorily listed buildings in the wider vicinity, the nearest listed 
buildings to the application site are: 

 

 Blue Barn Farmhouse along Harts Lane – located approximately 163m to the north east 
(measured from the north-eastern boundary of the application site) – the Systematic 
Business Park is located between the western section of the application site and the Blue 
Barn Farmhouse – the farmhouse is Listed Grade II 

 

 Blue Barn Cottage on corner of Hart’s lane and Old Ipswich Road - located approximately 
152m to the north east (measured from the north-eastern corner of the application site) – 
the Systematic Business Park is located between the western section of the application site 
and the Listed Grade II Blue Barn Cottage – the cottage is Listed Grade II. 

 

Page 35



 Thorpe Ley, some 177m to the north of the north western corner of the application site – 
Thorpe Ley is located on the west side of Old Ipswich Road just to the north of the Hart’s 
Lane junction – the building is Listed Grade II 

 

 Bloomfields Farmhouse and Barn – this farmhouse complex is located some 400m due 
north east – measured from the centre of the northern boundary of the application site to 
Bloomfields Farmhouse – The Farmhouse and Barn are both Listed Grade II 

 

 Wick Farmhouse and Barn adjacent to road at Wick Farm - located some 411m east – 
measured from the centre of the southern boundary of application site to the farmhouse and 
barn – Both Listed Grade II 

 

 Clarke Farmhouse – Located on Harts Lane further to the north of the application site, and 
some 660m from the northern boundary of the site – Clarke Farmshouse is Grade II Listed. 

 

 Fountain Farmhouse – Located some 1.2km to the east of the application site (measured 
from the centre of the southern boundary of application site to the farmhouse) – Fountain 
Farmhouse is Grade II Listed. 

 

 Historic England’s website indicates the presence of a Grade II Listed Milestone on east 
verge (along Old Ipswich Road) directly in front of the PRM Commercials site however this 
milestone is clearly not in place anymore. Historic images appear to suggest that the 
milestone was removed at some point after the year 2000.   

 
  The site is not located in a conservation area or located near a conservation area. 
 
  Connectivity/Road linkages bus stops 
 

6.9 The site can be accessed from the A12 (south-bound) via a slip-road that leads directly to a T-
junction on Old Ipswich Road.  From the T-junction a 90 degree right turn followed by some 
220m in a southern direction leads to the application site and the location of the proposed new 
access.  Around 1.1km to the north of the site Old Ipswich Road terminates. Access from the 
site onto the strategic road network is possible via Old Ipswich Road (south-bound) where the 
A12/A120 (junction 29) slip-road is located some 750m from the south western corner of the 
application site.  It is also possible for road traffic to access the A12 north-bound via an 
underpass (going underneath the A12) which is located a short distance to the south of the 
application site.  The underpass links up with Turnpike Close which in turn provides access to 
the A12 north-bound and other local roads located to the west of the A12.  Old Ipswich Road is 
not subject to a restricted speed limit and therefore the national speed limit of 60mph applies. 
There are currently no street lights along Old Ipswich Road, or along the adjacent A12 or 
indeed Wick Lane. Along the frontage of the site the carriageway of Old Ipswich Road contains 
a horizontal curve (looking northwards as one exit the site) which currently limits visibility. Old 
Ipswich Road is two-way in operation up to a point approximately 40m north of its connection 
with the A120 slip, whereupon it is one-way northbound. 

 
6.10 Wick Lane is a characterful local rural lane providing vehicular connection into the village of 

Ardleigh which is located some 2.5km further to the east. Wick Lane is around 5.5m wide in 
the vicinity of the junction with Old Ipswich Road and there are no associated footways or 
street lighting.  There is currently a sign restriction on Wick Lane, which prohibits HGVs 
weighing more than 7.5 tonnes. 

 
  Cycle Routes, Bus Stops and Railway Stations 
 

6.11 There are no bus stops in the vicinity of the site or indeed within a reasonable or safe walking 
distance from the site.  There are also no national cycle network routes, or any recognised 
local cycle routes close to the site.  Much further to the south of the application site, Colchester 

Page 36



provides cyclists with a number of cycle routes options and proposals exist to create cycle 
facilities around the nearby A120 grade separated roundabout junction situate at the southern 
end of Old Ipswich Road. Old Ipswich Road is relatively lightly trafficked during most parts of 
the day and is considered suitable for use by experienced cyclist.  Within a 5km cycle 
catchment area measured along the possible cycling routes along Old Ipswich Road, it is 
possible for the North and East areas of Colchester to be accessed from the site, as well as 
the village of Ardleigh. 
 

6.12 The closest bus stop to the site is on the A1232 Ipswich Road (Balkerne Gate) immediately 
south of the roundabout junction with the A120 and Old Ipswich Road. This bus stop is around 
1.8 km from the development site.  The site is located around 6.3 km from Colchester Railway 
Station. 

 
  Footpaths and Bridleways 
 

6.13 There are a number of public rights of way (PROW) and footpaths in the vicinity of the site, of 
note are: 

 PROW 139_33 to the north of the site (west of the A12) 

 PROW 54 (close to and to the west of the A12) and linking up with PROW 139_33 
above 

 PROW 19 (from Crown Lane North to Wick Lane – located further to the east of the 
site). 

 PROW 45 along Lodge Lane further to the west of the site and to the west of the A12 

 PROW 23 linking Birchwood Road with Harts Lane (further to the north of the site) 
 

Proposal 
 

6.14 The Proposed Development would include a large warehouse to be used as a food storage 
and distribution facility, with a height of between 16-20m, a width along the front (Old Ipswich 
Road elevation) of approximately 105m, a width along the rear of 60m, and an overall depth of 
up to 170m set in an extensive area of proposed hard standing.  Additional soft landscaping is 
also proposed to improve biodiversity and will include additional planting especially along the 
southern boundary of the site and in the area around the balancing pool in the eastern section 
of the site, the latter which is designed to ensure surface water run-off cannot flood into the 
surrounding water courses. New access arrangements are proposed from Old Ipswich Road, 
including car parking as well as a large HGV yard to the rear (south east of the proposed 
warehouse building) with facilities for vehicle washing and re-fuelling. The proposal also 
includes the provision for a large attenuation pond for managing surface flows.   

 
6.15 In detail a new access is proposed off Old Ipswich Road in a location between the existing 

PRM Commercials site and the Systematic Business Park (to the north). The existing access 
serving the roofing supplies business will be closed and sealed off as part of the development 
proposals.  Other off site changes include improvements to the A12 Junction 29 interchange to 
include a scheme for traffic signals shown in outline on Intermodal Transportation drawing no 
IT2214/TA/04 as well other pedestrian crossing and carriageway widening improvement works 
also at the A12 Junction 29 interchange. These elements are proposed to be secured through 
either a section 278 agreement or section 106 agreement (to be considered in the main body 
of the report).  

 
6.16 The main building will consist of a warehouse element as well as an ancillary office element 

(latter located to the front and will be used in connection with the main food storage and 
distribution warehouse).  The building will be broadly rectangular in shape, it will have a very 
gently sloped roof (that will appear as a flat roof in reality) with Photovoltaic panels fitting on 
the roof.    

 

Page 37



6.17 The Applicant has provided a detailed explanation in sections 3 and 6 of their Planning, Design 
and Access Statement setting out the need for the development. In essence the warehouse is 
required because the applicant’s business is growing and they have run out of storage and 
distribution space at their current facility in Harwich, the Applicant has put forward arguments 
for an urgent requirement for a new storage and distribution centre at the application site, and 
for the product lines owned by Flying Trade Group.  It is understood that their current facility in 
Harwich would be ‘redeveloped’ to become mainly the food processing part of the business, 
however this latter element does not form part of the development proposal. 

 
Evolution/Amendments to Proposal 

 
6.18 When the application was first submitted in mid-2020 it was for a significantly larger scheme 

which included (in addition to the warehouse) up to 25,000sqm of B8 floorspace and up to 
1750 B1 flexible/start up/business units on a much larger site of up to 18.5 hectares (to include 
land to the north, now removed from the site).  Officers raised a significant number of concerns 
but specifically in respect of the overall scale of the proposal on the much larger site. In 
accordance with the NPPF/PPG and to ensure effective collaboration and seeking solutions it 
was agreed that the site area can be reduced and the scheme significantly reduced (compared 
to the original submission) and amended to take account of these concerns - all as part of 
wholesale amendments to the planning application originally submitted under planning 
reference 20/00594/FUL (i.e. this planning application). A subsequent revised application was 
made and full statutory and public consultations undertaken. 
 
Assessment    

 
6.19 As set out within the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (section 70(2)) in dealing with 

planning applications the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the 
development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material 
considerations. This is reiterated within paragraph 47 of the NPPF (2018). In accordance with 
s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the application must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The development plan is defined in section 38(3) (b) of the 2004 Act as "the 
development plan documents (taken as a whole) that have been adopted or approved in that 
area". 

 
6.20 In the District of Tendring and having regard to the location of this site and the nature of the 

proposed development, the Development Plan consists of: 
 

 2013-2033 TDC Local Plan  

 Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 (MLP) 
 

6.21 The statutory term 'material considerations' has been broadly  construed to include any 
consideration relevant in the circumstances which bears on the use or development of land: 
Cala Homes (South) Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government & Anor 
[2011] EWHC 97 (Admin); [2011] 1 P. & C.R. 22, per Lindblom J. Whilst accepting that the 
NPPF does not change the statutory status of the Development Plan, para 2 confirms that it is 
a material consideration and significant weight is given to this in determining applications. 
 

6.22 The main issues to consider in assessing this application are whether there is any conflict with 
Development Plan policies. If there is any conflict, whether the application can be considered 
to be in accordance with the Development Plan when taken as a whole. If the application is not 
in accordance with the Development Plan, whether there are any material considerations 
which indicate that planning permission should be granted.  The key and most important 
material planning considerations relevant to this development proposal are set out below 
followed by an assessment under each heading. 
 

Page 38



Principle of Development 
 

6.23 The key and most important local plan policy governing new development proposals in use 
class B2 (General Industry) and B8 (Storage and Distribution) is policy PP7 (Employment 
Allocations) in the Local Plan.  

 
6.24 The site in question is not allocated for B2 and / or B8, and as outlined in the ‘Site Description’ 

section above the very westernmost section of the site (fronting Old Ipswich Road) is 
previously developed (brownfield) land and currently in use as a workshop/trade business 
(retrospective planning permission approved in March 2021 under application reference 
21/00003/FUL for warehouse building for roofing trade supplies).  The remainder and majority 
of the site is greenfield land, and currently in active agricultural use with a farm access off Wick 
Lane.   

 
6.25 In terms of the most up to date TDC Local Plan, some 32ha of land in the district of Tendring is 

allocated for new development in use classes B2 (General Industry) and B8 (storage and 
Distribution) to support a diversity of employment opportunities, the majority of which has 
already obtained planning permission. These allocated sites are listed in Table 6.1 of the 
above mentioned policy PP7.  The policy clearly states ‘on these sites proposals for 
development in use classes B2 and B8 will be supported’. The application site clearly does not 
feature in table 6.1 and the Applicant undertook a site based sequential assessment (titled 
‘Supplementary Sequential Test Statement’) to review the suitability of all the allocated sites in 
the district of Tendring as outlined in table 6.1.  The findings of which are assessed in the 
section directly below. 

 
6.26 Notwithstanding the above, Policy PP7 goes on to state ’Proposals for new employment-

related development on land outside of these allocations will be considered having regard to 
their potential to support economic growth in the district and the requirements of other policies 
in this Local Plan.’ 

 
6.27 Having regard to the relevant section of the policy as outlined above, the principle of a new 

food storage and distribution facility and associated logistics yard and office in this location 
would not be positively supported by Policy PP7. However, Policy PP7 clearly envisages that 
proposals for employment related development may be acceptable on land outside of these 
allocations having regard to their potential to support economic growth in the district and the 
requirements of other policies in this Local Plan. The comment from Ardleigh Parish Council 
and other third party contributories in respect of the settlement hierarchy in the local plan, the 
large scale nature of the proposal (major employment development) and that it should be 
directed to higher tier settlements, as well as general sustainability concerns, are noted. The 
remainder of this report will cover these matters, including the potential for the proposals to 
support economic growth and it will also assess the proposal against the other policies in the 
Local Plan in the sections below, including the site’s overall sustainability credentials (or lack 
thereof). The overall balance of the planning considerations is further considered in the section 
on planning balance below.  
 
Availability of other sites including allocated sites and local impact threshold (office 
floorspace) 
 

6.28 As stated above, some 32ha of land in the district of Tendring is allocated for new 
development in use classes B2 (General Industry) and B8 (storage and Distribution) to support 
a diversity of employment opportunities.  Due to the allocated status of these sites they are 
considered to be better suited for a B2/B8 development proposal of this nature.  It is mainly for 
this reason that the LPA asked the Applicant undertook a site based sequential assessment 
(titled ‘Supplementary Sequential Test Statement’ - SSTS) to review the suitability of all six of 
the allocated sites in the district of Tendring as outlined in table 6.1 of policy PP7.   The policy 
context/background and methodology used by the Applicant is set out in SSTS.    

Page 39



 
6.29 The LPA’s position is that it was reasonable for the SSTS to focus on allocated sites in the 

administrative area of TDC only, as the primary purpose of, and intent behind the proposal is 
to enable the expansion of the business in the Tendring area, due regard is given to the fact 
that the business is already a Tendring based business with the current facility located in 
Harwich, and because of the area’s proximity to the two ports of Harwich and Felixstowe. The 
Applicant has also looked at sites in the administrative area of nearby Colchester Borough. On 
the latter, the Colchester Local Plan (CLP) identifies a number of broad locations for 
employment land. Table SG3 in the CLP, entitled "Colchester Employment Land Supply 2017-
2033" is produced on page 25 of the CLP, which was recently adopted as the Development 
Plan for Colchester Borough. Table SG3 identifies one Strategic Economic Area (SEA) 
designed for Industrial development, including B8 Warehouse and Distribution Use. The single 
SEA is Stanway, which is expected to deliver 5600 square metres of industrial land. The 
floorspace of the proposed warehouse alone would be in the region of 16,188 square metres, 
or roughly three times the size of the whole allocation at Stanway.  The Applicant argues that 
the Stanway site is unsuitable due to its size.   
 

6.30 However, table SG3 also identifies a number of Local Economic Areas, which are due to 
deliver a combined 31,037 sqm of industrial land, however this is over a broad number of sites. 
For instance, 13,959 sqm is to be delivered on sites described as Edge of Centre in Colchester 
Town Centre. 

 
6.31 The total allocated industrial land for Colchester appears to total approximately 3.6ha. While 

North Colchester has approximately 10.4ha of allocated employment land, this includes the 
entirety of the existing Severalls Business Park, which is already developed. The Applicant has 
explained that the available land on this site is insignificant when compared to the size of the 
proposed development and that none of the other allocations is larger than the site area of the 
proposed development site. 

 
6.32 As part of the evidence base for the Local Plan, Lichfields were commissioned to produce an 

Employment Land Supply Delivery Trajectory, which was delivered to the Colchester Council 
in May 2017. Appendix 2 contains a list of the 15 employment sites considered for allocation. 
None of the sites allocated for Industrial Use are large enough to accommodate the proposed 
warehouse, let alone the required development around them. The very largest proposed site is 
Stanway Lakelands West, which offers 16,084 sqm of industrial space – the applicant’s 
position is also that this site is not large enough to accommodate the proposed warehouse and 
associated development.  

 
6.33 In conclusion, the LPA has reviewed the arguments put forward by the applicant in respect of 

site availability in the administrative area of Colchester and accept these arguments.  
 
6.34 Below is a list the allocated sites in TDC that has been assessed in the SSTS and a summary 

of the findings, as well as an overall conclusion.  
  

6.35 Extension to Gorse Lane Industrial Estate – The SSTS concludes that this site is unavailable 
and not suitable in terms of its location, site layout and operational requirements.  Neither the 
LPA nor the Council’s Economic Development Team dispute any of the findings as set out in 
paragraphs 4.3 – 4.8 of the SSTS.  The Council’s Economic Development Team is in 
agreement that the site is too small to accommodate the proposed development and to make it 
functional for its intended use.  

 
6.36 Land at Stanton Europark, Parkeston - The SSTS concludes that this site is not sufficient, 

unavailable and not suitable in terms of its location, site layout and operational requirements.  
The LPA disagrees that the site is not suitable in terms of its location– the site is conveniently 
located adjacent to the applicants’ existing Harwich facility.  The Applicant has explained that 
the layout of this site would make development of the whole site for the warehousing use 

Page 40



proposed significantly compromised however the site is 3.3ha in size and no evidence or 
supporting information has been provided to back up this claim, and no supporting information 
has been submitted to demonstrate how the site could be developed to function in tandem with 
their current site, which is directly adjacent.  Notwithstanding this, the Council’s Economic 
Development Team accepts the findings in the SSTS in respect of this site. In addition, the 
LPA is currently dealing with a separate planning application submitted by the owners of the 
Stanton Europark Site, for a 60 bed hotel, two office buildings, four drive through restaurants, 
four business units, and as part of ongoing discussions with the Applicants of application ref. 
21/01240/FUL, they have indicated that they are not interested in selling the site to interested 
parties. As such the LPA agrees that the site is not available for these proposals.   
 

6.37 Land at Harwich Valley, East of Pond Hall Farm, Dovercourt - The SSTS concludes that this 
site is not available and not suitable in terms of its location and operational requirements. The 
applicant has explained that the road infrastructure requirements would have made the site 
financially unviable for Surya Foods however no evidence has been submitted to back up this 
claim – as such the LPA is discounting this reason.  The Applicant has also explained that the 
site lacks the convenient access to the A12 Strategic Trunk Road, requiring instead the detour 
from Felixstowe to Harwich, and thence back to the A12, in order to distribute to customers 
around the country.  The LPA accepts that this latter element is a constraint and the desire for 
a location on or close to the A12 is one of the main drivers of the application for a new 
warehouse facility as set out in the ‘Proposed Development’ section above.  The Councils 
Economic Development Team accept the comments in the statement, which have not been 
disputed by any other parties, and the LPA accepts that the site is not available for the reasons 
given in the SSTS. 
 

6.38 Land of Clacton Road/Dead Lane, Mistley - The SSTS concludes that this site is not sufficient 
and not suitable in terms of its location and operational requirements.  Although the 
Assessment Matrix in Table 1 of the SSTS indicates that the site is available, the Applicant 
explains in supporting text that the site is no longer available and the reason given (for its 
unavailability) is not clear, as such the LPA is unconvinced about the unavailable status of this 
site.  Notwithstanding, the Applicant explained that the access to the site is poor and via 
country roads which would be unsuitable for the proposal the subject of this report.  The 
Council’s Economic Development Team agrees that the site has poor access.  At 2.0ha in size 
the LPA also agrees that the site is insufficient in size to accommodate the development 
proposal in its entirety and from an operational perspective. 

 
6.39 Crown Business Centre, Old Ipswich Road, Ardleigh – The SSTS concludes that this 2.3ha 

site is not sufficient and not suitable in terms of its site layout, environmental considerations 
and operational requirements.  The supporting text (in paragraph 4.29 of the SSTS) states 
‘With the site being unavailable and in part subject to pending applications it is considered that 
it is not suitable. It is also unsuitable for the proposal of food storage facilities owing to its small 
scale of 2.31ha when the site size needed is in line with 9ha’.  The Council’s Economic 
Development Team sees no reason to disagree with the comments in the SSTS in respect of 
this site. 

 
6.40 Land south west of Horsley Cross – The SSTS concludes that the site is unavailable, 

unsuitable, and not ideal from an operational perspective.  In detail the applicant has explained 
in the SSTS that this site is now unavailable having been placed under offer with the view to 
being sold under the land agents Savills.  In terms of its suitability criteria, the SSTS explains 
that its location along the A120 whilst still fully accessible, does add further travel time and 
does not provide a direct link to the main trunk road that serves Essex and Suffolk linking into 
the wider area and beyond.  Whilst the latter may well be the case in terms of the application 
site, it will not be the case relative to the applicants existing site at Harwich, as such the LPA is 
discounting this so called ‘travel time’ constraint.  Nevertheless, the Council’s Economic 
Development Team confirmed that this site would have been a suitable site if the land was 
available, but also confirmed that their understanding is that the site have been sold, or is in 

Page 41



the process of being sold to a local company – therefore the LPA agrees that this site is not 
available. 

 
6.41 Application site – Land adjoining Ipswich Road and Wick Lane, Ardleigh, CO7 7QL – The 

SSTS concludes that this site is sufficient, available, suitable in terms of its location, layout, 
environmental considerations and operational requirements.  The justification for the above is 
given in paragraphs 4.36 – 4.42.  Whilst the section above this section covers the ‘Principle of 
Development’, the remainder of this report will cover other material planning considerations 
such as the application site’s suitability from an access and layout perspective as well as 
environmental considerations including operational requirements and other sustainability 
criteria. 

 
6.42 Turning to policy PP4 (Local Impact Threshold), this policy states applications for retail, leisure 

and office (emphasis added) development outside of a centre as defined on the Policies Map, 
which are not in accordance with the Local Plan, will require an impact assessment if the 
development is over the following floorspace thresholds in the nearest defined Town Centre: 
 
a. Clacton – 929 sq.m gross floorspace  
b. Frinton-on-Sea – 929 sq.m gross floorspace  
c. Dovercourt – 250 sq.m gross floorspace  
d. Walton-on-the-Naze – 250 sq.m gross floorspace 
e. Brightlingsea – 250 sq.m gross floorspace  
f. Manningtree – 250 sq.m gross floorspace  
g. Harwich – 250 sq.m gross floorspace 
 
(the nearest Town Centre to the application site is Manningtree at approximately 8km away 
(direct line measurement).   
 

6.43 A total of 1200sq.m gross ancillary office floorspace is proposed.  The offices will be used in 
connection with the storage and distribution use applied for and as such the proposal is 
arguably not an “office development” within the meaning of Policy PP4.  In any event, while no 
impact assessment for the office floorspace has been submitted, the office element is not 
considered to impact on existing, committed and planned public and private investment in a 
centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal, and the impact of the proposal on the 
vitality and viability on the nearby town centre of Manningtree, including local consumer choice 
and trade in other defined centres and wider catchment will be negligible in light of the ancillary 
nature of the office floorspace. 
 
Conclusion 
 

6.44 In conclusion, the Applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that the allocated sites in the 
administrative area of TDC, as well as potentially suitable sites in the administrative area of 
Colchester are either not suitable or available (or both) for the proposed development, and 
therefore non allocated sites, such as this, need to be considered on its individual planning 
merits. 
 
Economic considerations and potential for proposals to support economic growth in 
the district 

 
6.45 The Applicant has put forward arguments that a significant number of new jobs (in excess of 

300 jobs) will be created as a direct result of this development – the economic benefits insofar 
as direct and indirect job creation is concerned is considered to be significant and attracts 
significant weight. 
 

Page 42



6.46 The proposal will result in inward investment in the local economy and will add a very 
considerable sum the local economy over the next decade – again significant weight is 
attributed to this economic benefit. 

 
6.47 This proposal, if approved, will also secure jobs at the Harwich site, which would be 

redeveloped as the food processing part of the business – limited weight is attributed to this 
economic benefit as this benefit relates to a separate site. 

 
6.48 During the construction stage (which will be in the region of 3 years), the Applicant anticipates 

that that on average 14 construction jobs would be created each year. Estimates suggest an 
additional 23 indirect or induced jobs would be generated per annum associated with the 
construction, as a result of the increased spending on goods, suppliers, and services in the 
area. The total number of indirect and induced jobs from the construction stage is estimated at 
70. The economic benefits in terms of job creation during construction are not therefore 
insignificant and attract moderate weight. 

 
6.49 The relevant part of policy PP12 states ‘in granting planning permission for residential and 

non-residential developments, the Council will use Employment and Skills Charters/Local 
Labour Agreements to ensure that, as far as is possible and practicable, local contractors are 
employed to implement the development and that any temporary or permanent employment 
vacancies (including apprenticeships) are advertised through agreed channels to reach and 
prioritise local people.’  The applicant has agreed to use local contractors to implement the 
development (as far as possible and practicable) and that any temporary or permanent 
employment vacancies (including apprenticeships) will be advertised through agreed channels 
to reach and prioritise local people.  These elements will be secured in a 106 legal agreement 
should planning permission be granted and attracts moderate weight as it will offer 
employment opportunities for local people. 

 
6.50 In conclusion, the Applicant has clearly demonstrated that the proposal has significant 

potential to support economic growth in the district in accordance with policy PP7. It is also 
considered that the economic benefits in its entirety will be very significant and will include the 
retention of a large local employer within the district, securing a significant number of new jobs 
in the district, as well as safeguarding existing jobs in the district, there will be additional spend 
in the local and wider economy (as a result of the new job creation and other spin offs), the 
development will generate inward invest and add a considerable sum to the local economy 
over the next decade.  The basket of economic benefits will therefore be substantial. 

 
Ground Conditions 
 
Loss of Agricultural Land 
 

6.51 Former saved Policy EN4 of 2007 Local Plan sought to prevent the unavoidable loss of 
agricultural land, and loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land unless special 
justification could be shown. This policy was superseded with the adoption of the Section 2 
Local Plan and there is no direct replacement policy. 
 

6.52 Nevertheless, Paragraph 7.3.1 of the Section 2 Local Plan states that in order to promote 
sustainable development, in considering where to select sites for new development in this 
Local Plan, the Council has taken particular care to assess the value of the landscape and, 
where practical, allocate sites with the lowest sensitivity, thereby helping to protect valued 
landscapes and the best and most versatile agricultural land. 

 
6.53 The Glossary to the Framework defines best and most versatile agricultural land as land in 

grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC). Paragraph 174 a) of the 
Framework states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to, and enhance the 
natural and local environment by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 

Page 43



countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and 
woodland.  

 
6.54 Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 8-001-20190721 of the NPPG states, amongst other things, that 

planning decisions should take account of the economic and other benefits of the best and 
most versatile agricultural land. Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 8-002-20190721 states that soil 
is an essential natural capital asset that provides important ecosystem services – for instance, 
as a growing medium for food, timber and other crops, as a store for carbon and water, as a 
reservoir of biodiversity and as a buffer against pollution. 

 
6.55 Whilst the Natural England Agricultural Land Classification map does not specifically layer the 

application site, the land immediately to the south (of Wick Lane) is grade 2 and grade 3 
agricultural land.  Based on this it would be reasonable to assuming that the vast majority of 

the site currently comprises grade 2 agricultural land (where Grade 1 is best quality and grade 

2 is poorest quality).  The westernmost part of the site is classed as brownfield land and 
therefore not currently or previously in agricultural use. 

 
6.56 Natural England’s guide to assessing development proposals on agricultural land states that 

Grade 2 – very good quality agricultural is: 
 
“Land with minor limitations that affect crop yield, cultivations or harvesting. A wide range of 
agricultural and horticultural crops can usually be grown. On some land in the grade there may 
be reduced flexibility due to difficulties with the production of the more demanding crops, such 
as winter harvested vegetables and arable root crops. The level of yield is generally high but 
may be lower or more variable than grade 1.” 
 

6.57 Having regard to all of the above, from the ‘Likelihood of Best and Most Versatile (BMV) 
Agricultural Land - Strategic scale map Eastern Region (ALC020)’, the site has a high 
likelihood of being BMV (grade 2). Moreover and as stated, from the post 1988 ALC Magic 
Map, some of the land opposite has already been confirmed as Grade 2.  
 

6.58 In the absence of a field survey the Council cannot be 100% certain that the site is classed as 
Grade 2 agricultural land.  The Applicant explained in supporting statements that the site is 
‘uncultivated’ agricultural land. However officer site visits confirmed there is currently a 
summer crop growing on the land as such this characteristic put forward by the Applicant has 
no bearing on the assessment. The proposal, if approved, will clearly result in the loss of 
agricultural land and there is therefore conflict with Paragraphs 174 a) and b) of the 
Framework which weighs against the proposal.  This loss will be weighed against other 
benefits (if any) of the scheme as part of the ultimate planning balance. 
 
Archaeology  
 

6.59 Policy PPL7 states (summarised) any new development which would affect, or might affect, 
designated or non-designated archaeological remains will only be considered where 
accompanied by an appropriate desk-based assessment. Where identified as necessary within 
that desk-based assessment, a written scheme of investigation including excavation, recording 
or protection and deposition of archaeological records in a public archive will be required to be 
submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority. The policy also states proposals 
for new development affecting a heritage asset of archaeological importance or its setting will 
only be permitted where it will protect or where appropriate enhance the significance of the 
asset. Where a proposal will cause harm to the asset, the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF 
should be applied dependent on the level of the harm caused.  The final section of the policy 
states proposals for new development which are not able to demonstrate that known or 
possible archaeological remains will be suitably protected from loss or harm, or have an 
appropriate level of recording, will not be permitted. 

Page 44



 
6.60 The above planning application has been identified by ECC Archaeology as having the 

potential to harm non-designated heritage assets with archaeological interest. 
 

6.61 The Essex Historic Environment Record (HER) and Tendring Historic Environment 
Characterisation Project, demonstrate that the proposed development lies within an area of 
archaeological interest.  

 
6.62 The site lies to the north of Crown Quarry where archaeological investigations over the last 10 

years have revealed multi-period archaeological evidence. Of significance are the remains of 
an extensive Late Iron Age (mid-1st century BC to mid-1st century AD) settlement which 
includes a large D shaped enclosure and annexe which was likely used for industrial activity. 
The Old Ipswich road follows the route of a Roman road which lies along part of the western 
site boundary and Wick Lane is a historic route. 

 
6.63 The medieval and later remains at Crown Quarry relate to a field system and enclosures 

predating the existing field pattern. Cropmark evidence for historic agricultural activity in the 
adjoining field is revealed through aerial photography adjacent to Bloomfields Farm which 
dates from the medieval period. A lane once joined the farm at Bloomfields to Bluegates Farm 
which is no longer extant and crosses the development area.  

 
6.64 The majority of the site has remained undeveloped and preservation of any archaeological 

remains would be good, the site has the potential to preserve archaeological remains 
associated with the adjacent Roman road and known medieval settlement and activity within 
the immediate area.  Following a consultation with ECC Archaeology they have raised no 
objection to the proposal subject to a condition to secure a Programme of Archaeological 
evaluation prior to any development of preliminary groundworks undertaken.  Subject to a 
condition to secure the above to be included (in the event that planning permission is granted) 
it is considered that the proposal result in no conflict with policy PPL7.  Such a condition is 
considered to meet the NPPF tests and will be included in the event the officer 
recommendation is to approve. 

 
Minerals and Waste 
 

6.65 The entirety of the application site is located within an allocated mineral extract site and a 
minerals safeguarding area (MSA) as per the latest policies map for the West Tendering area, 
and therefore any future planning application for a development of this nature will be subject to 
Policy S8 of the Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 (MLP). The MLP can be viewed on the 
County Council's website via the following link: 
  
https://www.essex.gov.uk/minerals-waste-planning-policy/minerals-local-plan 
  

6.66 Policy S8 of the MLP requires that a non-mineral proposal located within an MSA which 
exceeds defined thresholds must be supported by a Minerals Resource Assessment to 
establish the existence, or otherwise, of a mineral resource capable of having economic 
importance. This will ascertain whether there is an opportunity for the prior extraction of that 
mineral to avoid the sterilisation of the resource, as required by the National Planning Policy 
Framework (Paragraph 210). The NPPF requires policies that encourage the prior extraction of 
a mineral where it is practical and environmentally feasible. 
 

6.67 The area of land associated with the proposed development that lies within an MSA for sand 
and gravel is significant and exceeds the 5ha threshold upon which local resource 
safeguarding provisions are applied for this mineral. Policy S8 of the MLP therefore applies, 
and this states "…Proposals which would unnecessarily sterilise mineral resources or conflict 
with the effective workings of permitted minerals development or Preferred Mineral site 
allocation shall be opposed." 

Page 45



 
6.68 Following an initial objection from the Essex Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (MWPA) 

the Applicant provided further information as well as an Advice Note (AN) on the issue of 
Minerals and Waste.  Following a re-consultation with the MWPA they removed their holding 
objection in those areas where it remained extant following its earlier correspondence dated 
1st March 2022, and provided that TDC, as the determining authority, is satisfied that the 
development will not have an impact on the existing mineral operation at Crown Quarry. 

 
6.69 The existing minerals operation at Crown Quarry is located on the south side of Wick Lane and 

east of Old Ipswich Road, the Crown Quarry site is very extensive and minerals extraction is 
currently ongoing. Access to the Crown Quarry site is also off Old Ipswich Road, but to the 
south of the Wick Lane junction as well as the proposed access to the application site. The 
impact of the proposed development on the local and wider road network is covered in detail in 
the ‘Highways safety and Parking’ section below, however in summary, it has been 
demonstrated, and confirmed by ECC highways that the proposal, subject to conditions and a 
legal agreement, will not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  The LPA is therefore satisfied that 
the proposed development will not have an impact on the existing mineral operation at Crown 
Quarry (see ‘Highways Safety and Parking’ section below). 

 
6.70 The MWPA stated that if, as the determining authority, TDC considers that there is a need for 

the proposed development, the MWPA would not object to non-conformity with the part of 
Policy S8 relating to development in an MSA due to the restrictions placed on accessing the 
site to carry out the MRA, and if the economic benefits is deemed to outweigh the 
environmental considerations, then the MWPA’s concerns regarding the minerals safeguarding 
will fall away.  Officer comment: The LPA is satisfied that the Application has sufficiently 
demonstrated a need for the proposed development, as outlined in their supporting 
documents, subsequently considered, assessed and confirmed in the relevant sections in this 
report.  The ‘Planning Balance and Conclusion’ section of this report will weigh up the 
economic benefits versus the environmental and other considerations. 

 
6.71 The MWPA then raises a number of issues and inaccuracies in the Applicant’s Minerals 

Infrastructure Impact Assessment (MIIA) which can be summarised as follows: 
 

 The red line boundaries of the two sites (the application site and the minerals site) 
are much closer than what is stipulated in the MIIA 

 Future extraction is currently permitted at a location approximately 50m from the 
proposed development (and not further away as suggested in the MIIA) 

 
6.72 The MWPA (as well as Ardleigh Parish Council) also wants TDC to give consideration to the 

impact the proposed development may have on the quality and attractiveness of the ultimate 
public open space around the reservoir that will be created in the long term – Officer comment: 
These aspects are covered in the next section directly below.  
 

6.73 The MWPA wants TDC as the determining authority to be satisfied that all bespoke 
assessments associated with the proposed development sufficiently take the existing mineral 
workings/ permission into account. This includes the programme of mineral working, which, 
according to the MWPA has not been accurately captured in the AN, and which brings 
extraction closer to the proposed development over time, and that the proposed land use will 
not give rise to any potential incompatibility with the existing minerals operation – Officer 
comment: other relevant sections in this report take into account the proposed development in 
the context of the immediate and wider surrounding area.  The LPA agrees that minerals 
extraction will, over time, come closer to the development site, however Wick Lane is a 
permanent feature in the area and a clear separation between the application site and the 
minerals extraction site will remain in place, and the LPA has not been provided with any 
evidence which conclusively demonstrates that the proposed development, due to its location 

Page 46



to the minerals site, will, over time, impact on the effective workings of permitted minerals 
development to the south.  The impact of the proposed land use on the character and 
appearance of the immediate and wider area, as well as on other land uses in the vicinity, is 
comprehensively covered in other sections of this report. 
 

6.74 Ultimately the MWPA concludes in their consultation response that they are removing its 
holding objection with regards to this application, but this is on the proviso that TDC is satisfied 
that any potential impact between the proposed development and the existing mineral 
development has been suitably assessed and mitigated ahead of permission being granted 
(officer comment: latter elements to be covered in remaining sections of this report and in the 
‘Planning Balance and Conclusion’ section). 
 
Impact on Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Landscape Character and 
Appearance 
 

6.75 The first bullet of relevant Policy SP7 states that new development should respond positively 
to local character and context to preserve and enhance the quality of existing places and their 
environs. Policy SPL3 Part B criterion c) states that development must respect or enhance 
local landscape character, views, skylines, landmarks, existing street patterns, open spaces 
and other locally important features. Amongst other things, criterion d) of Part B requires that 
the design and layout of development maintains or enhances important existing site features of 
landscape value. 
 

6.76 Paragraph 7.3.3 of the Section 2 Local Plan states that as a largely rural area, Tendring 
District’s countryside is one of its main assets and maintaining an attractive rural environment 
is important to the quality of life experienced by both residents and visitors. It can also be an 
important consideration for the location of some businesses and help to expand the tourist 
economy and related services. 

 
6.77 Policy PPL3 is criteria based, and states that the Council will protect the rural landscape and 

refuse planning permission for any proposed development which would cause overriding harm 
to its character or appearance, including to: 
 

a) estuaries, rivers and undeveloped coast; 
b) skylines and prominent views including ridge-tops and plateau edges; 
c) traditional buildings and settlement settings; 
d) native hedgerows, trees and woodlands; 
e) protected lanes, other rural lanes, bridleways and footpaths; and 
f) designated and non-designated heritage assets and historic landscapes including 

registered parks and gardens. 
 

6.78 In addition, new development within the rural landscape should minimise the impact of light 
pollution on the site and its surroundings, in order to protect rural amenity and biodiversity. 
 

6.79 Paragraph 7.3.2 of the Section 2 Local Plan states that the Landscape Character Assessment 
(2001) (the LCA) identified 30 areas with different landscape characteristics and highlighted 
key sensitivities which need to be considered when assessing development proposals in the 
rural area. Proposals within the rural landscape should have regard to the LCA (and any 
subsequent updates) and protect and re-enforce historic landscape features and important 
characteristics identified within it. 

 
6.80 In this case the proposal is located within the 7A ‘Bromley Heaths’ Landscape Character Area. 

The Bromley Heaths is an elevated plateau that extends from Colchester to Wix in the east 
and Thorrington in the south. One of its key characteristics is of large scale productive arable 
fields, divided by low, gappy hedgerows, where hedgerow Oaks stand out against the skyline. 
In general, the area is characterised by a low density, rural settlement pattern of scattered 

Page 47



farms, hamlets, villages and small market towns. The network of narrow lanes, such as Wick 
Lane, connects the scattered farms and villages. 

 
6.81 While the agricultural plateau landscape is intensively cultivated and well maintained, the 

condition of hedgerows and woodland has been declining due to the loss of Elm, reduction in 
the need for stock proof field boundaries and lack of management of hedgerows and 
woodland. The LCA states that the landscape character is moderate and its condition is in 
decline. Among the aspects of change identified in the LCA is pressure for development on the 
edge of Colchester and large scale built development at major road junctions and some highly 
sensitive plateau edges, with potential for very high visual impact and light pollution. 

 
6.82 The Landscape Management Strategy includes, amongst other things, the following guidance 

(in summary): 
 

 Conserve shelter belts of native species such as Oaks and Poplar 

 Enhance the wooded character by promoting the creation of new native woodlands 

 Maintain historic lanes and unimproved roadside verges – resisting road improvements or 
widening that would threaten their rural character and biodiversity interest 

 Service facilities, factories or employment sites that use local materials and informal native 
planting are likely to have less impact on landscape character 

 Sensitive lighting schemes 
 

6.83 Paragraph 130 b) of the Framework states that planning decisions should ensure that 
developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 
and effective landscaping. Paragraph 130 c) states that developments should be sympathetic 
to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape 
setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change. Amongst other 
things, Paragraph 174 a) states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes. 
 
Effects of Development: AONB impacts and Long Distance views  
 

6.84 Section 6 above provides a detailed description of the site and immediate and wider 
surrounding area. 

 
6.85 The Tendring District Council Landscape Character Assessment defines the area within which 

the application sits as the Bromley Heaths Landscape Character Area (LCA). The 
development site is situated on the western boundary of the district and is immediately 
adjacent to land within the administrative boundaries of Colchester Borough Council. In this 
regard it will be important to obtain their views on the development proposal. 

 
6.86 Starting with the areas directly due north of the application site, the southernmost boundary of 

the Dedham Vale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is located due north of the site, 
the very nearest southern boundary (of the AONB) located approximately 1.2km away from the 
site.  Due to this designation the LPA sought the views of the Dedham Vale AONB Project 
Team – their detailed comments are outlined in section 4 of this report. The AONB Project 
Team is concerned that the proposal will indirectly impact the Dedham Vale AONB by 
increasing the amount of HGV traffic passing through the nationally designated landscape and 
local roads in the designated landscape.  Highways and Traffic impacts, as well as the impact 
of the proposal on the local road network are covered in the Highway Safety/Parking section 
below.  In addition, the A12 is already cutting through a small section of the nationally 
designated landscape further to the north and it is anticipated that the majority of HGV traffic 
(associated with the proposed development) will access the site and facility via the A12 using 
either junction 29 or the off-ramp to the north of the site coming off the A12 when travelling in a 
southbound direction.  It is therefore considered that the additional HGV traffic associated with 
this development will not directly or indirectly impact the Dedham Vale AONB. 

Page 48



  
6.87 In terms of other impacts of the proposal on the AONB, the topography between the 

application site and the AONB boundary is generally flat and there is substantial intervening 
vegetation and sporadic build form between the two areas, as well as existing and committed 
development along the A12 corridor to the north of the site. Due to these factors, it is 
considered that there will be no inter-visibility between the application site and the AONB.  
Subject to conditions to secure details such as a lighting strategy (to mitigate any impacts on 
the AONB) and facing materials, it is considered that the proposal will result in no conflict with 
PPL3 (f) (insofar as the impact on the AONB is concerned). 

 
Long Distance Views 

 
6.88 Panning around in a clockwise direction, in terms of areas due north-east of the application 

site, long distance views, including views from the public right of way (PROW) leading to Harts 
Lane, towards the proposed warehouse building will be limited due to substantial intervening 
vegetation and sporadic build form between the two areas.   

 
6.89 General long distance views from the east will again be limited due to the topography of the 

land, vegetation and well established trees and hedgerows.  There will be clear intermitted 
views of the proposed building from PROW 19 (from Crown Lane North to Wick Lane – located 
to the east of the site) – especially in the winter months. The size and scale of the 20m tall 
main building will 'loom large' in the landscape from these views and will be a dominant feature 
in its setting, the additional landscaping and other mitigation proposed (such as shaded white 
and blue cladding) will not effectively mitigate against the development from this view, thereby 
resulting in clear conflict with policy SP7, as well as policies SPL3 and PPL3.  

 
6.90 General long distance views from the south east and south will be limited but nevertheless 

possible through gaps in hedgerows and due to the relatively open nature of the landscape 
between Wick Lane and the areas to the south and south east of Wick Lane.  The proposal will 
result in moderate conflict with policy SP7, as well as policies SPL3 and PPL3. 

 
6.91 General long distance views from the south west and west will again be limited due to the 

existence of intervening built form, the A12 and significant vegetation and tree belts.  There will 
be clear intermitted views of the top of the proposed building from much further away and from 
PROW 45, Lodge Lane and other public accessible lanes and roads around Lodge Park 
Business Centre much further to the west (of the site).  The proposal, due to its height and 
scale, will also have a moderate impact on the Colchester Borough Landscape Character 
Assessment Area B7 (CBLCA B7) and the Langham Farmland Plateau, and will therefore 
result in conflict with relevant policies in the Colchester Borough local plan.  Colchester 
Borough Councils’ request for a deep woodland shelter belt to the site frontage set behind a 
native hedge was put to the Applicant however it was explained that this mitigation is not 
possible due to the site constraints (the PRM Commercials site is in separate ownership and 
the proposed car park is located to the front, with the warehouse building significantly set back 
from Old Ipswich Road – this setback will in itself mitigate against bulk and scale impacts when 
viewed from the west).  The effectiveness of additional landscaping and other mitigating 
measures generally are covered further below in this report. 
 

6.92 General long distance views from the north-west will be limited due to the existence of 
intervening built form, the A12 and significant vegetation and tree belts.  There will be clear 
views of the proposed building from PROW 54 (close to the A12) thereby resulting in clear 
conflict with policies SP7, SPL3 and PPL3. 

 
6.93 In summary and insofar as long distance views and impact on the AOBN is concerned, the 

proposal will result in no conflict with PPL3 (f).  The proposal will however have a significant 
and permanent harmful impact on both the character and appearance of the local landscape 

Page 49



as seen from certain angles (as outlined above) and will result clear conflict with policies SP7 
as well as SPL3 and PPL3. 

 
Effects of Development: Localised/Close up views and impacts 
 

6.94 Again, starting with areas directly due north of the application site, the proposed warehouse 
building will be clearly visible when the site is approached from the north along Old Ipswich 
Road and the A12. Existing built form (along Old Ipswich Road), vegetation and established 
trees and hedgerows will soften the impact, however due to the height (up to 20m) and the 
overall depth (up to 170m) of the proposed building, the proposal, especially the ‘in depth’ 
element will result in a permanent harmful effect on landscape character, changing land from 
agriculture to industrial with a building of such a size that mitigation by way of soft landscaping 
and use of material cannot be effective.  Due regard is given to the ‘Systematic Approval’ on 
the site immediate to the north (of the application site), and although the approved Systematic 
business and warehouse units will have a similar overall projection in depth compared to the 
warehouse proposed under this application, the (Systematic) buildings are generally between 
12m and 16m in height, broken up into smaller industrial and warehouse units (rather than one 
large expanse) and as such the proposed warehouse building at up to 20m in height will 
clearly project above these approved units (the pre-commencement conditions for the 
‘Systematic’ approval are currently going through the LPA process of being discharged as 
such there is a high likelihood that the Systematic permission will be built out). 
 

6.95 In terms of localised and close up views from the north-east, east and south-east, the 
proposed warehouse building will project up to 170m in depth along the Wick Lane elevation, 
and at its closest point will be set back approximately 16m from the southern (Wick Lane) 
boundary of the site, and set back approximately 20m (at its closest point) from the northern 
edge of Wick Lane itself.  Between its south facing elevation and Wick Lane a landscape bund 
consisting of several trees of various species is proposed (exact details to be agreed as part of 
a landscaping condition should planning permission be forthcoming).  The Wick Lane elevation 
is particularly sensitive due to its designation as a protected lane and its characterful 
countrylane appearance, as a result the proposal, especially the in depth part of the proposal, 
will introduce a permanent and very harmful effect on the local landscape character of this 
section of Wick Lane with a building of such a size.  The existing trees along the western 
section of Wick Lane are generally 10-12 metres tall (although occasionally some of the more 
established trees are probably up to 16 metres tall), nevertheless, the trees will be ineffective 
in screening the 20m tall warehouse.  Any future tree planting between the warehouse and 
Wick Lane (as proposed by the Applicant), whilst it will soften the buildings’ impact, will also be 
ineffective in terms of screening it, again due to the sheer scale of the warehouse building and 
a very unlikely scenario where any of the new trees will grow taller than 10m.  The proposal, 
due to its sheer size and location, will also have a detrimental impact on the future public open 
space area to be created around the future reservoir to the south of Wick Lane (the existing 
minerals extraction site) because the warehouse building will clearly be seen from this area.  In 
terms of this impact, again the landscape mitigation along Wick Lane by way of additional soft 
landscaping will be ineffective due to the overall height and depth of the warehouse building 
and its relative position to Wick Lane (only 16m away from the southern boundary - at its 
closest point).  The proposal will therefore result in clear conflict with policies SP7, PPL3 and 
SPL3. 
 

6.96 In terms of localised and close up views from the west and north west, close up views of the 
development from these angles will be predominantly from the A12 (directly to the west of the 
site), from Old Ipswich Road directly in-front (to the west) of the site, and from the slip-road 
leading onto the A12 (northbound).  Again the proposal will be clearly and highly visible from 
these angles, however in light of the ever changing character along Old Ipswich Road, and in 
particular the ‘Systematic Approval’ immediately to the north of the site (this approval will 
include 6 blocks of warehouse buildings of up to 9m in height along the Old Ipswich Road 
frontage and along its southern boundary), it is considered that a warehouse building, set back 

Page 50



(from Old Ipswich Road) by up to 80m, will not be intrusive in the streetscene to an 
unacceptable degree, but only insofar as the impact on the development on Old Ipswich Road 
and the immediate public realm to the west and north west is concerned, no clear policy 
conflict is identified in this regard. 

 
6.97 Notwithstanding the above, in conclusion the proposal of this size and scale, with a height of 

up to 20m will loom as a large building in the immediately surrounding landscape and public 
realm and will be a dominant feature in its setting, contrary to the relevant parts of policies 
SP7, SPL3 and PPL3. 

 
Other Material Planning Considerations for the Committee to take into account: 

 
6.98 As set out within the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (section 38(6)) and the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (section 70(2)) in dealing with planning applications the 
Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application, and to any other material considerations (emphasis added).  The 
next section of the report turns to other material planning considerations insofar as the policy 
conflict identified above is concerned: 
 

 It is considered to be inevitable that the effect of constructing a large warehouse and 
associated access, hardstanding areas, external structures on the site, as proposed, 
would not be to enhance the character of the landscape or local views. In addition, the 
frontage part of the site and its immediate surrounds is not particularly important from a 
landscape character perspective and is not considered to be particularly strong or 
sensitive to change.  The in-depth part of the site along Wick Lane is nevertheless 
considered to be highly sensitive to a change of this nature and magnitude, and it is 
also in this area where significant landscape and character harm will occur. 

 

 The site is situated within relatively close proximity of a number of existing landscape 
quality detractors including other industrial buildings along this part of Old Ipswich 
Road, ongoing minerals excavation sites (works to continue there for at least another 
4-5 years) to the south and the A12 with its noticeable audible presence and visually 
fragmented presence as the site is approached from the north and west (especially 
during winter months).  The character of Old Ipswich Road will also undergo change 
over the next 3-4 years in light of the approvals outlined in section 3 above. 

 

 The form and appearance of this, and most other warehousing developments is driven 
by their function in terms of the need to provide a large open regularly shaped building 
envelope within which to store and distribute goods with relative ease, practicality and 
efficiency. 

 

 The visual impact of the development, even at the scale such as the warehouse 
building the subject of this application, can be somewhat improved through good 
design in relation to the site layout and landscaping and building detailing. In terms of 
design quality considerations, and the assessment of whether the proposed scheme 
suitably addresses site constraints and opportunities, it is considered that the revised 
development scheme is of a relatively good standard, is responsive to the 
characteristics of the frontage part of the site and the setback from Old Ipswich Road 
will be effective in reducing the visual harm from longer distance views form the north, 
west and south west. 

 

 The Applicant has made a strong case in favour of expanding the current business with 
its main operation in Harwich, whist weight can be given to the need for the expansion, 
no weight is given to any improvements that will arise at the Harwich site because the 
LPA cannot secure these matters as part of this planning application considered on its 
own merits.  The Harwich facility will remain fully operational under its current planning 

Page 51



restrictions, which will also remain unchanged.  Members are advised to consider this 
scheme as before the authority.   

 
To this effect the Applicant is proposing the following in mitigation: 
 

6.99 Shaded white and blue cladding, additional landscaping, tree planting (along all the 
boundaries) and an attenuation pond along in the easternmost corner of the site are proposed, 
as already stated, the additional landscaping and tree planting will be largely ineffective in 
screening the development due to its sheer size, especially during the first 5-10 years after 
construction.  The precise details of all these elements will provide low to moderate levels of 
mitigation and can be secured by way of suitably worded planning conditions.  
 
Conclusion 
 

6.100 The development would clearly be seen and would cause moderate to high levels of harm to 
landscape character from most viewpoints. Due to the scale and bulk of the warehouse, the 
degree to which this would affect the public’s use and enjoyment of the surrounding 
countryside is likely to be significant. It would also result in localised and wider harm to the 
character and appearance of the area, again by virtue of the mass and scale of the 
development. The harm is lessened by the site’s context on Old Ipswich Road but worsened 
due to its corner location and the characterful and protected Wick Lane running along the 
southern boundary.  Overall, the level of harm would be moderate to significant depending on 
the viewpoint. This harm clearly weighs against the proposal. 
 

6.101 It would not be possible to achieve complete screening with new soft landscaping, or 
effectively mitigate through the use of materials. However, annual growth of existing trees and 
the tree belt proposed along the southern boundary of the site would, to a degree, improve 
screening in more close-up views, over time. The proposals set out in the landscape concept 
plan would introduce additional planting, mainly to the north, south and west of the site. While 
precise details of this additional landscaping can be made a conditional requirement, there 
would nevertheless be clear conflict with the relevant parts of policies SP7 as well as SPL3  
and PPL3. 

 
Impact on Trees and Hedgerows 

 
6.102 The vast majority of trees and hedgerows around the site will be retained, improved and 

strengthened, which is welcomed.  The implementation of the development proposal will 
necessitate the removal of a short section of hedgerow adjacent to Old Ipswich Road in order 
to facilitate vehicular access to the land. In landscape terms the remnant hedgerow is not a 
significant feature in its setting and the minor harm caused by its removal can be relatively 
easily mitigated by new soft landscaping that can be secured by a planning condition. An 
internal hedgerow of low quality containing small trees is also identified for removal. This 
feature does not have a significant positive impact on the local landscape character and its 
removal will not cause harm to the character or appearance of the countryside. In essence, it 
is considered that it has been demonstrated, by way of the information contained in the AIA, 
that the development proposal could be implemented without causing harm to the best trees 
and hedgerows on the land.  The proposal, subject to conditions, will therefore result in no 
conflict with any relevant policies insofar as the protection and enhancement of existing trees 
and hedgerows are concerned. 
 
Heritage 
 

6.103 While there are no statutorily listed buildings within the site itself, the site is in proximity of 
several designated heritage assets, all Grade II listed, some of which are located in close 
proximity to its boundary, and potentially a number of non-designated assets.  These heritage 
assets and their location relative to the site have been identified in the ‘Site Description’ 

Page 52



section above.   The site is not located in, or close to any designated conservation areas to 
such a degree that the development could have an impact on such a designated conservation 
area. 
 

6.104 In accordance with section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 (the LBCA Act), special regard must be paid to the desirability of preserving listed 
buildings potentially affected by the proposal, or their settings or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which they may possess. Following Paragraph 193 of the 
Framework, great weight should be given to the conservation of these heritage assets. 

 
6.105 Policy PPL9 states that proposals for new development affecting a listed building or its setting 

will only be permitted where they will protect its special architectural or historic interest, its 
character, appearance and fabric. Where a proposal will cause harm to a listed building, the 
relevant paragraphs of the Framework should be applied dependent on the level of harm 
caused. 

 
6.106 Framework Paragraph 199 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be - 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance. Paragraph 203 of the Framework states that the effect of 
an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into 
account - in weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage 
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss 
and the significance of the heritage asset. 

 
6.107 ECC Heritage have reviewed the proposals and supporting information stating that the visual 

impact of the development on the affected heritage assets was assessed by the Applicant in 
their Planning Statement and judged to be low or neutral. Whilst ECC Heritage have not 
specifically stated whether the ultimate impact of the development proposal would be low or 
neutral or both, instead they (ECC Heritage) have confirmed that the residual impacts could be 
mitigated by existing and proposed additional landscaping along the site boundaries, including 
the insertion of a balancing pool at the south-east corner. Notwithstanding this position from 
ECC Heritage, the Applicant’s Heritage consultant has reported low level adverse impacts on 
heritage assets.   

 
6.108 Having regard to the two viewpoints outlined above, as well as the nature and scale of the 

development proposal, together with the proximity of several listed buildings in relation to the 
application site, especially the Grade II Listed Buildings at Bloomfields Farmhouse and Barn 
and Wick Farmhouse and Barn adjacent to road at Wick Farm (exact proximities of all nearby 
listed building outlined in the ‘Site Description’ Section above), ECC Heritage position that 
residual impacts could be mitigated by existing and proposed additional landscaping along the 
site boundaries, including the insertion of a balancing pool at the south-east corner, is noted.  
However landscaping takes time grow, or planting is not always 100% guaranteed to grow and 
LPAs are duty boundary under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 to consider the short, medium and long term harm for Listed Buildings.  For these 
reasons the LPA’s stance is that the proposal will result in low levels of adverse impacts (i.e. a 
low level of ‘less than substantial harm’) on the Grade II Listed Buildings mentioned above, but 
also to a lesser degree some very low levels of harm to the listed buildings at Thorpe Ley, Blue 
Barn Cottage and Blue Barn Farmhouse, all to the north, and because there are existing 
intervening and approved development between these listed buildings and the application site 
further to the south.   
 

6.109 Following on from the above, paragraph 202 of the Framework states where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 

Page 53



asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.    

 
6.110 In terms of public benefits, the proposal will: 

 

 Generate inward investment in the local economy and will add a very considerable sum to 
the local and wider regional economy over the next decade – in terms of the heritage 
balance only moderate weight is attributed to this public benefit because such a benefit will 
be forthcoming on any other site. 

 

 The proposal will create a considerable number of direct and indirect jobs both as part of 
the construction phase and the ongoing operational phases of the development (if 
approved) – again in terms of the heritage balance only moderate weight is attributed to this 
public benefit because the job creation benefit will be forthcoming on any other site. 

 

 The proposal will result in a food warehouse and distribution facility in a location that is 
reasonably accessible in terms of its proximity to the A12 and the wider strategic road 
network, this will assist in food security and more cost-effective food distribution across the 
UK food distribution network, which will result in a very modest public benefit for the 
ultimate end users of food (i.e. the wider public). 
 

6.111 Collectively the public benefits outlined above is considered to outweigh the low and very low 
levels of less than substantial heritage harm as identified.  Notwithstanding this position, a 
condition to secure a schedule of drawings that show details and specifications of proposed 
landscape at appropriate scales to further mitigate, remains necessary and reasonable and will 
be required to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of any works on site.  In the event that planning permission is granted it is 
considered necessary and reasonable to impose such a condition.  As a result of all of the 
above, the proposal will result in no conflict with policy PPL9 and the relevant paragraphs of 
the Framework, in particular paragraph 202 as outlined above. 

 
Effect on the Living Conditions of Neighbours 

 
6.112 The final bullet of Policy SP7 requires that all new development protects the amenity of 

existing and future residents and users with regard to noise, vibration, smell, loss of light, 
overbearing and overlooking. 
 

6.113 Policy SPL3, Part B criterion e), requires that buildings and structures are designed and 
orientated to ensure adequate daylight, outlook and privacy for future and existing residents. 
Part B, criterion f), necessitates provision is made for adequate private amenity space. Part C, 
criterion a), requires that development will not have a materially damaging impact on the 
privacy, daylight or other amenities of occupiers of nearby properties. 

 
6.114 Amongst other things, Framework Paragraph 119 states that planning policies and decisions 

should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. 

 
6.115 Paragraph 174 provide that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 

and local environment by preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being 
put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, 
water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to 
improve local environmental conditions such as air and water quality. 

 
6.116 Paragraph 130 f) includes that planning decisions should ensure that developments create 

places that are safe, inclusive and accessible, and which promote health and well-being with a 
high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

Page 54



 
6.117 The nearest dwellings to the application site are situated along Turnpike Close (to the south 

west and on the opposite side of the A12) and further to the north along Old Ipswich Road.  In 
terms of the former, the nearest dwelling on Turnpike Close is approximately 90m (direct line 
measurement) from the south western corner of the site, and the nearest dwelling to the north 
along Old Ipswich Road is approximately 110m from the nearest north western corner of the 
site.  Due to the proposed layout and siting in relation to them, coupled with the degree of 
separation and the intervening open fields, hedgerows, trees and or roads and major trunk 
road, the proposal would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse effects on the daylight, 
natural light or privacy enjoyed by their occupants.   Whilst the proposed warehouse building 
will be setback from the Old Ipswich Road frontage by at least 80m, and due regard is given to 
the intervening development of the existing built form on the Systematic Business Park (and 
the approved development), as well as the SRC Business Park to the south, however the 
proposed warehouse will nevertheless be clearly visible from these nearby properties 
(mentioned above) and will therefore have an overbearing impact in its prominence on these 
properties, especially those properties along Turnpike Close, therefore resulting in conflict with 
policy SPL3 and SP7. 
 

6.118 There are also residential properties along Wick Lane likely to be impacted upon by the 
proposed development. These properties are located some 300m to the east of what will be 
the east facing elevation of the proposed warehouse.  These dwellings will be separated from 
the proposed building by the proposed truck yard and storm water attenuation pond, it is again 
considered that the proposal would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse effects on the 
daylight, natural light or privacy enjoyed by their occupants.  The warehouse building, by 
reason of its sheer scale will be clearly visible from the side windows and garden areas of the 
nearest properties along Wick Lane, especially during the autumn and winter months, and the 
HGV yard and associated lighting will be reasonably close to these properties, as such the 
proposal will constitute an overbearing feature when viewed from these properties, and the 
relative close proximity of the HGV yard and associated lighting will also result in light pollution 
during the hours of darkness for the occupiers of these properties.  The light pollution can be 
mitigated to some degree by way of a tailored designed lighting scheme (which can be 
conditioned to reduce impact), however the HGV yard and its inevitable requirement for lights 
is very likely to result in harmful luminance in this in depth location even with the most effective 
luminance mitigation because the existing streets and lanes are devout from streetlights and 
the introduction of external lighting with the main purpose to provide luminance for a relatively 
large external HGV yard will be to the detriment of the residents to the east but also (to a 
lesser degree) those residents further to the north and north east of the site. Collectively these 
harmful elements (overbearing nature of proposed warehouse to nearest residential properties 
and light pollution from HGV yard) weighs against the proposal. Insofar as external lighting is 
concerned the scheme will therefore result in conflict with relevant parts of policy SPL3 and 
SP7 for the reasons given. 
 

6.119 In terms of air quality, the Councils Environmental Protection Team reviewed the air quality 
assessment carried out by Ardent and raises no objection to the scheme from an air quality 
perspective subject to the mitigation measures, especially those set out in part 6 of the air 
quality assessment.  

 
6.120 The specific air quality mitigation measures proposed by the applicant are: -  

 

 Construction Management Plan 

 A workplace travel plan 

 Production and coordination of a Travel Plan - Travel Plan Coordinator Budget (per 
annum) - Travel Information Welcome Packs - Cycle Vouchers - Cycle Shelters - 
Provision for Electric Vehicle Charging - Bus Stop Improvements 

Page 55



 A free minibus service that will operate between the site and the Colchester Park 
and Ride and/or to and from the nearest bus stops (Old Ipswich Road – Balkerne 
Gate) during the AM and PM peak periods 

 A Traffic Management Plan outlining a designated route to and from the 
development for all HGV movements via the Crown Interchange/ A12/A120 – to be 
secured in the s106 

 A financial contribution (index linked) towards the feasibility, design and/or delivery 
of pedestrian/cycle improvements (or part thereof) between the development site 
and the existing cycleway network in North Colchester/ Colchester Business Park or 
the proposed cycleway network for North Colchester forming part of the Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.  

 Electric Vehicle charging points  
 

6.121 In the event that planning permission is granted, it is considered necessary and reasonable to 
secure a number of conditions and a s106 legal agreement to secure the above in mitigating 
against the development. 
 

6.122 In terms of noise and vibration, the Councils Environmental Protection Team reviewed the 
noise impact assessment carried out by Pace Consult dated 22nd October 2021 which 
concludes that the noise generated from operations would be considered ‘negligible’ and 
having a low impact at the nearest residents, in the main due to the presence of the A12, and 
to a lesser degree Old Ipswich Road, collectively the background noise generated by these will 
ensure that the noise generated from operations would be considered ‘negligible’ and having a 
low impact at the nearest residents.  Neither the noise impact assessment nor Environmental 
Protection recommends any noise screening or barriers, as such it will be unreasonable to 
seek details of these as part of the application or indeed planning conditions. 

 
6.123 The Applicants MIIA statement explains that ‘The proposed development will help to shield 

sensitive development to the north, residential properties etc., from any excess noise from the 
quarry.’ The LPA has not given any weigh or substance to this assertion because the longer-
term use of the mineral extraction site as established through its agreed restoration scheme is 
ultimately that of public open space, as such the minerals extraction site will not remain in 
perpetuity. In any event, in the absence of any objection from the Councils Environmental 
Protection team it is concluded that, subject to conditions to including mitigation such as a 
construction method statement, the proposal is acceptable from a noise and vibration 
perspective. 

 
6.124 In respect of general human health and wellbeing, the applicant has covered the relevant 

health and wellbeing elements in respect of noise, vibration and air quality in respective 
statements as well as a recently submitted health impact assessment.  

 
6.125 The reduced scheme and accompanied reports and supporting information is considered to 

adequately demonstrate that the revised scheme would ensure that neither adjacent residents 
nor any other sensitive receptor would be unacceptably affected by adverse nuisance/ health 
associated with the noise, vibration impacts from the proposed development. Consequently, 
subject to the imposition of planning conditions to include details of a construction 
environmental management plan, car park management plan, and aside from the impact of 
lighting on the residents to the east and north east and the policy conflict already identified, a 
finalised lighting strategy/scheme for the development (to reduce already identified harmful 
lighting impacts), it is considered that the revised development can adequately mitigate the 
potential adverse environmental effects of the development in terms of human health, 
including noise and vibration. The Council’s Environmental Protection Team concur with the 
findings of the submitted noise and air quality reports and it is therefore considered that insofar 
as noise and vibration is concerned, the proposal accords with the relevant paragraphs of the 
NPPF and policies SP7, SPL3, and other relevant policies of the Tendring Local Plan. 
 

Page 56



Highway Safety/Parking 
 

6.126 The ninth bullet of Policy SP7 requires all new development includes parking facilities that are 
well integrated as part of the overall design. Policy CP1 states that proposals for new 
development must be sustainable in terms of transport and accessibility, and therefore should 
include and encourage opportunities for access to sustainable modes of transport, including 
walking, cycling and public transport. Part B of Policy SPL3, criterion a), requires that access 
to the site is practicable and the highway network will, following any required mitigation, be 
able to safely accommodate the additional traffic the proposal will generate and not lead to a 
severe traffic impact. Amongst other things, criterion f) requires adequate vehicle and cycle 
parking. 
 

6.127 Paragraph 104 of the Framework states that transport issues should be considered from the 
earliest stages of development proposals, amongst other things, so that: 
 

a) the potential impacts of development on transport networks can be addressed; 
 

b) opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure, and changing transport 
technology and usage, are realised – for example in relation to the scale, location or density 
of development that can be accommodated; 

 
c) opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are identified and 

pursued; 
 

d) the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be identified, assessed 
and taken into account – including appropriate opportunities for avoiding and mitigating any 
adverse effects, and for net environmental gains; and 

 
e) patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are integral to the 

design of schemes, and contribute to making high quality places. 
 

6.128 Paragraph 105 states that the planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in 
support of these objectives. Significant development should be focused on locations which are 
or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice 
of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality 
and public health. However, opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary 
between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-making and 
decision-making 
 

6.129 Paragraph 111 of the Framework makes clear that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or 
if the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 
6.130 Within this context, Paragraph 112 states that applications for development should: 

 
a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with 

neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to high quality 
public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other public 
transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use; 

 
b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of 

transport; 
 

c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for conflicts 
between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond 
to local character and design standards; 

Page 57



 
d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency vehicles; 

and 
 

e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, 
accessible and convenient locations. 

 
6.131 Paragraph 113 states that all developments that will generate significant amounts of 

movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be supported 
by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can 
be assessed. 
 
Proposed access 
 

6.132 The original scheme as first submitted proposed two access points for the development, to 
include a separate access for the distribution centre and car park, the latter being taken where 
the existing access for Total Roofing Supplies is located (this access will now be closed off as 
part of this latest revised application).  So in terms of all vehicular, pedestrian and cycle 
access, this has now been reduced to one single access and exit point, to be located to the 
north of the PRM Commercials site, and to the south of the southern boundary of the 
Systematic site to the north.  This sole access point is now proposed to serve the site at the 
request of the Highway Authority.  Additionally the applicant arranged for further speed 
surveys (see ‘Visibility Splay’ section below) to take place on Old Ipswich Road following 
initially comments made by the Highway Authority dated 5 July 2021 (available on the 
publically assessable planning pages of the TDC website). These surveys were completed and 
submitted late in 2021. In terms of the overall AM and PM (peak) vehicular movements in and 
out of the site, this has been indicated to be in the region of 83 arrivals and 34 departures (AM 
peak) and 29 arrivals and 94 departures (PM Peak).  24 Hour access is proposed and 
between the hours of 6pm and 8am the estimation is that there will be up to 6 HGV 
movements in or out of the site, and up to approximately 20 car movements in or out of the site 
during these times.  
 
Visibility Splays at proposed access point 

 
6.133 The requirement for visibility splays at the single site access has been covered extensively 

within the Nov 2021 Transport Assessment (TA).  In summary, paragraphs 3.5 to 3.8 of the TA 
explain how the speed surveys have been carried out in February 2020 and August 2021, this 
includes the location of traffic counters and derivation of visibility splays according to the 85th 
percentile speed traffic (this is the speed at which 85 percent of the drivers travel on a specific 
road segment), including the addition of a 2.5mph wet weather correction which has been 
confirmed by the ECC Highways Authority to be as robust as possible.  This correction is 
added on the assumption that some traffic data was captured during wet weather thereby 
supressing vehicle speeds and the correction provides a higher, dry weather road speed.  
 

6.134 In terms of the specifics around the proposed visibility splays, the visibility splays at the 
proposed access have been indicated in Drawing IT2114_TA_102.  The splay to the right (as 
one will be exiting the site) is calculated on the basis of southbound vehicle speeds of 32 mph 
recorded during the Feb 2020 survey.  Similarly, the splay to the left was calculated on the 
basis of northbound vehicle speed of 43.4mph recorded during the latest survey in Aug 
2021. A second survey was commissioned at the request of the highway authority to better 
understand the speed of vehicles travelling at the extent of the visibility splays that could be 
achieved. The Applicants’ Highways Consultants have based the visibility splays directly on 
the speed survey results rather than what can physically be achieved on the ground.  The 
Highways Authority has confirmed that this approach is acceptable. 

 

Page 58



6.135 The 2.4m x 66m visibility splay to the right, and as indicated on drawing IT2114_TA_102 is 
acceptable to the Highways Authority given the lower average speeds along this section of the 
road, and subject to the successful implementation of a new 40mph speed limit. While the 
proposed visibility splay is acceptable, it may be possible that, with the removal of the 
vegetation from the site frontage (all within ECC highways land) and with the implementation 
of parking restrictions (see section below), the maximum visibility to the right (North) could 
increase to 2.4m x 160m, compared with the stated 2.4m x 66m. The 160m distance to the 
north is the maximum that can be achieved within the highway based on the Highway 
Boundary information provided.  So a maximum distance of 160m can be achieved within the 
highway based on information provided and subject to the clearance of vegetation on the 
highways verge (latter will be covered by planning conditions). 

 
6.136 In terms of visibility to the left (South), the maximum visibility splay achievable would be 

slightly more at 2.4m x 110m. The highway boundary across the PRM commercials frontage 
has been investigated and notwithstanding the occurrence of roadside parking in this area 
(covered below) the Highway Authority are confident this visibility splay can be delivered 
subject to conditions to, amongst other, ensure the road junction / access at its centre line 
shall be provided with minimum clear ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4m x 160m to 
the north of the access junction, and 2.4m x 110m to the south of the access junction, as well 
as the existing access at Total Roofing Supplies north of Wick Lane suitably and permanently 
closed. 

 
6.137 Although Old Ipswich Road is currently subject to a 60-mph speed limit, the speed surveys 

have shown that 85th percentile average speeds on this section of the road are significantly 
lower than 60-mph so that a relaxation in the length of the visibility splays is considered to be 
acceptable by the Highways Authority. Since the recorded traffic speeds at this location on Old 
Ipswich Road are significantly lower than the national speed limit of 60mph, the highway 
authority additionally required the developer to fund a 40 mph speed limit, which the developer 
has agreed to.  Not only will a reduction in the speed limit along this stretch of Old Ipswich 
Road result in an safer access/exit point and safer road conditions along this road generally, it 
will also reflect the speed at which vehicles currently use Old Ipswich Road, and the change in 
environment to a developed rather than rural frontage along the western side Old Ipswich 
Road.  A lowering of the speed limit will also make the position taken by ECC Highways more 
robust in respect of the relaxation in the length of the visibility splays for what is currently a 
60mph road.   A change in speed limit is also supported by the stage one road safety audit, 
reference 2.3.1 in the attachment.  As a result, and for all these reasons, a developer 
contribution towards, and successful implementation of a reduction in the speed limit from 
60mph to 40mph along this stretch of Old Ipswich Road would meet the NPPF tests and will 
be secured in a section 106 legal agreement in the event that planning permission is granted. 
The reduction in the speed limit scheme is to be agreed in writing by relevant Highways 
authority prior to commencement of any development, and the agreed scheme shall be 
implemented in full before the development hereby approved is first brought into use. 
 

6.138 It should be noted that there is no guarantee that a future reduction in the current speed limit 
will actually realise in the area because the implementation of this (or not) is subject to a 
process completely separate to the planning process, and will be subject to a separate 
consultation process.  The Developer is aware of this and has accepted the risk. 

 
On Street parking 

 
6.139 Turning to the occurrence of general parking and operational conditions at the PRM 

commercials site, and general on street parking along Old Ipswich Road, these are existing 
road conditions, and parked cars and lorries in front of the PRM site as well as along Old 
Ipswich Road to the north have a high potential to obstruct visibility splays, and as a result, 
cause highways safety issues in the context of this application and specifically the new access 
proposed. It is therefore necessary to impose waiting and parking restrictions on Old Ipswich 

Page 59



Road either side of the site access junction and on either side of the Wick Lane junction and 
opposite each junction prior to the development being first brought into use, the extent of the 
restrictions to be agreed in advance with the Highway Authority.  Such a requirement will have 
to be secured as part of a section 106 legal agreement as the LPA will legally require a 
financial contribution for this to realise. Similar to the financial contribution towards the 
lowering of the speed limit from 60mph to 40mph, in terms of the successful introduction of 
waiting/parking restrictions, there is no guarantee that the parking restrictions can be 

successfully implemented because this element is subject to separate processes and public 
consultation(s).  However the successful introduction of both these elements as a 
combinational ‘package’ (lowering of speed limit and introduction of waiting/parking 
restrictions) has been confirmed by the Highways Authority as entirely necessary for the 
development to be acceptable in highway safety terms, and these schemes (the lowering of 
the speed limit and introduction of waiting restrictions( shall be agreed in writing by relevant 
Highways authority prior to commencement of any development, and the agreed schemes 
shall then be implemented in full before the development hereby approved is first brought into 
use.  Again the applicant has accepted this risk. 

 
 Removal of car and lorry parking on Old Ipswich Road and implications on 85th percentile 
speed survey results  

 
6.140 It is possible that removal of the car and lorry parking along Old Ipswich Road could influence 

recorded vehicle speeds and the required visibility splays.  However the speed survey 
contained in the Transport Assessment (TA) provides 85 percentile speeds from weekends 
when the on street parking is unlikely to be in place to the extent it is on weekdays, and 
therefore more likely to reflect a situation where there is waiting restrictions on Old Ipswich 
Road. This has been reviewed and whilst slightly higher northbound 85th percentile speeds are 
recorded in February 2020 for a Saturday at 34mph and Sunday at 36mph and southbound 
85th percentile speeds of 34mph, the visibility splays required within the highway 
recommendation would remain appropriate.  This also appears to be supported by the 
additional August 2021 speed survey data. In any event, the reasoned officer position has 
already been indicated above which is that a change in the speed limit to 40mph is necessary 
for the development to be acceptable in highway safety terms. 

 
Parking and internal road layouts 

 
6.141 The proposed car park will be located between Old Ipswich Road and the west facing front 

elevation of the proposed development.  The car park will provide parking spaces for 217 cars.  
In addition to the proposed car parking provision, the distribution warehouse would be 
provided with 50 HGV parking spaces, docking areas, together with manoeuvring space, all 
located to the north and east of the proposed warehouse. The proposed parking provision is in 
excess of the maximum provision in accordance with the ECC standards. 
 

6.142 The Highways Authority raise no objection to the level of overall parking provided, and the 
internal road layout is also considered acceptable subject to conditions (which will be secured 
if this proposal is recommended for approval). 

 
Impact on Road Network 

 
6.143 The overall AM and PM (peak) vehicular movements in and out of the site has been indicated 

to be in the region of 83 arrivals and 34 departures (AM peak) and 29 arrivals and 94 
departures (PM peak).  The warehouse is proposed to operate on a 24 hour basis and as 
such, 24 hour access is proposed.  Between the hours of 6pm and 8am the estimation is that 
there will be up to 6 HGV movements in or out of the site, and up to approximately 20 car 
movements in or out of the site during these times. 
 

Page 60



6.144 The location of the site is such that access to key active and sustainable public transport 
facilities are very limited and for the vast majority of journeys to and from the site (other than 
all the HGV journeys).  By some considerable margin it is considered that the most popular 
travel mode option for workers at, and visitors to the site, would be the car.  For example, due 
to the location of the site and the nature of the surrounding road network it is highly unlikely 
that any significant percentage of employees and or other visitors will find walking or cycling a 
viable or safe travel option to the new facility, unless they live in very close proximity to the 
site.  For similar reasons travelling by bus or train will also not be an attractive option.  Due to 
the site’s location and the nature of the proposed use, it is therefore accepted that the vast 
majority of users of, and visitors to the site will use the private car as a mode of transport – 
these locational infrastructure shortfalls weighs against the proposal.  

 
6.145 In mitigation and to promote sustainable transport, a workplace travel plan is proposed and 

considered to be necessary, the developer has also agreed to provide a free minibus service 
that it will operate between the site and the Colchester Park and Ride and/or to and from the 
nearest bus stops (Old Ipswich Road – Balkerne Gate) during the AM and PM peak periods.  
Also, a £15,000 financial contribution (index linked) towards the feasibility, design and/or 
delivery of pedestrian/cycle improvements (or part thereof) between the development site and 
the existing cycleway network in North Colchester/ Colchester Business Park or the proposed 
cycleway network for North Colchester forming part of the Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan has been agreed.  Such contribution to be paid on commencement of 
development. (Payback 5 years).  As mentioned above, the Developers also agreed to a 
financial contribution towards future speed reduction measures on Old Ipswich Road in the 
vicinity of the site will also result in very minor sustainability gains as this has the potential to 
make Old Ipswich Road less unattractive for cyclists and walking.  The above measures will 
mitigate against the impact of the development and the location of the site and its general lack 
of key active and sustainable public transport options as well as lack of connectivity with 
existing sustainable transport infrastructure, which, as already stated, are all elements that 
weighs against the proposal. 
 

6.146 Under normal road conditions it is accepted that the HGV movements associated with this 
development will either access the site via the slipway off the A12 (to the north) or junction 29 
and then along Old Ipswich Road (when the site is approached from the south) – this existing 
infrastructure is considered to be suitable and will be able to cope with the HGV movements 
associated with this development.  It is accepted that cars associated with this development 
will use the local road network to access the site, including Wick Lane, however in the absence 
of any objection from ECC Highways (on both matters – i.e. HGV movements and all other 
vehicular traffic) this is considered to be entirely acceptable, and the local road network is 
deemed to have capacity to take the additional car bourn traffic that will be generated by this 
development. As such, insofar as HGV and car movements are concerned, it is not considered 
that the proposal will have an unacceptable impact on the local road network, or that the 
development will have significant transport implications or that the residual cumulative impacts 
on the road network would be severe. 
 

6.147 It is also important to note that with the single access proposed, the vast majority of vehicle 
movements out of the site would be to the left; given that Old Ipswich Road is in effect a cul-
de-sac with no ability to access the trunk road network by turning right out of the site access. 
To the right of the site the only access is Harts Lane, that is single track and forms part of the 
local road network, and the southbound off-slip from the A12 (with no access onto the A12), as 
such there will be no reason whatsoever for HGV’s to turn right out as one is existing the site. 

 
Conditions and Obligations (Highways) 

 
6.148 In the interests of highways safety conditions are necessary to include: 

 

Page 61



 A Construction Management Plan to include precise details of wheel and road washing 
facilities and all other measures covering the construction phase of the development; 

 Closure of existing access at (Total Roofing Supplies) north of Wick Lane prior to the 
proposed new access into the site is brought into first beneficial use; 

 Full design details relating to the required improvements to the A12 Junction 29, to 
include (amongst other details) a scheme for traffic signals shown in outline on 
Intermodal Transportation drawing no IT2214/TA/04 titled Proposed Roundabout 
improvement, Ardleigh Deport for the Flying Trade Group PLC dated Jan 2021. 

 Other highways compliance conditions as set out in section 7.0 below 
 

6.149 In terms of obligations, by way of summary, to promote sustainable transport and comply with 
the accessibility requirements of the development plan and the Framework, the submission of 
a workplace travel plan is necessary, such approved travel plan shall be actively implemented 
for a minimum period of 5 years and shall be accompanied by a one-off monitoring fee of 
£6,383 (plus the relevant sustainable travel indexation) to be paid before occupation to cover 
the 5-year period.  This requirement will be secured in a section 106 legal agreement in the 
event that planning permission is approved;   
 

6.150 To also promote sustainable transport the Developer has agreed to provide a free minibus 
service that it will operate between the site and the Colchester Park and Ride and/or to and 
from the nearest bus stops (Old Ipswich Road – Balkerne Gate) during the AM and PM peak 
periods; the service and route will be agreed and finalised by both the developer and ECC as 
part of the Workplace Travel Plan. Provision of this service including the routing and frequency 
will be dependent on the demand for the service which will be monitored through the 
Workplace Travel Plan and employee surveys.  Again this requirement will be secured in a 
section 106 legal agreement in the event that planning permission is approved;  

 
6.151 A Traffic Management Plan shall be provided outlining a designated route to and from the 

development for all HGV movements via the Crown Interchange/ A12/A120 to be agreed in 
advance with the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority; 

 
6.152 Financial contribution of £10,000 (to be index linked) towards the successful implementation of 

future speed reduction measures on Old Ipswich Road in the vicinity of the site (not restricted 
to but including the introduction of a 40-mph speed limit).  This requirement will be secured in 
a section 106 legal agreement in the event that planning permission is approved. Scheme to 
be agreed in writing by relevant Highways authority prior to commencement of any 
development, and agreed scheme implemented in full before the development hereby 
approved is first brought into use. 

 
6.153 A £15,000 financial contribution (index linked) towards the feasibility, design and/or delivery of 

pedestrian/cycle improvements (or part thereof) between the development site and the existing 
cycleway network in North Colchester/ Colchester Business Park or the proposed cycleway 
network for North Colchester forming part of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.  
Such contribution to be paid on commencement of development. (Payback 5 years).  This 
requirement will be secured in a section 106 legal agreement in the event that planning 
permission is approved; and 

 
6.154 A financial contribution (covering the administration and advertisement costs of the Traffic 

Regulation Order as well as the costs of the actual alterations on the road) towards waiting 
and parking restrictions on Old Ipswich Road either side of the site access junction, on either 
side of the Wick Lane junction and opposite each junction, the extent of the restrictions to be 
agreed in advance with the Highway Authority. The scheme to be agreed in writing by relevant 

Highways authority prior to commencement of any development, and agreed scheme 
implemented in full before the development hereby approved is first brought into use. 

 

Page 62



6.155 These obligations meet the tests set out in Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010 they are consistent with Paragraph 57 of the Framework. 

 
6.156 Having regard to the highways implications of the development and subject to the above 

conditions and obligations, the proposal would accord with the requirements of Policies CP1, 
DI1 and SPL 3, and the Highways and Parking SPDs, and the relevant sections of the NPPF 
2021. 

 
Renewable Energy 

 
6.157 Paragraph 7.9.3 of the Section 2 Local Plan highlights that in 2019 the Council declared a 

climate emergency, committing it to the preparation of an action plan with the aim of making its 
own activities carbon neutral by 2030, and acting as a community leader to encourage 
communities and developers to reduce carbon emissions and tackling climate change. 
 

6.158 Policy SPL3 states that all new development should incorporate climate change adaptation 
measures and technology from the outset including reduction of emissions, renewable and low 
carbon energy production, passive design, and through green infrastructure techniques, where 
appropriate. Under Policy PPL10, there is a requirement for all development proposals to 
demonstrate how renewable energy solutions, appropriate to the building(s) site, and location 
have been included in the scheme and for new buildings, be designed to facilitate the retro-
fitting of renewable energy installations. 

 
6.159 Paragraph 112 e) of the Framework states that applications for development should be 

designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, 
accessible and convenient locations. 

 
6.160 Paragraph 152 states: 

 
6.161 “The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 

climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape places in 
ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability 
and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of 
existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure.” 

 
6.162 Paragraph 157 states: 

 
6.163 “In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should expect new 

development to: 
 

6.164 A - comply with any development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy 
supply unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant, having regard to the type of 
development involved and its design, that this is not feasible or viable; and 

 
6.165 B -take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise 

energy consumption.” 
 

6.166 The development will include solar PV panels on the roof of the proposed warehouse building, 
and the developer has explained that the array has the potential capacity to generate 
approximately 639,200kWh of electricity per annum.  In addition, electric vehicle (EV) parking 
bays will be provided for users of the facility, promoting the use of sustainable means of travel 
for staff and visitors, at this stage the Applicant is proposing that 20% of the proposed spaces 
will have EV charging points. Provisions will be made to enable staff to cycle to work, with 
covered cycle stores proposed.  A number of other sustainable measures and technologies 
are proposed such as air tightness and insulation of the buildings, water saving taps, lighting 

Page 63



strategy and construction materials.  Subject to details (to be covered in a condition) it is 
considered that these measures are acceptable and in accordance with the policies quote 
above, as such it is considered necessary and reasonable to impose a condition to seek a 
renewable energy generation plan (REGP) in the event that planning permission is granted, 
such details in the REGP shall include measures that will be incorporated into the design, 
layout and construction aimed at maximising energy efficiency and the use of renewable 
energy. 
 
Flood Risk, Surface water and Foul water Drainage 
 

6.167 Policy PPL1 states that all development proposals should include appropriate measures to 
respond to the risk of flooding on and/or off site and that on sites of 1ha or more, development 
proposals must be accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment. Furthermore, all major 
development proposals should consider the potential for new Blue and Green Infrastructure to 
help mitigate potential flood risk and include such Green Infrastructure, where appropriate. 
 

6.168 Policy PPL5 requires that all new development must make adequate provision for drainage 
and sewage treatment and should include sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). Applicants 
should explain and justify the reasons for not using SuDS if not included in their proposals. 
Furthermore, proposals for development must demonstrate that adequate provision exists for 
sewage disposal. 

 
6.169 Policy SPL3, Part B criterion g), requires that development reduces flood risk and integrates 

sustainable drainage within development, creating amenity and enhancing biodiversity. 
 

6.170 Paragraph 167 of the Framework provides that when determining any planning applications, 
local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere.  

 
Flood Risk (general) 

 
6.171 The site is located in flood zone 1 (low risk of flooding – annual probability of flooding less than 

0.1% in any given year from either fluvial or tidal sources) and gently slopes down from north-
west to south-east (42.6m AOD along Old Ipswich Road reducing to 39.5m in the south 
eastern corner). The site’s southern boundary is formed by an existing ditch with trees and 
hedgerows. Flows in the ditch following the local topography to the south-east. Ardleigh 
reservoir is located approximately 1 km to the south-east of the site.  The proposal, located in 
Flood Zone 1, therefore passes the sequential test.  Due to the aforementioned, it is not 
necessary to carry out the exceptions test and the proposal is therefore acceptable purely from 
a flood risk (sequential and exceptions test) perspective.   
 
Surface water flooding and drainage 

 
6.172 In terms of surface water flooding and drainage, the site area is well above the 1 hectare 

threshold triggering consultations with the Environment Agency and ECC Suds.  The vast 
majority of the site is currently greenfield with no existing areas of hardstanding or built form 
except along the westernmost section of the site. The development proposal clearly comprises 
a significant net increase in the total area of impermeable surfacing (as the majority of the site 
is greenfield). The existing and proposed (mitigated and unmitigated) surface water run-off 
rates have been calculated and summarised in Table 2 of the Applicants Drainage Strategy 
Report. 
 

6.173 As part of the surface water mitigation strategy the Applicant is proposing a number of 
measures to include: 

 

Page 64



 An attenuation basin in the south east of the site (to the east of the HGV 
hardstanding/parking area.  The basin is designed to ensure the site’s sub-catchments 
will flow to this basin before discharging off site at a specified rate (see below) 

 The main car parking area are to be laid as tanked permeable paving with a connection 
to the on-site attenuation basin 

 Water flows from the roofs will be conveyed to the on-site attenuation basin via a piped 
network 

 Surface water run offs/flows from internal roads are to be collected and conveyed to 
the onsite 

 attenuation basin via a network of gullies and piped connections; 

 Flows from the external hardstanding/service yard between the warehouse and the 
attenuation pond are to be directed towards linear drainage channels, and then to an 
interceptor, prior to reaching the on-site basin; 

 AdBlue/Fuelling Point – this area is proposed to be under a canopy (i.e., covered) to 
manage/minimise any pollution risk. Surface water from the cover will be directed to the 
basin. The AdBlue will drain via a separate network as part of the proposed wastewater 
network.  The Environment Agency raises no objection to these arrangements.  The 
Applicant has also indicated that they liaised with Essex Policy who are content with 
these arrangements. 

 
6.174 With these specific mitigation measures in place (where necessary and if recommended for 

approval, conditions will be included to secure these measures) the proposed drainage 
strategy will discharge surface water from the attenuation basin to the existing ditch located at 
the southern boundary at a rate restricted to the annual greenfield rate of 5.7 l/s. The Applicant 
has stated that the maintenance of the surface water management features will be undertaken 
by a private management company, and if recommended for approval this will also be secured 
by condition. Both ECC Suds team as well as the Environment Agency have raised no 
objection (subject to conditions) as such the proposal is considered to be acceptable from a 
surface water drainage perspective. 

 
Foul/Wastewater management 

 
6.175 There are no wastewater sewers in close proximity of the site (the nearest foul water sewer is 

situated in excess of 2 km to the north-west of the site). As a result of this constraint, a 
package treatment plant system is proposed. At this stage Klargester BioFicient 67H Foul 
Treatment Plant is proposed and is shown on Drainage Layout Drawing Number IE19/101/201 
Rev P2, which is on page 54 and 67 of the report by J P Chick & Partners. The exact size and 
type of package treatment plant will be subject to detailed design by the specialist 
supplier/manufacturer and should this application be recommended for approval a condition 
requiring full details of the package treatment plant is considered to be necessary. The 
Environment Agency has confirmed they are satisfied with the arrangements for foul water 
disposal as proposed.  In addition, all private drainage works have to conform to Part H of the 
current Building Regulations and British Sewage Standards (Drain and sewer systems outside 
buildings) BS EN 752. 
 
Protected Areas, Species and Biodiversity 
 

6.176 Local Plan Policy PPL4 requires that sites designated for their international, European and 
national importance to nature conservation will be protected from development likely to have 
an adverse effect on their integrity. The policy states that as a minimum there should be no 
significant impacts upon any protected species. The preamble to Policy PPL4 states that 
where a development might harm biodiversity, an ecological appraisal will be required to be 
undertaken, and the potential for harm should be considered and addressed in any application. 
 

6.177 Policy SPL3, Part A criterion d), requires that the design and layout of development maintains 
or enhances site features, including ecological value. 

Page 65



 
6.178 Paragraph 174 d) of the Framework requires that planning decision should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on and providing net gains 
for biodiversity. Paragraph 180 d) states that opportunities to improve biodiversity in and 
around developments should be integrated as part of their design. 

 
6.179 Paragraph 180 states that when determining applications, local planning authorities should 

apply the following principles: 
 

a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through 
locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

 
b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and which is 

likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination with other 
developments), should not normally be permitted. The only exception is where the benefits 
of the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on the 
features of the site that make it of special scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the 
national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 

 
c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such  as ancient 

woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless  there are wholly 
exceptional reasons63 and a suitable compensation strategy exists; and 

 
d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be 

supported; while opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should 
be integrated as part of their design, especially where this can secure measurable net gains 
for biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where this is appropriate. 

 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), including International, European and nationally 
important site for nature conservation 

 
 

6.180 The site is not located in an area designated as a SSSI or in a SSSI Impact Risk Zone area.  
The nearest SSSI is Bullock Wood which is located approximately 1.7km to the south of the 
application site.  Due to the location of the site some 1.7km to the north of the nearest SSSI, 
coupled with the nature and intent of the development proposal (a storage and distribution site 
with good access to the strategic road network – see ‘Description of the site and surrounding 
area’ section above), and the lack of any specific objection from Natural England or ECC 
Ecology in this regard it is considered that the proposal would not have any adverse effects on 
the nearest SSSI at Bullock Wood. 
 

6.181 The Stour and Orwell Estuary RAMSAR (wetlands of international importance, designated 
under the Ramsar Convention) and Special Area of Conservation (SAC) sites are located 
some 7.9km to the east, again due to the location of the site some 7.9 km away and the lack of 
any specific objection from Natural England or ECC Ecology in this regard it is considered that 
the proposal would not adversely affect the integrity of these RAMSAR and SAC sites. 

 
Impact on Protected Species 

 
6.182 The eastern part of the site lies within an Amber Risk Zone for Great Crested Newts (GCN) 

and suitable habitats are potentially present in close proximity to the site, it is considered 
possible that GCN could be present. ECC Ecology advised that due to the type of 
development and area impacted, it is possible to manage potential impacts upon GCN using a 
precautionary method statement for GCN for the construction stage, including storage of 
materials. This precautionary method statement can be outlined within a Construction 

Page 66



Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity which can be secured by a condition in the 
event that planning permission is granted.  
 
Habitat, Ecology and Biodiversity Impacts 
 

6.183 Given the close proximity of the surrounding habitat as highlighted in the Amended Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal (Iceni Ecology, April 2022) and reviewed by ECC Ecology, it is 
considered that there is the potential for Reptiles, Badger other small mammals such as 
Hedgehogs and Stag Beetles using the site. It is therefore recommended that precautionary 
mitigation method statements during the construction phase should also be included within a 
CEMP and should planning permission be granted.  
 

6.184 The Amended Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Iceni Ecology, April 2022) also highlights that 
it is likely bats could be foraging/commuting within or close to the site, and ECC Ecology 
advised that specific design measures in respect of external lighting would be required. 
Notwithstanding the issues raised in respect of the impact of external lighting on residential 
amenity, if planning permission is granted it is considered reasonable and necessary to require 
full details of all external lighting to also include the specific design measures to minimise the 
impact on bats.  

 
6.185 ECC Ecology also supports the proposed biodiversity enhancements which have been 

recommended to secure net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 174d of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021). Should planning permission be granted it will be 
necessary and reasonable for the exact biodiversity enhancement measures to be outlined 
within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy which can be secured by a planning condition.  
Enhancements may include, but not limited to native species hedgerow planting, native tree 
planting, wildflower and grassland areas, as outlined in the Amended Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (Arborterra, November 2021). 

 
Conclusion 

 
6.186 Both Natural England and ECC Ecology have reviewed the relevant information and appraisals 

as submitted and amended by the Applicant, both statutory consultees raise no objection 
subject to conditions to secure further details and mitigation.  In light of the above, and 
provided suitable planning conditions are imposed in the event that planning permission is 
granted, it is considered that the proposal will result in no conflict with the identified policies 
outlined above. 

 
Other matters 

 
East Anglia Green/National Grid draft project 

 
6.187 East Anglia Green is a proposal by National Grid Electricity Transmission (National Grid) to 

reinforce the high voltage power network in East Anglia between the existing substations at 
Norwich Main in Norfolk, Bramford in Suffolk and Tilbury in Essex, as well as connect new 
offshore wind generation.  As part of these proposals East Anglia Green is proposing to build 
permanent new infrastructure and make changes to existing infrastructure in Babergh, 
Tendring and Colchester.  The draft proposed route in the north Tendring area includes the 
application site and surrounding area extending eastwards.  East Anglia Green ran a non- 
statutory consultation on their proposals between Thursday 21 April 2022 and Thursday 16 
June 2022, the consultation is now closed. At the time of writing, East Anglia Green explained 
on their website that they will now analyse the feedback from local communities as they 
develop their plans further for East Anglia Green and aim to explain how they have taken 
feedback into account within a consultation feedback report, which will accompany a 
Development Consent Order (DCO) application.  Due to the non-statutory nature of the 
consultation and the relative early stages in the development of the East Anglia Green project, 

Page 67



the weight that can be given to the proposed inclusion of the application site and surrounding 
area is very significantly reduced. 
 
EIA Screening Opinion 
 

6.188 The Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations (EIA) do not refer specifically to storage 
and distribution facilities. However, Schedule 2 includes at category 10(a) namely “Industrial 
estate development projects”. The site is not classed to fall within a ‘sensitive area’ as per the 
definition of sensitive areas as set out in Regulation 2 of the EIA Regulations.  The site area 
exceeds the 5 hectare threshold, being around 9 hectares and is therefore captured by 
Schedule 2 of the EIA Regulations and therefore requires EIA Screening which has been 
submitted by the Applicant under TDC reference 21/02042/EIA.  Having regard to the criteria 
set out in Schedule 2 and the PPG, the proposal and its location, the Council has concluded 
that the proposal is non-EIA development. 
 
Public Consultation 
 

6.189 Following 4 rounds of public consultation by way for letters to residents and businesses in the 
surrounding area (the first round of public consultation was for the much larger industrial 
development as originally submitted, the subsequent 3 rounds of public consultation were 
triggered following a significant reduction in the scheme and further amendments to overcome 
other statutory and local concerns).  Up to 5 site notices were also displayed in key locations 
on Wick Lane and Old Ipswich Road.  The application was also advertised in the local press.  
A very significant number of objections were received from third parties following all 4 public 
consultation exercises, the issues raised can be summarised as follows: 
 
 

- The development would result in the 
loss of environmentally valuable 
greenfield land, which should not be 
allowed, particularly where alternatives 
exist, including vacant units and 
brownfield land;  

 

These matters have been addressed in 
the ‘Ground Conditions (Loss of 
Agricultural Land)’, ‘Principle of 
Development’ and ‘Availability of other 
sites including allocated sites and local 
impact threshold (office floorspace)’ 
sections above. 

 

- The excessive scale of the building will 
be visually harmful and will harm the 
character of the surrounding area;  

 

The above matter has been addressed in 
the ‘Impact on Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and Landscape Character 
and Appearance’ section above. 

 

- The excessive scale of the building 
floorspace and associated traffic 
movements would result in a high 
magnitude of impacts for local residents 
and the scale of the development should 
be reduced;  

 

The above matters have been addressed 
in the ‘Impact on Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and Landscape Character 
and Appearance’ and ‘Highway 
Safety/Parking’ sections above. 

 

- There is no need for the development, 
there is adequate warehouse provision 
already (especially in Colchester area 
and along the A12 and A14 corridor) and 
there are a number of empty warehouse 
units;  

 

The above matters have been addressed 
in the ‘Principle of Development’ and 
‘Availability of other sites including 
allocated sites and local impact threshold 
(office floorspace)’ sections above. 

 

- The development would result in 
significant ecological harm and loss of 

The above matter has been addressed in 
the ‘Impact on Trees and Hedgerows’ and 

Page 68



trees/hedgerows; - The development 
would harm wildlife present within the 
local area;  

 

‘Protected Areas, Species and 

Biodiversity’ sections above. 
 

- The development would harm 
residential amenity through noise 
disturbance – particularly due to 
increased traffic and 24 hour operations;  

 

The above matters have been addressed 
in the ‘Effect on the Living Conditions of 
Neighbours’ and ‘Highway 
Safety/Parking’ sections above. 

 

- The development would result in a loss 
of privacy for residents;  

 

The above matter has been addressed in 
the ‘Effect on the Living Conditions of 
Neighbours’ section above. 

 

- The development would exacerbate 
existing issues with litter and nuisance 
caused by HGV drivers; - The 
development would result in increased 
HGV traffic through Old Ipswich Road 
and other local roads and particularly at 
times when the A12/A14 is closed, which 
would be detrimental to safety, amenity, 
air quality and the character of nearby 
villages;  

 

The issue of existing litter along Old 
Ipswich Road is not a matter that is 
material to the consideration of this 
application.  There is no evidence to 
suggest that storage and distribution 
warehouses result in an increase in 
roadside litter nor any evidence that this 
proposed development will exacerbate 
existing issues with roadside litter.  The 
remainder of the point has been 
addressed in the ‘Effect on the Living 

Conditions of Neighbours’ and ‘Highway 
Safety/Parking’ sections above. 

 

- The development would exacerbate 
existing road safety risks associated with 
nearby junctions such as the offramp 
junction to the north, the Wick Lane/Old 
Ipswich Road junction and the A12 
junction 29 interchange further to the 
south; 

 

The above matters have been addressed in 
the ‘Highway Safety/Parking’ sections above. 

- The development would lead to a 
reduction in air quality due to the 
additional HGV traffic; -  

 

The above matter has been addressed in 
the ‘Effect on the Living Conditions of 
Neighbours’ section above. 

 

- The area has seen enough 
development;  

 

The above matter has been covered and 
addressed throughout the report as a 
whole. 

 

- The development is not supported by 
the Local Community;  

 

A very significant number of objections 
were received from third parties following 
all 4 public consultation exercises, all of 
which have been considered as part of 
the assessment of this application. 

 

- It must be ensured that no construction 
traffic would use Wick Lane and other 
local roads.  

 

The above matter has been addressed in 
the ‘Highway Safety/Parking’ section of 
the report and will be covered in a 
construction and environmental 
management plan condition should 
planning permission be granted 

 

Page 69



 
 

6.190 Other third party matters including matters relating to archaeology, minerals and waste,  
heritage, renewable energy provision, ‘unsustainable’ form of development, floor risk and 
surface water runoff and protected areas have been received and have all been addressed in 
the relevant sections of the report.  

 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 

 
6.191 The proposal is for a large storage and distribution warehouse on an unallocated site however 

it has been adequately demonstrated that the proposal will support economic growth in the 
district. 
 

6.192 However clear policy conflict has been identified in terms of the landscape harm, and the 
harmful impact of the ‘in depth’ part of the warehouse and HGV hardstanding area on the 
character and appearance of Wick Lane (which is a protected lane) and the immediate 
hinterland to the east, and future public amenity areas to the south of the site, as well as the 
impact of the large warehouse on residential amenity by way of light pollution and being 
overbearing and dominant in nature to nearby residents, especially those residents to the north 
west and east of the site.  These harmful elements attracts significant weight in the overall 
planning balance.  The proposal will also result in the loss of agricultural land and there is 
therefore conflict with Paragraph 174 a) of the Framework, again this weighs against the 
proposal.  

 
6.193 Against this harm the benefits to the local and wider economy, the benefits to the food 

distribution sector in particular, and direct and indirect job retention/creation would be 
substantial, and very significant weight is given to these benefits.  

 
6.194 The harmful heritage elements will be outweighed by public benefits and is therefore neutral in 

the planning balance. 
 

6.195 All other third party representations, including those from technical consultees and members of 
the public have been carefully considered, and where necessary, considered as part of the 
officer assessment of this scheme. It is considered that the revised proposals, subject to the 
imposition of conditions other obligations, have addressed all other technical and fundamental 
policy matters. There are also current locational infrastructure shortfalls which will make 
sustainable means of travelling (such as walking and cycling) to and from the site unattractive 
to workers and users of the site, however mitigation is proposed and will be secured as part of 
conditions and a section 106 legal agreement. All these elements are neutral in the planning 
balance.    

 
6.196 Ultimately and on balance, the weight given to the substantial benefits as outlined above is 

considered to very marginally outweigh the significant weight given to the landscape and 
character harm, as well as the identified harm to residential amenity. As a result of this 
marginal position by the LPA, the MWPA’s concerns regarding the Minerals Safeguarding 
therefore falls away, and in respect of policy S8 of the MLP, the proposal would not 
unnecessarily sterilise mineral resources or conflict with the effective workings of permitted 
minerals development. In reaching this balanced recommendation due regard is given to the 
changing nature and character along mainly the frontage areas of Old Ipswich Road, and the 
various planning consents for commercial, storage and other industrial developments already 
in place along Old Ipswich Road and further to the south along Crown Lane.  

 
6.197 For all these reasons, it is recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to the 

completed S106 legal agreement and the conditions recommended below.  In reaching this 
conclusion no weight whatsoever is given to considerations forward by the applicant regarding 
potential of  freeing up space and reducing activity and lorry movements at the Harwich site 

Page 70



and that this will result in improvements to residential amenity for existing residents around 
that site.  That arm of the business will remain operational albeit in an altered manner (as 
explained by the applicant).  The LPA cannot be certain that any alteration of the Harwich site 
business will remain in perpetuity, for the reasons given, any measurable reduction in activity 
at the Harwich site cannot be secured in the event that planning permission is granted for the 
proposed development.   

 
 

7. Recommendation 
 

7.1 The Planning Committee is recommended to grant planning permission subject to the following 
conditions and informatives and the prior completion of a section106 legal agreement with the 
agreed Heads of Terms set out in section 1 above: 

 
7.2 Conditions and Reason 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 

 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings/documents listed and/or such other drawings/documents as may be approved by 

the Local Planning Authority in writing pursuant to other conditions of this permission or 

such drawings/documents as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority as a non-material amendment following an application in that regard.    

 
2748_150A – Site Layout Red Line Drawing 
2748_050 – Location Block Plan 
2748_100C – Site Layout 
2748_002J – Layout Plan 
2748_100E – Roof Plan 
2748_200 – Elevations of Building 
2748_300 – Sketch Sections and Axonometric 
TPSarb1140120 TPP Rev C – Tree Protection Plan 
IT2114_TA_102 – Visibility Splays 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3. The development shall be carried out in full accordance with enhancement measures and 

details contained in Amended Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Iceni Ecology, April 2022). 

This includes the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological clerk 

of works (ECoW) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The appointed 

person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the 

approved details. 

 
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to 
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 
(Priority habitats & species). 

 
 

Page 71



4. Prior to the commencement of works of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP for Biodiversity) shall have first been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP for Biodiversity shall 

include the following: 

 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones". 

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid 

or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 

statements). 

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to 

oversee works. 

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 

competent person. 

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

i) Containment, control and removal of any Invasive non-native species present on site. 

 
The CEMP for Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period in accordance with the details as may have been approved. 
 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is necessary to ensure risk assessments and 
other practical measures are implemented prior to demolition and construction works and in 
order to conserve protected and Priority species. 
 

 
5. Prior to above ground works of the development hereby approved, a Biodiversity 

Enhancement Strategy (BES) for Protected and Priority species shall first been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The BES shall include the following: 

 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures; 
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives; 
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans; 
d) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed 
phasing of development; 
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures; 
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 
 
Thereafter the development shall proceed in accordance with the details as may have been 
approved. The approved biodiversity enhancement measures shall be retained for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: In order to conserve protected and Priority species and secure a net gain in 
biodiversity. 
 
 

Page 72



6. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into first use until a lighting design 

scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

lighting design scheme shall include the following: 

 

 identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are 

likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging;  

 show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of 

appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and technical specifications) so 

that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats 

using their territory as well as to minimise the impact of light spillage and luminance 

on nearby residents.  

 
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set 
out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme.   No other 
lighting except as may be approved by this condition shall be installed on the site.   

 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and to allow the LPA to discharge its duties 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority 
habitats & species). 
 
 

7. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into first use until the following 

have been provided or completed in full: 

 
a) A priority junction off Old Ipswich Road to provide access to the proposed site as shown 
in principle on the amended viability and access plan drawing number: IT2114_TA_03. 
a) Carriageway measuring no less than 9m in width for the first 30 metres. 
b) Kerb radii measuring a maximum or no more than 15 metres. 
c) A straight section of carriageway to be provided from the entrance junction for 30 metres. 
d) 2-metre-wide footway on both sides of the junction and continued around the kerb radii 
and appropriate pedestrian crossing facilities (drop kerbs/ tactile paving). 
 
Reason: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled manner 
and to avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the interest of highway 
safety in accordance with policy DM1. 
 

8. The gradient and proposed vehicular access/ road junction shall be in accordance with 

DMRB standards. 

 
Reason: to ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled manner in 
the interest of highway safety to ensure accordance with safety in accordance with policy 
DM1. 
 

9. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the road junction / 

access at its centre line shall be provided with minimum clear to ground visibility splay with 

dimensions of 2.4m x 160m to the north of the access junction 2.4m x 110m to the south of 

the access junction, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. 

Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before the road junction / access is first 

used by vehicular traffic and be retained thereafter free of obstruction above 600mm and 

below 2 metres at all times. In addition, the development site boundary 

fence/wall/vegetation should be located outside of the visibility splays. 

 

Page 73



Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the road junction / 
access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety in 
accordance with policy DM1. 
 

10. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the Wick Lane 

junction at its centre line shall be provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with 

dimensions of 2.4m x 98m in both directions, in accordance with drawing no. 

IT2114_TA_05, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Such 

vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before the development becomes operational 

and retained free of any obstruction at all times.  

 
Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the road junction / 
access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety in 
accordance with policy DM1. 
 

11. The existing access at Total Roofing Supplies north of Wick Lane which is located adjacent 

to the car park shall hereby approved shall be suitably and permanently closed 

incorporating the reinstatement to full height of the highway verge / kerbing  prior to the new 

access into the site is brought into first beneficial use.   

 
Reason: To ensure the removal of and to preclude the creation of unnecessary points of 
traffic conflict in the highway in the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy 
DM1. 
 

12. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until such time as the 

vehicle parking area indicated on the approved plans, including any parking spaces for the 

mobility impaired, has been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking bays.  The 

vehicle parking area and associated turning area shall be retained in this form at all times. 

The vehicle parking shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles 

that are related to the use of the development unless otherwise agreed with the Local 

Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does not occur 
in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is provided in accordance 
with Policy DM8. 
 

13. The Cycle / Powered Two-wheeler parking shall be provided in accordance with the EPOA 

Parking Standards. The approved facility shall be secure, convenient, covered and provided 

prior to occupation and retained at all times.  

 
Reason: To ensure appropriate cycle / powered two-wheeler parking is provided in the 
interest of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DM8. 
 

14. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into first use until a Workplace 

Travel Plan shall first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. The Workplace Travel Plan shall as a minimum include: 

 

 The identification of targets for trip reduction and modal Shift 

 The methods employed to meet these targets 

 The mechanisms for monitoring and review 

 The mechanisms and review 

 The penalties to be applied in the event that targets are not met 

 The mechanisms for mitigation 

Page 74



 Implementation of the travel plan to an agreed timescale or timetable and its 

operation thereafter 

 Mechanisms to secure variations to the Travel plan following monitoring and reviews 

 
The Workplace Travel Plan as may have been approved shall be actively implemented for a 
minimum period of 5 years following first use. 
 
Reason: In order to promote sustainable transport. 

 
15. Prior to commencement of work of the development hereby approved, full design details 

relating to the required improvements to the A12 Junction 29, to include a scheme for traffic 

signals shown in outline on Intermodal Transportation drawing no IT2214/TA/04 titled 

Proposed Roundabout improvement, Ardleigh Deport for the Flying Trade Group PLC dated 

Jan 2021, shall have first been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority.  

  
Scheme details shall include drawings and Documents showing: 
  
i. How the improvement interfaces with the existing highway alignment and carriageway 
markings including lane destinations 
ii. Full construction details relating to the highway improvement. This should include any 
modifications to existing structures or proposed structures with supporting analysis. 
iii. Full Signing and Lighting details 
iv. Confirmation of compliance with Departmental standards (DMRB) and policies (or 
approved relaxations/departures from standards) 
v. Evidence that the scheme is fully deliverable within land in the control of either the 
applicant or the Highway Authority. 
vi. An independent Stage 2 Road Safety Audit (taking account of and stage 1 Road Safety 
Audit recommendations carried out in accordance with Departmental Standards (DMRB) 
and Advice Notes. 
vii. A construction Management plan detailing how construction traffic will be managed. 
  
The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented and completed in full to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highways Authorities 
and the development approved by this planning permission shall not be brought into use 
until all the approved junction improvements have been delivered and are fully operational. 
 
Reason: The design details is required prior to commencement of development so as to 
ensure the relevant authorities that the A12 and A120 trunk roads continue to serve their 
purpose as a part of a national system for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 of 
the Highways Act 1980, and to mitigate against the development and to satisfy the 
reasonable requirements of road safety. 

 
16. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until a Highways Act 1980 

agreement for the delivery of the works specified conditions 7 and 15 above has been 

completed in full. 

 
Reason: To ensure suitable and safe access to the development in the interests of highway 
safety 
 

17. The total floor areas of the development hereby approved shall not exceed at any time: 

  
Use Class E(g) i (Office) - Office space: 1,300 SQM 
Use Class B8 (Storage and Distribution) - Warehouse for storage and distribution 16,188 
SQM 
 

Page 75



Reason: To ensure the approved development is controlled, for the avoidance of doubt and 
in the interests of proper planning. 

 
18. Prior to the commencement of works of the development hereby approved, precise details 

of the locations and type of wheel washing facilities to be provided and road cleansing 

measures shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. Thereafter, wheel washing and road cleansing shall take place in accordance with 

the details as may have been approved for the duration of construction. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  

 
19. No development above slab level shall commence until a scheme for the installation of 

solar photovoltaic panels and electric vehicle charging points shall have first been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter the scheme 

shall have been implemented prior to first use and retained for the lifetime of the 

development. 

 
Reason: In order to secure renewable energy generation and promote sustainable 
transport, and contribute towards addressing the climate change implications of the 
development. 
 

20. Prior to the commencement of works of the development hereby approved a Construction 

Method Statement and Construction Environmental Management Plan, covering all the 

construction phases of development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The approved statement and plan as may be approved shall be 

adhered to throughout the construction period within each part or phase of development. 

The statement and plan shall provide for: 

 
i. Measures to avoid impacts upon relevant ecological receptors, including breeding  

ii. birds and retained hedgerows; 

iii. A soil handling and storage method statement informed by the Defra Construction  

iv. Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites; 

v. Signage (types and location) for directing construction traffic; 

vi. The enclosure of the site; 

vii. The parking of site operatives and visitors vehicles; 

viii. Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

ix. Management of construction traffic and access/haul routes; 

x. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

xi. Method of cleaning wheels and chassis of all HGV's, plant and delivery vehicles  

xii. leaving the site and the means of keeping the site access road and adjacent public  

xiii. highway clear of mud and debris during site preparation and construction; 

xiv. Construction site lighting; A scheme, detailing temporary surface water drainage 

generated during construction; A scheme for the control of construction site noise; 

XIII. Details for construction and excavation waste management/ removal;  

xv. A dust management plan (developed in accordance with EPUK IAQM guidance and 

including site-specific dust mitigation measures including provision for the 

suppression of dust generated by vehicles on roads, haul routes and circulation 

areas within the site in dry weather conditions);  

xvi. Incident logging and reporting procedures. 

 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required in the interests of highway safety, 
amenity and to contribute towards a reduction in emissions in accordance with air quality 
objectives. 

Page 76



 
21. No piling work shall take place within any area of the site until a scheme detailing the piling 

methodology has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. In addition to the method of piling proposed the scheme shall include the 

proposed hours of work and prediction of the impact of noise and likely levels of ground 

borne vibration at the nearest noise sensitive occupiers. The approved scheme shall be 

implemented throughout the duration of any piling work. 

 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity 

 
22. Construction work shall not take place on Sundays or Bank Holidays nor at any other time 

except between the hours of 0730 and 1800 Monday to Friday and 0800 and 1300 on 

Saturdays. No vehicle associated with the construction phase(s) of the development shall 

be permitted to arrive, depart, be loaded or unloaded outside 07.00 and 18.30 hours on 

Monday to Friday, 07.30 and 13.30 on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays or Bank 

Holidays. 

 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and residential amenity 
 

23. The development shall only be carried out in full accordance with the tree protection 

measures set out in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Preliminary Method 

Statements (tree protection section) by Tree Planning Solutions. Development shall not 

commence until the tree protection fencing shown in the above report by Tree Planning 

Solutions has been fully erected and the Local Planning Authority has been notified in 

writing of the erection of the Tree Protection Fencing and its full implementation/installation 

in accordance with the approved plans. The tree protection fencing shall be retained for the 

duration of the construction period and no works shall take place and nothing shall be 

stored within  the area enclosed by the Tree Protection Fencing until construction works 

have ceased. 

 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to ensure trees are protected  
during the construction period, in the interests of visual amenity, and to safeguard  
the ecological value provided by the trees on the site. 
 

24. a) No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a 

programme of archaeological investigation has been secured in accordance with a written 

scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been submitted by the applicant, and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority.  

  
b). No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until the 
completion of the programme of archaeological evaluation identified in the WSI defined in 
Part a, and confirmed by the Local Authority archaeological advisors.  
  
c) A mitigation strategy detailing the excavation / preservation strategy shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority for written approval following the completion of the 
archaeological evaluation.  
  
d) No development or preliminary groundworks can commence on those areas containing 
archaeological deposits until the satisfactory completion of fieldwork, as detailed in the 
mitigation strategy, and which has been approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
  
e) The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post excavation assessment (to 
be submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork). This will result in the 

Page 77



completion of post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for 
deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication report. 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving any possible historic artefacts found on the host site. 
 

25. No development shall commence until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the 

site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and 

hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to: 

  

 A Demonstration that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in 

30 plus 40% climate change critical storm event. In case the half drain down time is 

more than 24 hours then a demonstration that features are able to accommodate a 

1 in 10 year storm events within 24 hours of a 1 in 30 year event plus climate 

change.  

 

 Provision of a drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, 

Finished Floor Levels and proposed ground levels as well as an updated written 

report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the 

approved strategy. 

 
Reason: To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the 
surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood 
risk. 
 

26. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until an Operational Noise 

Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The scheme shall include protocols for minimising noise from operational 

activities in all external areas, including the car park areas and the HGV servicing yard. The 

approved scheme shall be implemented, operated and retained throughout the life of the 

development.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 
 

27. Prior to above ground works of the development hereby approved, a hard and soft 

landscaping scheme shall have first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local 

planning authority. Thereafter, the hard landscaping shall be implemented in accordance 

with the details which may have been agreed prior to first occupation. Soft landscaping 

shall be implemented in accordance with the details which may have been approved in the 

first planting season following substantial completion of the development. Any species 

planted becoming diseased of dying within 3 years of planting shall be replaced to the 

satisfaction of the local planning authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, biodiversity enhancement and landscape 
protection. 

 
28. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until full details of all 

boundary treatments, acoustic attenuation features and those landscaping works not 

covered by conditions 5 and 27 have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme shall include the specification, materials of 

construction and location of all acoustic measures to be implemented. Notwithstanding the 

details shown on the approved plans listed under condition 2, no barbed wire topping shall 

be added to any site fencing. The storage and distribution warehouse hereby approved 

Page 78



shall not be brought into use until the approved boundary treatments, acoustic attenuation 

features and landscaping works have been implemented in full. The approved boundary 

treatments and acoustic attenuation features shall be maintained whilst ever the 

development subsists. All site landscaping shall, from its completion, be maintained for a 

period of at least five years. If, within this period, any tree, shrub or hedge shall die, become 

diseased or be removed, it shall be replaced with others of similar size and species unless 

the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.  

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, landscape character, security and acoustic 
attenuation. 

 
29. Prior to the commencement of works of the development hereby approved in proximity to 

any tree to be retained, a tree care plan for retained trees shall have first been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter, trees to be retained shall 

be protected during construction in accordance with the tree care plan as may have been 

approved. 

 
Reason: In order to protect retained trees during consideration, in the interests of visual 
amenity and biodiversity conservation. 

 
30. Prior to cladding of the exterior of buildings hereby approved, precise details of the external 

cladding and the colour scheme shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority. Thereafter external cladding and the colour scheme shall be 

in accordance with the details as may have been approved. 

 
Reason: In the interests of protecting visual amenity and the landscape. 
 

31. Prior to above ground works of the development hereby approved, details of a revised 

Sustainable urban Drainage System (SuDS) scheme shall have first been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include long term 

maintenance proposals. Thereafter, the revised SuDS scheme as may be have been 

approved shall be implemented in full and retained in working order for the lifetime of the 

development. 

 
Reason: In order to prevent the risk of flooding being increased elsewhere. 

 
32. No development shall commence until full details of the package treatment plant and all 

associated works for the disposal of sewage and foul water have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local Planning Authority.  The details shall thereafter be provided 

on the site to serve the development hereby permitted, in accordance with details that have 

first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
Reason: To protect the natural environment from groundwater pollution. 

 
33. If during groundworks evidence of potential contamination is encountered, works shall 

cease, and the site fully assessed to enable an appropriate remediation plan to be 

developed. Works shall not re-commence until an appropriate remediation scheme has 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority and the 

remediation has been completed. 

 

Page 79



If evidence of potential contamination is encountered and upon completion of the building 
works, this condition shall not be discharged until a closure report has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The closure report shall include 
details of; 

 
a) Details of any sampling and remediation works conducted and quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology. 

 
b) Details of any post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the 
required clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary 
documentation detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site. 

 
c) If no contamination has been discovered during the build, then evidence (e.g. photos or 
letters from site manager) to show that no contamination was discovered should be 
included. 

 
Reason - To ensure that any risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised. 
 

34. Prior to the commencement of development, a Renewable Energy Generation Plan (REGP) 

shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

The REGP shall set out the measures that will be incorporated into the design, layout and 

construction aimed at maximising energy efficiency and the use of renewable energy. 

 
Reason – To ensure the development meets the requirements of policy PPL10. 

 
 
Informatives 
 

1. Positive and Proactive Statement 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) 
and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal to address 
those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning 
permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2. This permission contains a condition precedent.  This requires details to be agreed and/or 
activity to be undertaken before you commence the development.  This is of critical 
importance.  If you do not comply with the condition precedent you may invalidate this 
permission. 
 

3. This decision is the subject of a legal agreement and should only be read in conjunction 
with the agreement.  The agreement addresses the following issues: Off-site highway 
mitigation and infrastructure works and travel plan monitoring fee. 
 

4. All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior 
arrangement with and to the requirements and specifications of the Highway Authority; all 
details shall be agreed before the commencement of works.  
 
The applicants should be advised to contact the Development Management Team by email 
at: development.management@essexhighways.org  
 
or by post to: 
 

Page 80

mailto:development.management@essexhighways.org


SMO1 – Development Management Team  
Ardleigh Depot,  
Harwich Road,  
Ardleigh,  
Colchester, CO7 7LT 
 

5. The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a developer’s 
improvement. This includes design check safety audits, site supervision, commuted sums 
for maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of the Land 
Compensation Act 1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such compensation 
claims a cash deposit or bond may be required. 
 

6. Essex County Council has a duty to maintain a register and record of assets which have a 
significant impact on the risk of flooding. In order to capture proposed SuDS which may 
form part of the future register, a copy of the SuDS assets in a GIS layer should be sent to 
suds@essex.gov.uk. 
 

Any drainage features proposed for adoption by Essex County Council should be 
consulted on with the relevant Highways Development Management Office. 

 
Changes to existing water courses may require separate consent under the Land 
Drainage Act before works take place. More information about consenting can be 
found in the attached standing advice note. 

 
It is the applicant's responsibility to check that they are complying with common law 
if the drainage scheme proposes to discharge into an off-site ditch/pipe. The 
applicant should seek consent where appropriate from other downstream riparian 
landowners. 

 
The Ministerial Statement made on 18th December 2014 (ref. HCWS161) states 
that the final decision regarding the viability and reasonableness of maintenance 
requirements lies with the LPA. It is not within the scope of the LLFA to comment on 
the overall viability of a scheme as the decision is based on a range of issues which 
are outside of this authority's area of expertise. 

 
We will advise on the acceptability of surface water and the information submitted 
on all planning applications submitted after the 15th of April 2015 based on the key 
documents listed within this letter. This includes applications which have been 
previously submitted as part of an earlier stage of the planning process and granted 
planning permission based on historic requirements. The Local Planning Authority 
should use the information submitted within this response in conjunction with any 
other relevant information submitted as part of this application or as part of 
preceding applications to make a balanced decision based on the available 
information. 

 
7. Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry Act 

Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water Industry Act 
1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087. 
 

8. Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry Act 
Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water Industry Act 
1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087. 
 

9. Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land 
identified for the proposed development. It appears that development proposals will affect 
existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian Water 

Page 81



Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over existing public 
sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water. 
 

10. Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted within the statutory easement 
width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. Please contact 
Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087. 
 

11. The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been approved 
for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers included in a 
sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of the Water Industry 
Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 at the 
earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed in 
accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as supplemented by Anglian 
Water's requirements. 

 
12. Essex Police note the applicant's Design and Access Statement, p35 show security 

considerations have been considered for the proposed build however we would encourage 
the applicant to apply for Secured by Design - Commercial accreditation. 
 
Essex Police would be keen to work with the applicant in this project to mitigate potential 
security risks by employing the principles of Crime Prevention through Environmental 
Design using Secured by Design as an enabler. Essex Police provide a no cost, impartial 
advice service to any applicant who request this service. We are able to support the 
applicant to achieve appropriate consideration of the Secure by Design requirements and 
invite them to contact Essex Police via designingoutcrime@essex.police.uk  
 
Those schemes that attain SBD accreditation will exceed the requirements of Approved 
Document Q1 and improve the health and wellbeing of the community. Upon review of the 
documentation, to date, Essex Police have had no Pre-application consultation which we 
would very much welcome. 

 
13. The applicant may need an environmental permit for flood risk activities if they want to do 

work in, under, over or within 8 metres (m) from a fluvial main river and from any flood 
defence structure or culvert or 16m from a tidal main river and from any flood defence 
structure or culvert. 
 
Application forms and further information can be found at:  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits 
 
Anyone carrying out these activities without a permit where one is required, is breaking the 
law. 

 
8. Additional Considerations  

 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

 
8.1 In making your decision you must have regard to the PSED under section 149 of the Equality 

Act 2010 (as amended). This means that the Council must have due regard to the need in 
discharging its functions to: 
 

8.2 A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act; 

8.3 B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
taking steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging 

Page 82

mailto:designingoutcrime@essex.police.uk
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits


participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a 
protected characteristic(s); and 

8.4 C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not, including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. 
 

8.5 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, being married or in a civil partnership, race including colour, nationality and ethnic or 
national origin, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

8.6 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not 
impose a duty to achieve the outcomes in section 149 and section 149 is only one factor that 
needs to be considered, and may be balanced against other relevant factors. 
 

8.7 It is considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case would not have a 
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic. 

 
Human Rights 

  
8.8 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that 

may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended). Under the Act, it is unlawful for a 
public authority such as the Tendring District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible 
with the European Convention on Human Rights. 
 

8.9 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of 
the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 (right to freedom from discrimination).  
 

8.10 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with 
local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence or 
freedom from discrimination except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and 
freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to 
control the use of property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation to 
grant permission is considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application 
based on the considerations set out in this report. 

 
9. Background Papers  
 
9.1 In making this recommendation, officers have considered all plans, documents, reports and 

supporting information submitted with the application together with any amended 
documentation. Additional information considered relevant to the assessment of the 
application (as referenced within the report) also form background papers. All such information 
is available to view on the planning file using the application reference number via the 
Council’s Public Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-
applications/. 

 
 

 

Page 83

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



  

PROPOSED STORAGE & DISTRIBUTION FACILITY, OLD IPSWICH ROAD, ARDLEIGH 

STAGE 1 ROAD SAFETY AUDIT DESIGNER’S RESPONSE 

 20.00594.FUL - Stage one road safety audit - doc ref IT2114_RSA1_DR_13.09.21 

 

Project Details: 

 

Project Title:  Proposed Storage & Distribution Facility, 

Old Ipswich Road,  Ardleigh  

Stage1 Road Safety Audit Designer’s Response 

Date: 13.09.2021 

Document 

Reference:  

IT2114_RSA1_DR_13.09.21 

On behalf of:  Flying Trade Group  

 

 

Authorisation Sheet: 

 

Prepared by: 

 

 

Name: Devesh Shrivastava 

Position:  

Signed: 

 

Organisation: Intermodal Transportation Ltd 

Date: 13.09.2021 

Approved by: 

 

 

Name: Steve Williamson 

Position:  

Signed: 

 

Organisation: Intermodal Transportation Limited 

Date: 13.09.2021 

 

 

Page 85



  

PROPOSED STORAGE & DISTRIBUTION FACILITY, OLD IPSWICH ROAD, ARDLEIGH 

STAGE 1 ROAD SAFETY AUDIT DESIGNER’S RESPONSE 

 

 20.00594.FUL - Stage one road safety audit - doc ref IT2114_RSA1_DR_13.09.21 

1 

Introduction and Context  

 

This Designer’s Response report has been produced as a result of a Stage 1 Road 

Safety Audit (RSA) carried out at the request of Essex County Council, by Allen 

Transport Consultancy Ltd, with reference ATC/666/IT/1 Rev 1 and dated 02.09.2021.   

  

The RSA has been produced as a result of a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit carried out on 

the preliminary design for the proposed site access to serve a commercial development 

site located off Old Ipswich Road in Ardleigh.  The development would consist of  3,470 

sqm of employment floorspace and 40,250 sqm warehouse / distribution space. 

 

The proposal considered as part of the Stage 1 RSA report was the provision of a new 

access junction on Old Ipswich Road to serve the proposed development.  This report 

has been prepared in accordance with the approach set out in GG 119.   

 

Key Personnel: 

 

Overseeing 

Organisation:  

Essex County Council  

 

RSA Team: Lisa Allen of Allen Transport Consultancy Ltd – RSA Team 

Leader 

John Bowman of Allen Transport Consultancy Ltd – RSA Team 

Member 

 

Design 

Organisation: 

Intermodal Transportation Ltd 

 

 

Page 86



  

PROPOSED STORAGE & DISTRIBUTION FACILITY, OLD IPSWICH ROAD, ARDLEIGH 

STAGE 1 ROAD SAFETY AUDIT DESIGNER’S RESPONSE 

 

 20.00594.FUL - Stage one road safety audit - doc ref IT2114_RSA1_DR_13.09.21 

2 

 

Road Safety Audit Decision Log 

 

Reference RSA Problem RSA Recommendation Design organisation response Overseeing Organisation response Agreed RSA Action 

2.3.1 

Restricted visibility at the proposed 

development site access junction 

could result in a potential increased 

risk of side impact collisions 

occurring. 

It is recommended that the existing speed limit 

should be reduced in order to mitigate the 

above described potential collision scenario. If 

for whatever reason the above 

recommendation cannot be achieved, then it is 

recommended that approval for the current 

scheme proposal should be sought and 

agreed with the Overseeing Organisation via 

the Road Safety Audit Response Report and 

Table F4 Decision Log as contained within 

DMRB GG 119.  

Additionally, it is recommended that the 

development site boundary 

fence/wall/vegetation should be located 

outside of the visibility splays.  

Furthermore, it is recommended that 

measures to prevent parked vehicles from 

restricting the maximum achievable visibility 

splays should be provided. Measures could 

include the provision of No Waiting At Any 

Time (double yellow line) restrictions, including 

loading and unloading. 

The results from the ATC survey undertaken 

in Feb 2020, show that there would be a flow 

of 42 vehicles northbound and 132 vehicles 

southbound in the AM peak hour and 35 / 86 

vehicles north and southbound respectively in 

the PM peak hours.  Additionally, the recorded 

speeds are well below the 60mph speed limit.  

Given the modest traffic levels and lower 

speed recorded  it is considered that funding 

of a lower speed limit on Old Ipswich Road 

should not be required. 

Proposed vegetation within the site boundary 

would be maintained clear of visibility splays. 

The provision of double yellow lines would 

require a TRO.  If requested by the Highway 

Authority, the developer could offer fund the 

TRO process but could not guarantee 

implementation.  Given the very low traffic 

flows along Old Ipswich Road it is questioned 

whether such provision is actually necessary. 

  

2.3.2 

Swept path requirements of larger 

vehicles could result in a potential 

increased risk of head on or side 

swipe type collisions occurring. 

It is recommended that the junction geometry 

should be modified in order to mitigate the 

above described potential collision scenarios. 

If for whatever reason the above 

recommendation cannot be achieved, then it is 

recommended that approval for the current 

scheme proposal should be sought and 

agreed with the Overseeing Organisation, 

Essex County Council via the Road Safety 

Audit Response Report and Table F4 Decision 

Log as contained within DMRB GG 119. 

A revised access junction proposal has been 

produced and can be seen on Drawing 

IT2114_TA_02 Rev A (attached appendices).  

This includes a taper on the southern side of 

the access which allows a maximum legal 

articulated HGV vehicle to access and egress 

the site without oversailing the carriageway 

centreline.  Additionally two such vehicles 

could pass satisfactorily within the site access 

shown in Drawing IT2114_TA_05 (attached 

appendices).      

  

2.4.1 

Reducing the potential risk of 

pedestrian trips and falls on full 

height kerb upstands at the 

proposed development site access 

junction, whereby pedestrians could 

sustain personal injury. 

It is recommended that an uncontrolled 

pedestrian crossing facility, including dropped 

kerbs, should be provided across Old Ipswich 

Road. 

Given the commercial nature of the 

development, the low traffic volumes passing 

the site and the lack of close walking 

destinations or housing, it is considered that 

the pedestrian access to the site is adequate 

and appropriate without modification.  It is 

unlikely that persons using wheelchairs or 

persons with small children in buggies would 

need to access the site and hence the 

provision of dropped kerbs is considered 

unnecessary.    

  

 

P
age 87



 

 

 20.00594.FUL - Stage one road safety audit - doc ref IT2114_RSA1_DR_13.09.21 

Design Organisation and Overseeing Organisation Statements 

 

 

Design Organisation Statement 

 

On behalf of the design organisation I certify that: 

 

1) the RSA actions identified in response to the road safety audit problems in 

this road safety audit have been discussed and agreed with the Overseeing 

Organisation.  
 

Name: Devesh Shrivastava 

Signed: 

 

Position:  

Organisation: Intermodal Transportation Ltd 

Date: 13/09/21 

 

 

Overseeing Organisation Statement 

 

On behalf of the Overseeing Organisation I certify that:  

 

1) the RSA actions identified in response to the road safety audit problems in 

this road safety audit have been discussed and agreed with the design 

organisation; and  

2) the agreed RSA actions will be progressed.  

 

Name:  

 

Signed:  

 

Position:  

 

Organisation:  

 

Date:  

 

 

Page 88



On behalf of: Ardleigh Parish Council

Prepared by: N O’Hagan BA (Hons)

Date: 21/02/2022

Ardleigh Parish Council’s objection to planning 

application 20/00594/FUL for “food storage and 

distribution facility and associated parking, logistics 

yard and offices” on land adjoining Ipswich Road and 

Wick Lane, Ardleigh, Essex, CO7 7QL

Page 89



012 2Page 90



Table of Contents

Executive Summary  ................................................................................4

Grounds of Objection  ..............................................................................7

Ground of objection 1: Public Open Space  ..................................................7

Ground of objection 2: Development Plan  .................................................13

Ground of objection 3: Unsustainable location  ...........................................21

Ground of objection 4: Employment figures  ..............................................25

Ground of objection 5: Social/economic deprivation  ....................................27

Ground of objection 6: High quality agricultural land  ...................................29

Ground of objection 7: Suitable alternative sites  ........................................32

Ground of objection 8: Landscape effect  ..................................................33

Ground of objection 9: Harm to biodiversity  ..............................................43

Ground of objection 10: Harm to heritage assets  ........................................46

Ground of objection 11: Net amenity impact  .............................................52

Ground of objection 12: Air Quality Assessment  ..........................................54

Ground of objection 13: Noise Assessment  ................................................56

Ground of objection 14: Drainage  ...........................................................57

Ground of objection 15: Future development  .............................................58

Conclusion  ..........................................................................................59

Addendum prepared by Andrew Cann  .........................................................60

Surya Foods Business Model  ..................................................................60

The wrong site  .................................................................................61

The Golden Triangle  ...........................................................................62

So what site choice should Surya make?  ...................................................63

What about existing employees?  ............................................................64

Transport and Sustainability  .................................................................65

Conclusion ......................................................................................66

012 3Page 91



Executive Summary
This letter of objection concerns application 20/00594/FUL for a food storage and 

distribution facility and associated development on land adjoining Ipswich Road and 

Wick Lane in Ardleigh, Essex.

Planning Direct has been instructed to produce this document on behalf of Ardleigh 

Parish Council. The application site concerns land located within Ardleigh Parish.

The application comprises a major development that would represent a significant 

departure from the recently adopted development plan. Other material planning 

considerations are also considered to weigh firmly in favour of its refusal. 

The Parish Council’s main grounds of objection - each addressed in detail under the 

relevant subheadings of this document - can be summarised as follows:

1. The development would have a substantial detrimental impact on planned Public 

Open Space (per approved application ESS/57/04/TEN) due to be located in very 

close proximity of the site. The notable harmful effect of the development on this 

planned Public Open Space has not been taken into any consideration by the 

applicant;

2. The development represents a very significant departure from the development plan. 

All of the material planning considerations advanced by the applicant would apply in 

equal or greater measure if the development were relocated such that it did accord 

with the development plan. Accordingly, these alleged material planning 

considerations provide no justification for the proposed departure from the 

development plan;

3. The major employment and transport-related development would be sited in an 

unsustainable location, where it would contribute to a highly unsustainable pattern of 

growth and movement, cause significant detriment to the proper functioning of the 

rural road network and result in a substantial increase in private car movements and 

reliance on private car use. The lack of a Travel Plan is also objected;

4. The application contains insufficient detail and clarity to enable its impacts (and 

potential dis/benefits) on local employment figures and the economy to be properly 

assessed;

012 4Page 92



5. The applicant’s assertion that the development would assist to tackle a number of 

Tendring’s social and economic issues is unfounded. In fact, due to its proposed 

location far away from the communities that would benefit from its construction and 

subsequent employment opportunities, the development is considered to directly 

exacerbate these local issues;

6. The development would entail the permanent loss of productive, best and most 

versatile agricultural land for which no compelling justification has been provided. The 

applicant vastly understates the social, economic and environmental (including 

landscape) harm associated with the proposed permanent loss of the affected 

agricultural land parcel to a non-compatible urban use;

7. The applicant has failed - by a considerable margin - to justify their claim that there 

are no other suitable sites available anywhere in the district or wider region. As a 

minimum, the Parish Council considers that vacant or otherwise available industrial/

employment/brownfield sites in sub/urban settlements at the highest tiers of the 

Settlement Hierarchy should have been considered in advance of this working 

agricultural field in deeply rural Ardleigh. The application as submitted provides no 

indication or evidence that this exercise has been conducted;

8. The development would cause substantial and permanent harm to the character, 

appearance, quality and integrity of the affected rural landscape. It would feature 

prominently in various sensitive views. The LVIA accompanying the application vastly 

undervalues both the site and the local landscape character whilst similarly 

understating the practical landscape effect of the development which would be 

significant. The “in principle” harm of the development to local landscape character - 

arising from the inappropriate type and scale of the development in its rural context - 

is further exacerbated by its stark and incongruous urban design and materials;

9. The application contains a lack of information and certainty concerning its impacts on 

ecology and biodiversity. In the absence of this information, it must be assessed that 

the development would cause net harm to biodiversity and ecology, including material 

and unlawful harm to certain wildlife species (including bats);

10.The application falls far short of assessing the significance of the affected listed 

buildings’ shared setting and/or the impact of the development upon it. Contrary to the 

applicant’s stance, heritage significance does not derive only from views. The 

development would cause serious and permanent harm to the long-preserved 

012 5Page 93



immediate working agricultural setting of the listed buildings which are significant - in 

large part - because of their physical and functional connection to the adjacent 

farmland and what this tells us about the historic agricultural practices and industry of 

Ardleigh. This comprises a material heritage harm that must be appropriately weighed 

in the planning balance;

11.The relocation of this major industrial employment site from a dedicated industrial 

estate in a built-up urban area of sustainable Harwich to a working, high quality 

arable field on the rural outskirts of Ardleigh would - contrary to the applicant’s 

assertion - comprise a net amenity harm and social disbenefit;

12.The Air Quality Assessment accompanying the application fails to consider the likely 

significant impacts on both the existing PRoW and the planned Public Open Space to 

the immediate south of the site. Its findings are also dependent on the implementation 

of a Travel Plan which has not been provided and which the Parish Council disputes 

is achievable;

13.The Noise Assessment accompanying the application fails to consider the likely 

significant impacts on both the existing PRoW and the planned Public Open Space to 

the immediate south of the site. Its findings are also predicated on a significant 

underestimation of vehicle numbers and fail to consider the noise impact of 

mechanical plant;

14.The application site is located in an area with known drainage issues and water  run-

off vulnerabilities and insufficient information is provided concerning how the site’s 

drainage would be appropriately managed. As it stands, it is assessed that the 

development would unduly and unnecessarily exacerbate local drainage problems 

and water quality concerns; and

15.Although the applicant suggests that the previously proposed “Phase 2” part of the 

application would no longer be pursued, the Parish Council has legitimate concerns 

that this is not the case. The Parish Council is similarly concerned that, if permission 

for this large application which stands in firm conflict with various important 

development plan policies is forthcoming, it would be very difficult for the District 

Council to resist its future expansion.

012 6Page 94



Grounds of Objection

Ground of objection 1: Public Open Space
The development would have a substantial detrimental impact on planned Public 

Open Space (per approved application ESS/57/04/TEN) due to be located in very 

close proximity of the site. The notable harmful effect of the development on this 

planned Public Open Space has not been taken into any consideration by the 

applicant.

In c. 2010, planning permission was granted by Essex County Council for a major 

extension of Ardleigh Reservoir. A new area of Public Open Space - in conjunction with 

new habitat creation - was proposed as a fundamental part of this application. As part of 

the planned Public Open Space, a new circular footpath link would be introduced 

around the perimeter of the reservoir, accessible from the adjacent car park. This would 

be designed to facilitate safe public access to the reservoir by all residents, including 

disabled people and those with mobility restrictions. 

This was put forward as a firm social and environmental benefit of application ESS/

57/04/TEN, especially as public access to the existing reservoir is currently very limited. 

Consequently, the creation of new accessible and high quality public open space and 

footpaths in this location would greatly enhance the area’s landscape value, biodiversity 

/wildlife value and - above all - its recreational use by and value to the local resident 

community. 

The LVIA that accompanied approved application ESS/57/04/TEN confirms that 

approximately 31 hectares of Public Open Space - managed as “heathland” to 

encourage a “heathy” grassland flora - will be introduced to the area. The LVIA also 

refers to the Public Open Space as a “Country Park” - with paragraph 6.9 of the report 

confirming, “The country park will be in active use by the public”. 

The overall form and location of the c. 31 ha Public Open Space - or “Country Park” -  is 

best indicated by the below plan extract:

012 7Page 95



The Head of Development Control’s 30/03/2007 Committee Report on application ESS/

57/04/TEN offered the following relevant assessment of the major development’s overall 

landscape impact:

As supported by the above plan extract, the forthcoming Public Open Space is located 

in exceptionally close proximity of the current application site. Indeed, it is separated 

only by the rural, single-track Wick Lane. 

Although the planned Public Open Space is not anticipated to be delivered for some 

years yet, the development (ESS/57/04/TEN) is both underway and on-track.

012 8Page 96



The development here objected would consequently have a very substantial harmful 

impact on the Public Open Space due to be located to its immediate south. The harm 

would arise as a result of significant visual intrusion but also due to:

• General noise, pollution and disturbance associated with the major site’s occupation 

and 24/7 operation that would be inappropriate and therefore highly intrusive within 

the rural area; and

• The unavoidable detrimental effect on planned wildlife habitats due to the proximity 

and use of the proposed site (which as a 24/7 facility would require external lighting  

and generate nighttime noise that would both severely hinder the use of the adjacent 

habitats by all wildlife, especially bats).

The application makes no mention at all of the planned Public Open Space - it is also 

omitted from any consideration in any supporting document including the LVIA, the 

Noise Assessment, the Transport Statement and the Air Quality Assessment. 

It is consequently presumed that the applicant is wholly unaware of the planned  

“Country Park” - notwithstanding that it is located almost directly adjacent to their 

View looking east along the narrow Wick Lane (March 2021) - the open space would 

be located directly on the south side of this lane (per the above plan extract), whilst the 

new major employment site and its imposing warehouse is proposed to be sited 

directly on the north side of this lane

012 9Page 97



development site and comprises one of the most significant developments to be 

approved in Ardleigh in recent years. Indeed, once delivered, the “Country Park” is set 

to transform this part of the parish into one of its most valuable and highly prized assets 

- in terms of both its landscape/wildlife value and its community/recreational value. 

Not only does the applicant’s failure to acknowledge this major extant planning consent 

speak to the general lack of thought and consideration given to the application, it also 

means that the various claimed effects of the proposed development - including by way 

of landscape, noise and biodiversity impacts - are wildly and indisputably inaccurate.

It is noted, for example, that the author of the LVIA reduces the visual harm caused to 

the public footpath off Wick Lane on the basis that visual intrusion would only occur “for 

a short section of the PRoW” (paragraphs 4.68 and 7.11). 

Taking account of the LVIA’s  Viewpoint M (see extract below) - which looks from the 

existing footpath across the site of the forthcoming “Country Park” towards the 

vegetation bounding Wick Lane - it becomes clear that the visual impact of the 

development on the planned “Country Park” would be very substantial, with the c. 20m 

high warehouse looming directly over the space and the only intervening feature (being 

the narrow Wick Lane) providing no material respite from its overbearing scale and 

proximity. 

It is unfortunate that the applicant’s viewpoints do not actually model the proposed 

development in order to better represent its likely visual impact. However, the 

application does confirm that the boundary vegetation depicted in Viewpoint M reaches 

a maximum height of c. 3m. The application plans also indicate that the warehouse is 

proposed to be built within only a few metres of the site’s boundary with Wick Lane, with 

its long side (measuring some 165 total metres in length and 20 odd metres in height) 

running directly parallel to the forthcoming “Country Park”. 

012 10Page 98



Extract of the LVIA’s Viewpoint M - this depicts the view towards the application site 

from the current public footpath. As supported by this statement, the view looks across 

a currently open field that is due to become Public Open Space. The Public Open 

Space would extend hard up against the boundary with Wick Lane, maintaining only a 

few metres of separation from the c. 20m high and 165m long warehouse

012 11Page 99



Taking all of the above into account, it is obvious that the visual effect of the proposed 

development upon the forthcoming “Country Park” would be seriously and 

unsupportably detrimental. 

The scale, form, style and proximity of the warehouse building would result in a visual 

intrusion that would completely erode the landscape and community/recreational value 

of the forthcoming Public Open Space which - it should be remembered - was a vital 

element of major application ESS/57/04/TEN necessary to mitigate its own integral 

harm to local landscape character . 1

This impact alone provides sufficient and compelling reason to refuse the application. 

This is asserted notwithstanding the similarly significant and unsupportable detrimental 

effects that would be had upon the Public Open Space due to both the physical 

development of the application site and its intended 24/7 operation for storage and 

distribution purposes (including by way of noise, dust, smells, air pollution, vibrations, 

lighting and nocturnal light spill etc.)

Extract of the applicant’s elevation plans - this is the warehouse elevation that would 

run parallel and almost directly adjacent to the Public Open Space. At c. 23.92 metres 

above ground level, it is clear that the intervening vegetation (at c. 3m in height) would 

do little to visually screen the warehouse from future users of the Public Open Space 

or otherwise lessen its firm overbearing impact

 In this manner, approval of the application here objected would have the knock-on effect of 1

wholly undermining/negating the landscape mitigation secured in order to render the 
landscape impact of the major reservoir extension (ESS/57/04/TEN) acceptable. Consequently, 
the overall landscape effect of the adjacent reservoir extension (already underway) would be 
rendered unacceptable once more. 

012 12Page 100



Ground of objection 2: Development Plan
The development represents a very significant departure from the development 

plan. All of the material planning considerations advanced by the applicant would 

apply in equal or greater measure if the development were relocated such that it 

did accord with the development plan. Accordingly, these alleged material 

planning considerations provide no justification for the proposed departure from 

the development plan.

It appears to be common ground amongst all the parties that the application scheme 

would comprise a departure from the recently adopted development plan. 

The Parish Council believes it must be acknowledged that the amount of negative 

weight attributed to any development plan conflict should depend - in all circumstances - 

on the type and degree of the conflict. The greater the development plan conflict and 

the wider its implications, the greater the negative weight it should attract in the planning 

balance. 

In this vein, it is necessary to establish the type and extent of this application’s 

departure from the development plan. In the parish council’s opinion, the conflict would 

be very substantial and its implications very severe. This is explored below. 

The negative weight to be attributed to the development plan conflict in the planning 

balance is consequently very substantial and only reinforced by the very young age of 

the development plan policies (adopted in full January 2022). 

Assessment of the development plan conflict 

Policies relevant to the open countryside 

The site is located in open countryside where policies of restraint apply. However, the 

development plan still adopts a proactive and positive approach to new development in 

the open countryside where this would contribute towards the aims of sustainable 

development. 

In rural locations, the development plan provides support for various small-scale 

developments that would assist to meet the social, economic and environmental needs 

of the affected rural area. In this manner, those economy-related developments 

expressly supported in the open countryside include farm diversification schemes, 

012 13Page 101



buildings for equine, agricultural, aquacultural, forestry and horticultural uses, the re-use 

of existing buildings for employment/tourism uses and the construction of rural workers’ 

dwellings (see policy PP 13).

In primary justification of the above strategic approach to economic development in the 

rural areas, supporting paragraphs 6.9.1 and 6.9.2 of the Local Plan (Part 2) provide as 

follows:

Having regard to the above, it is evident that the application fails to gain the support of 

any applicable strategic development plan policy. Furthermore, due to its permanent 

loss of functioning best and most versatile agricultural land, the application would 

directly and significantly undermine the fundamental strategic aim and purpose of the 

development plan insofar as economic development in the open countryside is 

concerned.

Policies relevant to Ardleigh village

The nearest settlement to the site is Ardleigh and this sits at the lowest available tier of 

the development plan’s Settlement Hierarchy (Policy SPL 1), being defined as a 

“Smaller Rural Settlement”. 

Supporting paragraph 3.2.1.4.2 of the Local Plan (Part 2) establishes the approach to 

012 14Page 102



development in Smaller Rural Settlements and the justification behind this. It reads as 

follows:

“These smaller villages are considered to be the least sustainable locations for 

growth and there is a concern that encouraging too much development in these areas 

will only serve to increase the number of people having to rely on cars to go about their 

everyday lives. However, these villages are still under pressure to grow and some 

small-scale development which is sympathetic to the rural and often historic 

character of the settlement might help younger people to continue to live in the 

area, keep local shops and services viable and help bring balance to any ageing 

population. Particular attention must be given to school travel and any expansion of 

existing rural schools” [bold emphasis added]. 

There are 3 different types of more sustainable settlement - Strategic Urban, Smaller 

Urban and Rural Service Centre - that sit above Smaller Rural Settlements in the 

Hierarchy. This also means there are at least 13 different settlements (including Harwich 

and Dovercourt) sitting above Ardleigh in the Hierarchy. 

On Strategic Urban Settlements (including Harwich and Dovercourt), paragraph 

3.3.1.1.1 of the Local Plan (Part 2) provides the following appraisal and strategy:

“‘Strategic Urban settlements’ have the larger populations and a wide range of existing 

infrastructure and facilities, making them the most sustainable locations for growth. 

These settlements provide better opportunities for the use of public transport, walking 

and cycling to get from place to place and, because they have established town centres, 

employment areas and infrastructure, they provide locations where, with the right action, 

it is possible to create a significant number of additional new jobs and deliver 

sustainable housing growth on a larger scale” [bold emphasis added].

Consequently, even within the defined boundaries of Ardleigh (from which the 

application site is distant), this form and scale of industrial/employment development 

would find itself in significant conflict with the strategic policies of the development plan. 

It is also worth noting that the application for major development would cause 

substantial increased reliance on private car use  in the local area. Per paragraph 2

3.2.1.4.2 of Local Plan (Part 2) above, this is the fundamental reason why the Smaller 

 this matter is discussed in greater detail later in this statement2

012 15Page 103



Rural Settlements are considered the “least sustainable locations for growth” where 

major development of this form and scale is strictly resisted. 

Policies concerned with employment development

The applicant takes the stance that the development plan’s employment site allocations 

are all too small to meet the needs of the applicant’s business. 

The applicant appears to imply that the lack of suitable B class site allocations in the 

development plan provides justification for the use of this Greenfield site in Ardleigh. 

The Parish Council strongly disagrees. 

Firstly, the relevant policy - Policy PP7 - allocates 32 ha of B2 and B8 class land across 

7 different sites. Contrary to the applicant’s assertion (at paragraphs 6.2 - 6.5 of their 

planning, design & access statement), the largest of Policy PP7’s employment site 

allocations is “Land south west of Horsely Cross” at 11.2 ha total:

012 16Page 104



The applicant (at paragraphs 6.3 of their planning, design & access statement) refers to 

the development as a “9ha development”. Evidently, this could be delivered on strategic 

site allocation “Land south west of Horsely Cross”. However, the applicant makes no 

mention of “Land south west of Horsely Cross” and does not indicate that it has been 

investigated or discounted for any legitimate reason. 

Whilst the applicant takes the view (at paragraphs 6.3 of their planning, design & access 

statement) that “this is a 9ha development, and sites identified for employment within a 

local plan are rarely that large”, they wholly omit to mention that the Tendring Local Plan 

is one such “rare” local plan that does include an employment site that large. The fact 

that other local plans throughout the country generally do not is of very limited (if any) 

relevance to the determination of this application which affects land in Tendring only. 

In addition, although the applicant refers to the development as a “9ha development”, 

this is the total dimensions of the application site and not the total area to be developed. 

As indicated by the current site layout plan, large portions of the site are shown to be 

undeveloped or are given over to necessary landscape and drainage mitigation .3

Annotated extract of the site layout plan [not to scale] - “undeveloped” area of the site 

is highlighted in yellow and measures approx. 3.35 ha

 based on the current site layout plan (ref. 2748), measuring software indicates 3.35 ha of the 3

site to be undeveloped, with the development itself taking up approximately 5.65 ha

012 17Page 105



In a more appropriate location - without the same significant landscape or drainage 

constraints - these site features would not be required and the site area could be 

reduced accordingly . 4

It is consequently likely that the development could in fact be accommodated on site 

allocations “Extension to Gorse Lane Industrial Estate, Telford Road, Clacton” at 6.8ha 

and/or “Land at Harwich Valley, East of Pond Hall Farm, Dovercourt” at 6.3ha. 

Notwithstanding the specific allocations of policy PP 7, the policy also provides support 

for new employment-related development on land outside of the allocations. The policy 

provides specifically as follows:

“Proposals for new employment-related development on land outside of these 

allocations will be considered having regard to their potential to support economic 

growth in the district and the requirements of other policies in this Local Plan.”

The “other policies in this Local Plan” would significantly include:

• Policy SPL1 which provides the Settlement Hierarchy, including the appropriate 

locations for major and minor growth;

• Policy PP 13 which provides the strategy for economic related development in the 

rural areas; and

• Policy PP 14 which identifies specific regeneration areas that should be the focus for 

economic investment and initiatives to improve economic investment. 

As discussed previously in this section, none of these important local policies suggest 

this Greenfield site in Ardleigh to be a suitable location for the development proposed. 

On the contrary, they firmly indicate this Greenfield site in Ardleigh to be highly 

unsuitable for the development proposed. 

Although the applicant suggests that all other more suitable options have been 

exhausted, the Parish Council would firmly dispute this. The applicant has not even 

investigated each of the viable employment site allocations provided by policy PP 7 

(such as “Land south west of Horsely Cross”). 

In a recent Parish Council meeting, Councillor Carlo Guglielmi suggested that take-up of 

 in so doing, it would make better and more economical use of land4

012 18Page 106



the Horsely Cross site allocation had been investigated by food supplier EDME Ltd., 

currently based in Mistley. Following their investigation, it appears that EDME is no 

longer considering the site and it was suggested by Councillor Guglielmi that it would 

provide an appropriate location for Surya Food’s proposed development. 

Furthermore, even if each of policy PP 7’s site allocations had been investigated and 

legitimately discounted, the Parish Council would firmly dispute that the appropriate next 

step would be to investigate Greenfield sites located in the open countryside that 

comprise of functioning best and most versatile agricultural land and whose nearest 

settlement sits at the very lowest rung of the Settlement Hierarchy.

The Parish Council considers, as a very minimum, that all of the below sites should 

have been considered and legitimately discounted prior to the selection of this 

Greenfield site in Ardleigh:

1. Brownfield sites within the Settlement Development Boundaries of the various 

Strategic Urban Settlements;

2. Brownfield sites within the Settlement Development Boundaries of the various 

Smaller Urban Settlements;

3. Brownfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

related to the various Strategic Urban Settlements;

4. Brownfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

related to the various Smaller Urban Settlements;

5. Brownfield sites within the Settlement Development Boundaries of the various Rural 

Service Centres;

6. Brownfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

related to the various Rural Service Centres;

7. Greenfield sites within the Settlement Development Boundaries of the various 

Strategic Urban Settlements;

8. Greenfield sites within the Settlement Development Boundaries of the various 

Smaller Urban Settlements;

9. Greenfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

related to the various Strategic Urban Settlements;

10.Greenfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

related to the various Smaller Urban Settlements;

11.Greenfield sites within the Settlement Development Boundaries of the various Rural 

Service Centres;

12.Greenfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

012 19Page 107



related to the various Rural Service Centres;

13.Brownfield sites within the Settlement Development Boundaries of the various 

Smaller Rural Settlements;

14.Brownfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

related to the various Smaller Rural Settlements; and

15.Greenfield sites outside the Settlement Development Boundaries but otherwise well 

related to the various Smaller Rural Settlements.

Only once these minimum 15 stages had been exhausted (which they have not been) 

should the major development of this Greenfield site outside of the Settlement 

Development Boundaries and poorly related to a Smaller Rural Settlement have even 

be considered. 

Had the above appropriate approach to site selection been adopted, the Parish Council 

considers it highly probable that a more suitable site in a more sustainable location with 

fewer harmful impacts (including by way of landscape harm and private car 

dependence) would have been found.

Conclusion

The conflict with the recently adopted development plan is very substantial. Not only 

does the development fail to gain the support of any strategic policy, it also serves to 

directly undermine the important aims of various strategic policies, including SPL 1 and 

PP 13. Furthermore, the applicant has failed by a very significant margin to justify their 

decision to ignore and act counter to various important strategic requirements and 

objectives of the development plan. 

The policy conflict is consequently a major and critical disbenefit of the scheme that 

deserves to be granted substantial negative weight in the planning balance. 

012 20Page 108



Ground of objection 3: Unsustainable location
The major employment and transport-related development would be sited in an 

unsustainable location, where it would contribute to a highly unsustainable 

pattern of growth and movement, cause significant detriment to the proper 

functioning of the rural road network and result in a substantial increase in 

private car movements and reliance on private car use. The lack of a Travel Plan 

is also objected.

The site lies in the countryside, outside of the settlement boundaries of the Smaller 

Rural Settlement of Ardleigh. As mentioned previously, the development plan identifies 

these settlements as the least sustainable locations for growth. These are equally 

assessed to be locations where too much development will only serve to increase the 

number of people having to rely on cars to go about their everyday lives. Consequently, 

the strategy is to encourage small-scale development within defined settlement 

boundaries only. 

The development here objected would be neither small-scale nor within defined 

settlement boundaries. Furthermore, the applicant has confirmed as follows:

• It is unlikely that a significant proportion of warehouse and distribution staff would live 

in a village like Ardleigh; and

• The vast majority of staff is likely to come from large urban centres distant from 

Ardleigh and only accessible to the site by private car - namely, Colchester, Harwich, 

Clacton and Ipswich (paragraph 8.23 of the planning, design and access statement).

Essex County Council as Highways Authority has already confirmed the location to be 

highly unsustainable. They note, for example, the lack of bus services, the lack of good 

cycle links and the distance (not walkable) to Ardleigh village. 

The applicant has proposed just one solution/mitigation to the overwhelming lack of 

sustainable transport modes. This is the “hopper mini bus” - to be secured by a S106 

Agreement - which would connect the site with the Park and Ride site at A12 Junction 

28 or Colchester Train Station. However, in their consultation response dated 

06/07/2021, Essex County Council as Highways Authority has already confirmed that 

the proposed “hopper mini bus” is not viable. Furthermore, no S106 Agreement has 

been provided to actually secure its delivery.

012 21Page 109



Notwithstanding this, even if delivery of the “hopper mini bus” were viable, it is 

considered highly probable that its take-up by the site’s employees would be incredibly 

limited. This is asserted having regard to the below calculations. 

Travelling from Harwich* to the application site**

* Harwich has been selected as this is the location of the existing site and the applicant 

has stated that a significant proportion of the site's employees would live in Harwich

**Assuming the hopper mini-bus would be delivered at Colchester Train Station.

Option 1 “sustainable” travel - 

To arrive at the application site for 9am, residents would take trains or buses (with at 

least one change) from Harwich to Colchester Station. This journey takes around 45 

minutes. They would need to leave Harwich Station at around 7.30 am to arrive at the 

site by 9am.

The journey to the application site via the hopper mini-bus would then take around 10 - 

25 minutes. 

The cheapest day return fare currently available costs £10.80. Using this journey 

method daily would result in a monthly commuting cost of c. £216. This does not take 

account of the cost of the journey from home to Harwich train station which could be by 

private car, bus or taxi. 

Option 2 private car journey -

To arrive at the application site for 9am, residents would drive direct via the A120. The 

journey distance is approx. 17 - 21 miles and its duration is typically 22 to 45 minutes (at 

rush hour). This means residents would need to leave their homes at around 8.30 am to 

arrive at the site by 9am.

The approximate fuel cost per day is likely to be no more than around £4. Using this 

journey method daily would result in a monthly commuting cost of c. £80.

Bearing in mind that most employees of the site would likely be on low wages, this is a 

considerable difference in cost that would dissuade most from taking up the sustainable 

transport “offer”. The applicant has not suggested that any financial incentive would be 

provided to employees.

012 22Page 110



 

Notwithstanding the cost, private car journeys would be far more convenient and less 

time-consuming, enabling employees to perform school drop-offs and other usual 

morning tasks. 

There would also be far less risk of lateness due to potential public transport (including 

the hopper minibus) delays. B8 businesses run to tight schedules meaning tardiness 

amongst employees will not be tolerated. It is unlikely that many employees would be 

willing to jeopardise their jobs in order to travel to work sustainable, especially when this 

would cost them more, take them longer and be less convenient overall. 

Consequently - and notwithstanding the HGV movements associated with the proposed 

B8 use - it is highly likely that the vast majority (if not all) of the proposed 348 site 

employees would be required to travel to and from the site by private car. Most of them 

would be travelling from higher-level settlements with very good levels of sustainability 

themselves. This is the very antithesis of a sustainable pattern of movement. 

It is also well-established that most of the working residents of Ardleigh must commute 

out of the settlement by private car to access their workplaces. This development does 

not anticipate that any significant proportion of its workforce would be drawn from 

Ardleigh. Therefore, the high levels of out-commuting by its existing population would 

continue unaltered. 

Bearing this in mind, it is simply implausible that the local road network could sustain 

the proposed substantial daily increase in private car movements to and from Ardleigh . 5

Again, this is notwithstanding the increase in HGV movements associated with its B8 

use. 

National planning policy (paragraph 105 of the NPPF) requires that “significant 

development should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable”. 

The location is not sustainable, far from it. In fact, in the context of a largely rural 

District, Ardleigh is formally identified as amongst “the least sustainable locations for 

growth”. Furthermore, the site is located some distance from Ardleigh settlement 

boundaries meaning it must be considered even less sustainable than “the least 

sustainable locations for growth”. 

 based on the above discussion, this is likely to be in the region of 680 additional private car 5

movements to and from Ardleigh each day

012 23Page 111



There is also compelling evidence of a total lack of any viable opportunities to make the 

location more sustainable. 

The application must consequently be refused on this basis alone. 

Further consideration is given to the transport and accessibility implications of the 

development in the addendum to this objection letter prepared by Andrew Cann. 

012 24Page 112



Ground of objection 4: Employment figures
The application contains insufficient detail and clarity to enable its impacts (and 

potential dis/benefits) on local employment figures and the economy to be 

properly assessed.

The Executive Summary of the applicant’s planning, design and access statement 

describes the development as “the relocation of existing distribution and warehousing 

operations from Harwich to Ardleigh”. However, it also states that the application would 

“secure” at least 348 new jobs, whilst the application form omits to provide any figure 

(be it “0” or otherwise) for existing employees.

It also appears that the claimed employment figures have been calculated using a 

generic national matrix. This is unhelpful and inappropriate considering the operation is 

already in existence and the development seeks simply to “relocate” it. 

Due to this limited information, it is not possible to establish:

• Is the 348 figure net gain or does it include existing employees that would relocate 

from the site in Harwich to the site in Ardleigh?

• How many existing employees are there at the site in Harwich? Would they move, be 

retained for other purposes in Harwich or be made redundant?

It is vital that these matters are understood in order for the impacts of the development 

to be properly assessed.

For example:

• If the 348 figure is NOT net gain and many of the “new” employees are already 

existing employees of the business (who would consequently retain their jobs in the 

event that this application is refused) then the claimed material economic benefit of 

the development is greatly reduced; and

• If the figure is net gain and all of the existing employees in Harwich are to be retained  

(i.e. intensification of the operation in Harwich to stay the same) then the applicant's 

argument that the site’s “relocation” from Harwich to Ardleigh would improve the 

amenity of that area to the benefit of nearby residents is wholly unfounded. 

Further consideration is given to the employment and economic implications of the 

012 25Page 113



development in the addendum to this objection letter prepared by Andrew Cann. 

012 26Page 114



Ground of objection 5: Social/economic deprivation
The applicant’s assertion that the development would assist to tackle a number of 

Tendring’s social and economic issues is unfounded. In fact, due to its proposed 

location far away from the communities that would benefit from its construction 

and subsequent employment opportunities, the development is considered to 

directly exacerbate these local issues.

The applicant has put forward a claimed social benefit of the scheme that the Parish 

Council would strongly rebut. At paragraphs 5.28 - 5.40 of the planning, design and 

access statement, the applicant refers to various social and economic issues facing 

Tendring. For example, it is stated that Tendring is one of the most most deprived Local 

Authorities in the country, that there are low economic activity rates, high unemployment 

and a low share of residents with at least degree-level qualifications. 

The applicant implies that this development would assist to tackle or lessen some of 

these social and economic concerns. 

The Parish Council responds as follows: 

Whilst these issues may affect the District considered as a whole, they are not relevant 

to Ardleigh. The most recent census data (used to inform the preparation of the 

emerging Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan) indicates that the settlement’s economic 

activity rate (69.1%) is largely in line with the national rate (69.9%). Similarly, 27.4% of 

Ardleigh’s adult population is educated to degree-level or above (again, in line with 

national statistics), compared to only 15.9% for Tendring as a whole. In terms of 

deprivation, the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) divides all Lower-layer upper Output 

Areas (LSOAs) into deciles - LSOAs in decile 1 fall within the most deprived 10% of 

LSOAs nationally and LSOAs in decile 10 fall within the least deprived 10% of LSOAs 

nationally. The LSOA in which the application site lies (E01021971) is in decile 6 which 

indicates it to be amongst the least deprived areas nationally. 

By contrast, the business’s existing premises are in an LSOA (E01033051) in decile 3 

indicating it to be a far more deprived area. Consequently, the applicant’s attempt to 

argue that the relocation of the business’s B8 operations from more deprived Harwich to 

less deprived Ardleigh would somehow assist to tackle social deprivation is wholly 

without substance. 

012 27Page 115



Indeed, the relocation of a business that seeks to employ low-wage workers from a 

sustainable and deprived urban locality to an unsustainable and reasonably affluent 

rural village has overwhelming social disbenefits. 

It is a well-established principle in planning that developments should be located to best 

save the needs of affected communities. In order to tackle deprivation in Harwich - for 

example - it would be expected that development would be delivered in Harwich. 

In the context of Tendring, the development plan rightly acknowledges that there are 

areas in urgent need of social and economic regeneration and investment. To this end, 

the development plan includes relevant strategic policy PP 14 “Priority Areas for 

Regeneration”. Unsurprisingly, this policy does not suggest that deprivation in the 

priority areas should (or indeed, could) be tackled by locating major employment 

developments far away in the open countryside. 

On the contrary, policy PP 14 establishes the following priority areas for regeneration:

• Clacton Town Centre and Seafront

• ‘Brooklands’, ‘Grasslands’ and ‘the Village’ areas of Jaywick Sands 

• Harwich Old Town

• Dovercourt Town Centre and adjoining areas

• Walton-on-the-Naze.

The policy then provides that “these areas will be a focus for investment in social, 

economic and physical infrastructure and initiatives to improve vitality, environmental 

quality, social inclusion, economic prospects, education, health, community safety, 

accessibility and green infrastructure.” It provides explicit support for new development 

consistent with achieving these aims. 

If the applicant is serious about tackling social and economic deprivation in Tendring - 

which the Parish Council would wholeheartedly support - then they should seek to 

deliver this major employment site within one of the priority areas identified by policy PP 

14. 

As it stands, the relocation of this significant employment site from the accessible and 

relatively deprived urban locale of Harwich to the inaccessible and relatively un-

deprived rural locale of Ardleigh would materially exacerbate social and economic 

deprivation in Tendring.  

012 28Page 116



Ground of objection 6: High quality agricultural land
The development would entail the permanent loss of productive, best and most 

versatile agricultural land for which no compelling justification has been 

provided. The applicant vastly understates the social, economic and 

environmental (including landscape) harm associated with the proposed 

permanent loss of the affected agricultural land parcel to a non-compatible urban 

use.

Table 4.2 of the applicant’s LVIA confirms that the site consists of grade 2 “Very Good” 

agricultural land. 

The NPPF defines “best and most versatile agricultural land” as land in grades 1, 2 and 

3a of the ALC. 

Paragraph 174 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment by “(b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty 

of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – 

including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural 

land”. 

Footnote 58 to NPPF paragraph 175 also provides that “where significant development 

of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer quality land should 

be preferred to those of a higher quality.”

Paragraph 174 of the NPPF is significant as it recognises that agricultural land serves 

multiple benefits, not just economic. 

In the context of Ardleigh, agricultural land (especially where it remains in functional 

use, as is the case here) makes a substantial and irreplaceable contribution towards the 

retained working agricultural character of the rural settlement. In terms of local 

landscape character, it would be accurate to say that the value of the working rural 

landscape that envelops the village is “greater than the sum of all its parts”. 

That is to say, whilst one field might be considered to make a relatively small integral 

contribution to landscape character, it is what that field contributes towards the “whole” 

network of working fields in Ardleigh that renders it highly valuable and significant in 

landscape terms. In this manner, the piecemeal loss of working agricultural fields in 

012 29Page 117



Ardleigh has permanent and serious harmful implications for its overall landscape 

character and heritage value.  

For this reason, the Parish Council strongly rebuts the assertion in the applicant’s LVIA 

that the application site has “low” sensitivity to change in landscape terms. As a high 

quality agricultural field thus making an inherently strong contribution towards the 

defining working agricultural character of the parish, its sensitivity to non-compatible 

change is evidently high. It also provides a valuable and irreplaceable rural landscape 

buffer, providing containment of the A12 and more built-up character of Old Ipswich 

Road. 

In terms of the economic impact arising from the loss of the land (per paragraph 174 of 

the NPPF), the applicant summarily dismisses this with the following comment, “the site 

currently comprises mostly agricultural land and therefore there is limited employment 

associated with the existing use”. 

The Parish Council strongly rejects the notion that the economic value of this land lies 

solely in the number of employees it can sustain.

The agricultural site may not employ as many people as a large-scale warehouse but 

this is hardly surprising. Indeed, the Parish Council would suggest that this is a primary 

reason why agricultural sites are typically located in rural places like Ardleigh with 

smaller working populations, whereas large B8 industrial sites are typically located in 

more urban areas (unlike Ardleigh) where there is a sufficient and suitable workforce 

available. This does not suggest that one form of development has greater inherent 

economic value than the other. Rather, it suggests that the employment capacities of 

any development should be well related to the scale of the available workforce in the 

area. 

The applicant has also been upfront about the fact that the majority of the proposed new 

employees of the site would not live in Ardleigh but would need to travel in from urban 

settlements located further afield. The fact that the development would result in a net 

012 30Page 118



loss of local agricultural employment  is a firm economic, environmental and social 6

disbenefit. To suggest otherwise is to completely misunderstand the substantial social, 

economic, environmental, heritage and landscape value that working, best and most 

versatile agricultural land holds within the context of Ardleigh. 

Overall, the Parish Council considers that the application vastly understates the 

significant harm to be attributed to the permanent loss of this working best and most 

versatile agricultural land to an intensive industrial use. 

In accordance with paragraphs 174 and 175 of the NPPF, the application ought to be 

refused on the above ground alone. 

 At paragraph 5.18 of the applicant’s planning, design and access statement it is stated: “It is 6

assumed that any existing jobs/FTE associated with the site (including those associated with 
the existing agricultural use would be relocated prior to the commencement of the 
development works”. This is an unfounded and unjustified assumption. It should not be 
assumed that the agricultural use of this site would be relocated or that its existing agricultural 
workers (numbers not provided) would find employment elsewhere unless the applicant has 
evidence to support this.

012 31Page 119



Ground of objection 7: Suitable alternative sites
The applicant has failed - by a considerable margin - to justify their claim that 

there are no other suitable sites available anywhere in the district or wider region. 

As a minimum, the Parish Council considers that vacant or otherwise available 

industrial/employment/brownfield sites in sub/urban settlements at the highest 

tiers of the Settlement Hierarchy should have been considered in advance of this 

working agricultural field in deeply rural Ardleigh. The application as submitted 

provides no indication or evidence that this exercise has been conducted.

This ground of objection has already been discussed in relation to ground of objection 2 

concerning the conflict with the development plan. To briefly summarise the Parish 

Council’s stance:

i. Contrary to the applicant’s assertion, relevant policy PP 7 contains at least three 

separate site allocations that - on the face of it - would be of sufficient size to 

comfortably accommodate the development. The applicant indicates that it is only the 

size of site allocations that has prevented their consideration. As at least three of the 

allocations are of ample size, there is no reason or justification to consider alternative 

sites; and

ii. The applicant  implies that the lack of suitable B8 site allocations (disputed, per the 

above) alone provides full justification for the development of this Greenfield site  

consisting of in-use best and most versatile agricultural land that is located in open 

countryside and where the nearest settlement is a small rural village that sits at the 

lowest tier of the settlement hierarchy. This is firmly disputed. In the event that a 

reasonable investigation of the site allocations (not conducted) concluded that none 

of these were suitable, there are many other sites that ought to be considered in 

advance of this site in Ardleigh, including brownfield sites within or well-related to the 

various higher-level settlements of the District. 

Further consideration is given to the applicant’s claim of a lack of alternative sites in the 

addendum to this objection letter prepared by Andrew Cann. 

012 32Page 120



Ground of objection 8: Landscape effect
The development would cause substantial and permanent harm to the character, 

appearance, quality and integrity of the affected rural landscape. It would feature 

prominently in various sensitive views. The LVIA accompanying the application 

vastly undervalues both the site and the local landscape character whilst 

similarly understating the practical landscape effect of the development which 

would be significant. The “in principle” harm of the development to local 

landscape character - arising from the inappropriate type and scale of the 

development in its rural context - is further exacerbated by its stark and 

incongruous urban design and materials.

It is the Parish Council’s view that the development would cause significant and 

permanent overriding harm to the character, appearance, quality and integrity of the 

affected rural landscape.

The Parish Council also considers that the LVIA supplied by the applicant falls far short 

of accurately assessing or describing the landscape value of the area and/or the 

landscape impact of the development. Their key points of concern are set out below. 

Landscape already “compromised” by A12

The author of the LVIA places substantial weight on their assertion that the landscape is 

already “degraded”, “eroded” and “compromised” by the presence of the A12. For 

example, at paragraph 4.40 it is stated, “the presence of the A12 does detract from the 

surrounding landscape, reducing its sensitivity”. Table 4.1 “Summary of Landscape 

Sensitivity to the Proposed Development” also states, “the setting of the site is relatively 

poor in regard to traffic noise on the A12 and presence of other commercial premises”. 

Similarly, when discussing the effect on the setting of heritage assets, paragraph 4.35 

asserts that the listed dwellings are “already set within a landscape degraded by the 

visual and audible intrusion of the A12”.

The author of the LVIA appears to imply that the “intrusion” of the A12 reduces the 

sensitivity and rural qualities of the landscape to such an extent that the proposed 

development would appear as a congruent addition. For example, paragraph 4.30 of the 

LVIA states, “the height of the proposals will likely be visible from locations beyond the 

site boundaries however this is mainly only to the west and in the context of the 

intrusive A12”.

012 33Page 121



The Parish Council firmly disputes that the A12 reduces the sensitivity of the rural 

landscape to the extent suggested by the applicant. Whilst the A12 is certainly an urban 

intrusion, it is an urban intrusion into an otherwise intact rural landscape with a strong 

rural character overall. 

Indeed, contrary to the assertion of the LVIA author, the presence of the A12 has limited 

bearing on what the area to its east contributes towards the key characteristics of the 

Tendring LCA of Bromley Heaths. For example, its key characteristics include 

productive arable fields divided by low, gappy hedgerows, low density rural settlement 

patterns, networks of narrow lanes and dramatic dominating skylines. All of these 

characteristic features of the LCA are very well represented in this area, with the A12 

having limited to no effect on their existence or the capacity for their appreciation. 

It is also relevant that the A12 is not a new landscape feature and was certainly in situ 

when the Tendring Landscape Character Assessment was published in 2001. Its 

presence at that time clearly did not prevent the overall positive evaluation of the LCA’s 

landscape character. It is not suggested anywhere in the Tendring Landscape Character 

Assessment that the presence of the A12 renders this LCA at all capable of 

accommodating the type of development proposed. 

In the same vein, the Parish Council considers it highly unlikely that the Public Open 

Space - or “Country Park” - due to be located just south of the application site across 

Wick Lane would have been encouraged or approved by the County Council (ref. ESS/

57/04/TEN) if the A12 truly had the intrusive effect on this landscape currently alleged 

by the applicant. 

The Parish Council similarly rejects the notion that the presence of a detracting urban 

feature in an otherwise rural landscape can or should provide justification for the 

introduction of further detracting urban features. On the contrary, the Parish Council 

considers that the presence of detracting or intrusive features within a sensitive rural 

landscape renders the retention or enhancement of its remaining positive landscape 

features  all the more important.7

This approach is in line with the Landscape Management Strategy for Bromley Heaths 

 including its productive arable fields and strong field patterns which are confirmed in the  7

Tendring Landscape Character Assessment to be positive and characteristic features of the 
Bromley Heaths LCA

012 34Page 122



promoted by the Tendring Landscape Character Assessment which is to “conserve and 

enhance”. 

It is notable that the Landscape Management Strategy Matrix (see below) also rejects 

the notion put forward in the applicant’s LVIA that areas of poorer landscape condition 

can or should be allowed to deteriorate further:

Commercial development on Old Ipswich Road

The author of the LVIA asserts that the existing commercial development on Old Ipswich 

Road provides some sort of favourable context for the development proposed. For 

example, paragraph 4.32 states, “the proposals do relate well to the existing 

development on the eastern edge of Old Ipswich Road which is commercial in 

character”.

The Parish Council firmly disagrees that the existing commercial development on Old 

Ipswich Road contributes towards a built context where the proposed large scale 

industrial site with its imposing urban warehouse would appear at all congruent. 

The only shared characteristic is a commercial use. In terms of scale, form, intensity of 

use, character, appearance and landscape impact, no similarities can be drawn 

between the proposal  and any existing commercial site on Old Ipswich Road. 8

Tendring Landscape Character Assessment’s Landscape Management Strategy Matrix 

- of note, in areas of poorer condition/character, the strategy is to restore, enhance and 

create NOT to support it to deteriorate further

 with its 20m high x 165 m long x 60m wide warehouse building and extensive areas of 8

hardstanding

012 35Page 123



Old Ipswich Road boasts an appropriately modest and low-impact industrial character 

that ensures its due sense of belonging to the rural parish. Industrial buildings are 

typically single storey, adopting traditional building forms and locally relevant materials. 

In views from the wider rural landscape, the industrial buildings appear as minor/

incidental features, not readily distinguishable from agricultural development:

To use an analogy, the applicant’s claim that the existing commercial development on 

Old Ipswich Road provides some sort of favourable context for the development 

proposed is no different to a developer claiming that a modest row of rural bungalows 

provides some sort of favourable context for the introduction of a high-rise urban flat 

block. 

Effect on footpaths and planned public open space

The Parish Council is very concerned about the landscape effect that would be had 

upon the public footpath (and its users) shown on the below map. 

Image taken from the adopted Ardleigh Village Design Statement (December 2011) 

which is a material planning consideration for applications in the parish and is also in 

the process of being updated for the Neighbourhood Plan

012 36Page 124



The Parish Council shares the view of the District’s Tree & Landscape Officer 

concerning the effect on PRoWs which is that the proposed warehouse “will loom large 

in the landscape and be a dominant feature in its setting”.

The Parish Council also considers that the applicant’s LVIA is highly inconsistent when 

assessing the effect on the above PRoW and vastly understates the magnitude of the 

harm. For example, paragraph 4.68 of the LVIA states, “the site is visible from the 

footpath […] the long side of the food distribution warehouse  will be perceptible. These 9

views will be more open when vegetation is not in leaf.” 

However, at paragraph 4.82 the LVIA concludes that the magnitude of this visual effect 

is low “as changes on site are barely visible from the limited PRoWs”. Similarly, 

paragraph 4.77 suggests there are “no clear and open views for walkers on the few 

 i.e. the elevation with a length of c. 165m and a height of c. 20m - being the main bulk of the 9

warehouse

012 37Page 125



PRoWs”. Clearly, these favourable conclusions directly contradict the assessment of 

visibility at paragraph 4.88.

The current viewpoint from the footpath enclosed with the LVIA (Viewpoint M - already 

referenced previously in this document) makes it clear that the warehouse would appear 

as a highly incongruous and dominating urban feature in views from the footpath, 

spoiling its recreational and landscape value beyond repair. Its visual prominence and 

harmful landscape effect is only reinforced by the facts that:

1. a very large urban building will suddenly appear in views where no buildings formerly 

existed - this change to the landscape is substantial and therefore extremely 

noticeable and attention-grabbing; and

2. the warehouse is clad in stark, jarring and reflective urban materials that have an 

entirely alien and conspicuous presence in the rural landscape, acting as a visual 

foghorn.

In terms of the landscape effect on the forthcoming Public Open Space located in close 

proximity of the application site, this forms ground of objection 1 at the start of this 

document. 

Landscape value of the site is high, not low

The applicant’s LVIA assesses the landscape value of the site to be low. In part, this is 

alleged to be as a result of its “ordinary character”. The implication appears to be that 

there is nothing inherently special about this typical arable field. 

The Parish Council emphatically disagrees. As noted previously in this document, the 

special landscape character of Ardleigh is “greater than the sum of all its parts”. Ardleigh 

is a historic parish with a long working agricultural history that continues to this day. Its 

special landscape character is predominantly defined by the prevalence of agricultural 

fields and activities and field boundaries are relatively unchanged since historic times. 

Consequently, each high quality arable field in Ardleigh (especially those in working 

agricultural use) makes a substantial positive contribution towards its strong working 

agricultural character. 

In this manner, the piecemeal loss of Ardleigh’s good quality arable fields serves to 

permanently undermine and materially erode its special landscape character.

Parish Council would draw an analogy to a historic terrace where the loss of just one 

012 38Page 126



traditional window would be considered to cause insupportable harm to the overall 

architectural character and integrity of the terrace . In a similar vein, the loss of just one 10

high quality agricultural field in Ardleigh causes insupportable harm to the overall 

landscape character and integrity of the parish. 

Boundary hedgerows as landscape screens

The Parish Council firmly disputes the various assertions throughout the LVIA 

concerning the “screening” effect of the site’s boundary vegetation. 

For example, paragraph 4.23 of the LVIA claims that the site includes “hedgerows over 

3m to the edges” which “reduces intervisibility considerably”. Similarly, paragraph 4.46 

states, “the visibility of the site is limited by tree lines and hedgerows to the wider 

landscape”. And in terms of the visual effect on the nearest footpath (see discussion 

above), paragraph 4.68 claims that, “the tree lined field enclosure will screen most new 

built elements on site” and that, “the vegetation on the site and field boundary will still be 

the dominant characteristic in the view”. 

In particular, the boundary vegetation in question has a height of c. 3m, whereas the 

proposed new warehouse building has a height of c. 20m and is built close to the site’s 

southernmost boundary. This means that the vast majority of the new building - c. 17m - 

would rise above the tree line where it would be both highly visible and prominent. 

The height of the building relative to surrounding natural landscape features is so 

excessive and alien in this rural parish - where buildings typically sit lower than the 

treetops - that it would completely distort the scale and proportions of the landscape to 

the immeasurable detriment of its character. 

 partly due to the integral harm and partly due to the fact that the approved loss of just one 10

window would make it very difficult to resist the proposed loss of further windows in the future. 
This consideration obviously applies in the current case - if the loss of this high quality arable 
field is held to be acceptable on landscape grounds, it would make it very difficult for the 
council to resist the loss of similar fields in the future until the parish’s rural landscape 
character is completed and permanently eroded

012 39Page 127



It is also a well established principle in planning that planting is ephemeral and subject 

to seasonal changes. Whilst it might soften the visual impact of certain developments, it 

should not be relied upon to visually screen otherwise unacceptable developments. 

Landscape harm exacerbated by design and materials 

Due to its form, scale and location, the development causes a substantial degree of “in 

principle” harm to the surrounding landscape. Whilst there is no potential for this harm 

to be eliminated by design changes, the Parish Council does consider that the current 

design choices materially exacerbate the “in principle” landscape harm. 

As noted previously, the intrusiveness of the development within the rural landscape is 

only compounded by its use of jarring, reflective urban materials that are common 

features in urban/major industrial locations but appear nowhere else in the rural parish. 

A landscape view typical of Ardleigh - buildings achieve heights lower than the trees to 

create an intimate rural landscape of human scale. Natural landscape features are by 

far the most dominant features in the landscape and are not forced to compete with 

built form 

012 40Page 128



At paragraph 4.37 of the LVIA, its author rightly acknowledges that, “care should be 

Existing B8 warehouse of comparable design and materials to the proposals

Appropriate location of the urban-style warehouse depicted above which forms part of 

a wider industrial estate located adjacent to both the A421 and the M1 on the built-up 

edges of Milton Keynes - an urban town with a population of c. 230,000

012 41Page 129



taken to not introduce jarring new materials that are not in keeping with the local 

architectural style which includes; soft hued bricks and renders, and the weather 

boarding associated with farm buildings.”

However, the LVIA then proceeds to state that it has not been possible to achieve this 

due to the practical constraints and requirements of a food distribution centre. No further 

consideration is given to this matter. 

As above, the applicant directly acknowledges that the design has been informed purely 

by the functional requirements/constraints of the development rather than being 

informed by local policy requirements, local design guidance, the local vernacular or the 

surrounding rural landscape character. 

The Parish Council does acknowledge the functional requirements and constraints of 

industrial sites of this scale and nature. It is because of these considerations that the 

siting of new industrial developments is very carefully considered and planned for - 

generally directed towards established industrial estates and urban/edge-of-urban 

locations with an existing built-up industrial character. 

The fact that it would be impossible for this proposal to both (a) meet the functional 

needs of the development and (b) comply with local design and landscape policies 

(including the requirement to avoid overriding harm to landscape character and 

appearance) DOES NOT indicate that national and local policy requirements in respect 

of design and effect on local character and appearance should be disregarded or 

granted reduced weight in this instance. On the contrary, it very strongly indicates that 

the site/area is not a suitable or appropriate location for the development proposed.

Conclusion

Adopted policy PPL 3 of the development plan provides that planning permission will be 

refused for any proposed development that would cause overriding harm to the 

character or appearance of the rural landscape, including its skylines (b), settlement 

settings (c), native hedgerows and trees (d), rural lans and footpaths (e) and heritage 

assets (f). 

As explored throughout this section, the development would cause permanent 

overriding harm to the character and appearance of the affected rural landscape, 

including all of the above features expressly protected by policy PPL 3. For this 

compelling reason alone, the application must be refused.  

012 42Page 130



Ground of objection 9: Harm to biodiversity
The application contains a lack of information and certainty concerning its 

impacts on ecology and biodiversity. In the absence of this information, it must 

be assessed that the development would cause net harm to biodiversity and 

ecology, including material and unlawful harm to certain wildlife species 

(including bats).

The Parish Council considers that the application would cause significant and unjustified 

harm to ecology and biodiversity. This finding is based on the following matters.

Lack of information concerning lighting

Impacts on bats can arise due to lighting disturbance. This is confirmed by Table 2.1 of 

the Bat Conservation Trust’s Bat Surveys for Professional Ecologists Good Practice 

Guidelines. 

No lighting strategy or plan has been provided for the development so it is not possible 

to establish:

• Whether external lighting is proposed;

• What form and amount of external lighting is proposed;

• Where external lights would be located; or

• Whether light would spill over the site boundaries. 

In the absence of this information, it is simply impossible to establish what extent of 

harm would be caused to bats using the site and surrounding areas for foraging, 

commuting and/or habitation. It is also impossible to establish whether any such harm 

could be mitigated. 

As a major B8 development that is proposed to operate 24/7, the Parish Council 

considers it highly unlikely that no external lighting would be provided at all. Therefore, 

as it stands, it must be assessed that the development is likely to cause harm to bats 

and must consequently be refused on this basis alone. 

Lack of ecological studies

The applicant’s covering letter of 03/03/21 confirms that the Phase 2 ecological study 

includes recommendations for further surveys to be conducted, including bat surveys. 

These surveys has not been conducted. Consequently, on the applicant’s own 

012 43Page 131



admission, the likely ecological impact of the development has not been established. 

Biodiversity enhancements - lack of S106 & no planning gain

The applicant’s Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment confirms that - as it stands - the 

development would result in net loss for biodiversity, in conflict with national policy. It is 

suggested that this will be mitigated by off-site enhancements. 

Paragraph 11.14 of the applicant’s planning, design and access statement claims that a 

10% net gain to biodiversity will be secured by a S106 Agreement. However, no such 

S106 Agreement has bene provided and there is no mechanism to secure this post-

permission. Consequently, as it currently stands, the development would cause net 

harm to biodiversity. 

Paragraph 11.14 similarly alleges that - although a 10% gain for biodiversity is the 

minimum policy requirement - “it is also undoubtedly a planning gain”. The Parish 

Council strongly disputes this. Meeting the bare requirements of policy is the minimum 

expectation for any development, it does not add any positive weight in the planning 

balance. 

Landscape proposals not provided

Paragraph 11.35 of the applicant’s planning, design and access statement suggests that 

comprehensive details of the site landscaping scheme will be provided post-permission. 

It also states that new hedgerows “may” be introduced and that a swale “is expected to 

be used for wetland habitats”. Evidently, this implies a reasonable risk that these 

features may not, in fact, ever be delivered. 

For a scheme of this scale and with impacts of its extent, it is simply inappropriate that 

firm details of the landscaping scheme would not be known or agreed until after 

permission was already granted. 

It is also the case that a number of the applicant’s supplementary reports - including the 

Phase 2 Ecology Report and the Drainage Strategy - are predicated on at least some of 

the suggested landscape features being delivered. These reports need to be considered 

in light of the ongoing risk that these features may not ever be delivered. 

Noise Impact Assessment provides no consideration of the effect on bats

The applicant’s Noise Impact Assessment provides no acknowledgement or 

consideration of the potential for the site’s construction and permanent operation to 

012 44Page 132



effect bats on and in proximity of the site. Table 2.1 of the Bat Conservation Trust’s Bat 

Surveys for Professional Ecologists Good Practice Guidelines confirms that impacts on 

bats can arise due to “noise disturbance through, for example, increased human 

presence or use of noise-generating equipment”. 

Clearly, this development would give rise to both increased human presence and the 

use of noise-generating equipment. Indeed, as a large B8 site with HGV movements 

proposed to occur 24/7, the change to both the daytime and nighttime acoustic 

environment is likely to be substantial. The lack of any consideration of its potential to 

affect local bat populations is consequently a substantial and alarming omission. 

Overall - and taking particular account of the likely (but as yet un-investigated) potential 

for considerable noise and light disturbance -  the Parish Council considers that the 

development would have a serious and unlawful impact on bats.

012 45Page 133



Ground of objection 10: Harm to heritage assets
The application falls far short of assessing the significance of the affected listed 

buildings’ shared setting and/or the impact of the development upon it. Contrary 

to the applicant’s stance, heritage significance does not derive only from views. 

The development would cause serious and permanent harm to the long-

preserved immediate working agricultural setting of the listed buildings which are 

significant - in large part - because of their physical and functional connection to 

the adjacent farmland and what this tells us about the historic agricultural 

practices and industry of Ardleigh. This comprises a material heritage harm that 

must be appropriately weighed in the planning balance.

The Parish Council considers that the application as submitted fails to provide the 

proportionate and informed assessment of heritage significance required by both 

paragraph 194 of the NPPF and local policy PPL 9. 

Although the applicant acknowledges that the setting of various statutorily listed 

buildings would be affected, no Heritage Impact Assessment is provided. A few passing 

comments are made on heritage impact in the LVIA and planning, design and access 

statement, however these are limited to consideration of the effect on views. 

In these documents, the applicant has concluded that the physical development’s effect 

on views to and from the listed buildings would be acceptable. The implication appears 

to be that, consequently, the overall heritage impact of the development is acceptable. 

The Parish Council has serious concerns with both the methodology used here and the 

conclusions reached. 

Whilst views are certainly one relevant factor in assessing the effect on heritage assets’ 

settings, they are by no means the only one. Indeed, Historic England’s The Setting of 

Heritage Assets Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 (Second 

Edition) (2017)  provides as follows:

“although views of or from an asset will play an important part, the way in which we 

experience an asset in its setting is also influenced by other environmental factors such 

as noise, dust and vibration from other land uses in the vicinity, and by our 

understanding of the historic relationship between places.” 

012 46Page 134



Taking account of this best practice guidance, it is obvious on the face of it that the 

development in question has the considerable potential to affect heritage significance in 

more more ways than just views. Indeed, the introduction of a major 24/7 storage and 

distribution operation onto a long-preserved arable field would transform the 

immediately surrounding rural environment - including by way of its sounds, smells, 

vibrations, dust and type/amount of human and vehicular activity - beyond all 

recognition. 

The below map extracts show that the application site and its wider field enclosure 

make a substantial and immediate beneficial contribution towards the shared rural 

setting of the various listed buildings that directly enclose this historic pastoral space. 

Some incompatible and intrusive development has occurred within the shared setting of 

the listed buildings. However, this has not materially affected the positive qualities of the 

application site itself or what it contributes towards the setting of the listed buildings. 

Indeed, the retained positive qualities of the application site greatly assist to mitigate 

and lessen the harm caused to the heritage setting by intrusive modern development. 

As supported by the 2022 Google Map extract, the urban intrusions appear as just that - 

intrusions into an otherwise preserved rural space. They have certainly not had the 

effect of completely transforming or eroding the heritage setting. Due in large part to the 

ongoing retention of the application site in its historic and pastoral form, the assets’ 

shared setting remains perceptibly rural and agricultural in its overall character and 

appearance.

012 47Page 135



Extract of the 1923 OS Map - some of the listed buildings enveloping the application 

site marked by orange pins. At this time, the application site makes a strong positive 

contribution towards the shared open and pastoral setting of the buildings

Extract of the 2022 Google Map - with the same listed buildings marked by orange 

pins. As shown, the application site continues to make a strong positive contribution 

towards the shared open and pastoral setting of the buildings

012 48Page 136



In respect of heritage settings that have already been subject to inappropriate or 

detracting development, Historic England’s The Setting of Heritage Assets Historic 

Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 (Second Edition) (2017)  

provides as follows:

“Where the significance of a heritage asset has been compromised in the past by 

unsympathetic development affecting its setting, to accord with NPPF policies 

consideration still needs to be given to whether additional change will further detract 

from, or can enhance, the significance of the asset. Negative change could include 

severing the last link between an asset and its original setting.”

Clearly, this advice runs directly counter the applicant’s assertion that the existing 

presence of detracting development in this setting necessarily implies that further 

detracting development is justified and supportable. 

The Parish Council is of the contrary view that the presence of existing detracting 

features in this setting renders the retention of its remaining highly positive features 

(including the application site) more important, not less. 

Furthermore, the Parish Council is of the opinion that the site has a clear functional 

connection to at least some of the surrounding listed farmhouses. As noted previously, 

Ardleigh has a strong working agricultural history and many of its statutorily listed assets 

(especially those located outside of its village boundaries) relate to this important local 

industry, providing an evocative reminder of the settlement’s social and economic 

origins. The listed buildings in the setting of the application site are no exception. 

For example, the national list entry for Bloomfields Farmhouse, Wick Lane (no. 

1253915) reads as follows:

012 49Page 137



List entries are not intended to be exhaustive but they do provide an overview of the 

main features of a building’s special interest. It is notable, therefore, that the brief list 

entry for this asset explicitly acknowledges the importance of the historic farming 

occupants of the site and of its close ties to the surrounding farmland.  

It is consequently clear that these sites are not only listed for their aesthetic value (i.e. 

their integral architecture) but for their communal and historical value (i.e. what they can 

tell us about past people, events and aspects of life in Ardleigh as well as providing 

valuable insight into the local agricultural industry/community over time). These values 

are fundamentally dependent on the ongoing preservation of a working agricultural 

setting for the buildings. The development in question would substantially and 

permanently erode this setting, transforming it beyond all recognition. 

Due to the working agricultural site’s integral historic connections to surrounding listed 

farm buildings and close physical proximity, the effect of the proposed development is 

considered to be far more intrusive and harmful to heritage significance  than any 11

previous “intrusive” development in the area (including the A12).

The Parish Council also has concerns that large amounts of HGV traffic is likely to pass 

in close proximity of a number of listed buildings. This is likely to increase pressures for 

insensitive building alterations (e.g. relaxing historic windows with modern double 

glazing) and, over time, has the clear potential to damage structural integrity. As above, 

the applicant has only considered the effect of the site’s physical development upon 

 as well as the capacity for public appreciation of the assets11

012 50Page 138



views to and from the listed building. No consideration at all has been given to the effect 

of the site’s operation (including in terms of noise/smells/vibrations associated with both 

operations within the site confines and with the introduction of large amounts of HGV 

traffic onto the roads). This is a significant omission which means the (likely substantial) 

heritage harm of the development cannot be properly established. 

As a result, the development is in firm conflict with:

• Local policy PPL 9;

• Section 16 of the NPPF; and

• The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

This conflict alone provides sufficient grounds to refuse the application.  

012 51Page 139



Ground of objection 11: Net amenity impact
The relocation of this major industrial employment site from a dedicated 

industrial estate in a built-up urban area of sustainable Harwich to a working, 

high quality arable field on the rural outskirts of Ardleigh would - contrary to the 

applicant’s assertion - comprise a net amenity harm and social disbenefit.

Although the applicant appears to accept that the development would represent a 

substantial departure form the recently adopted development plan, very few public 

benefits have been put forward to outweigh this harm. 

One of the very few public benefits put forward by the applicant is that the development 

would enhance amenities and that this comprises an overall social benefit of the 

scheme. For example, paragraph 11.16 of the applicant’s planning, design and access 

statement claims as follows:

“There are also social gains to the proposals, in that there will be a direct improvement 

to the visual and audible environment in the immediate area around Europa Way. This 

will reduce the amenity harm of the existing site, but due to design and greater distance 

from local residents.”

The Parish Council strongly rejects the applicant’s spurious allegation that the proposed 

relocation of this B8 industrial site from a dedicated industrial estate in an urban 

settlement to a high quality arable field on the rural outskirts of a small village would 

secure an amenity benefit or “social gain”. 

Objectively speaking, a dedicated industrial estate is the sort of location where industrial 

processes and disturbances are least obtrusive and best absorbed. 

Furthermore, it is not suggested that the business’s existing B8 unit in Harwich would be 

demolished or otherwise cease to be used. Even if the current occupant intends to use 

it for less intensive purposes, this will not prevent its likely return to a more typical B8 

use in the near future. 

Consequently, the actual effect of the development is that the amenity of the area 

around the retained B8 site in Harwich would remain materially the same, whilst the 

amenity of the area around the new B8 site in Ardleigh would be substantially 

reduced.This is a significant public disbenefit of the scheme and should certainly not be 

considered a “social gain”.  

012 52Page 140



Red pin marks the existing location of the business’s B8 warehouse on a dedicated 

industrial estate within an urban area with a complementary major industrial character 

Blue pin marks the proposed location of the business’s B8 warehouse on a working  

high quality agricultural field within a rural area with a low-density pastoral character

012 53Page 141



Ground of objection 12: Air Quality Assessment
The Air Quality Assessment accompanying the application fails to consider the 

likely significant impacts on both the existing PRoW and the planned Public Open 

Space to the immediate south of the site. Its findings are also dependent on the 

implementation of a Travel Plan which has not been provided and which the 

Parish Council disputes is achievable.

The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) that significantly 

omits to consider the potential effects of the development upon:

• PRoWs - the nearest located within c. 100m of the site boundary; and

• The planned public open space - or ‘Country Park” - due to be located in very close 

proximity of the site boundary.

Paragraph 3.15 of the AQA confirms that “relevant sensitive locations are those where 

members of the public will be regularly present over the averaging period of the air 

quality objective(s)”. This would certainly apply to the planned public open space which 

is anticipated to provide a valuable and well-used recreational outdoor facility to the 

local community. 

The results of the AQA are also dependent on the implementation of a travel plan to 

support and encourage sustainable travel. No such Travel Plan has been provided and 

it is not appropriate to leave this matter to be worked out post-permission. 

Given the severe lack of any sustainable travel opportunities  and the confirmed 12

inviability of the proposed hopper minibus mitigation, the Parish Council considers that 

there is no real potential for a Travel Plan to be secured that would genuinely support 

and encourage sustainable travel to and from the site. 

As this necessary mitigation is not achievable, the findings of the AQA are not valid or 

accurate and should be reconsidered. 

As it stands, there is insufficient information concerning the development’s impacts of 

 as the applicant anticipates that the vast majority of employees would be drawn from urban 12

settlements distant from Ardleigh village, the potential for the applicant to secure genuine 
sustainable transport links between employees’ origins (home) and destination (application site) 
is nil

012 54Page 142



air quality, particularly its impacts on the forthcoming public open space. Having regard 

to the contents of the current AQA, it appears highly likely that an objective investigation 

of the impact on the adjacent public open space would find that substantial immitigable 

harm is caused. The favourable conclusions of the AQA are also predicated on the 

adoption of a Travel Plan which does not exist and which, in the opinion of the Parish 

Council, is not achievable. 

012 55Page 143



Ground of objection 13: Noise Assessment 
The Noise Assessment accompanying the application fails to consider the likely 

significant impacts on both the existing PRoW and the planned Public Open 

Space to the immediate south of the site. Its findings are also predicated on a 

significant underestimation of vehicle numbers and fail to consider the noise 

impact of mechanical plant.

The Noise Assessment that accompanies the application contains various shortcomings 

and omissions. These notably include:

1. No assessment is conducted of the potential noise impact on nearby PRoWs and the 

planned public open space - or “Country Park” - due to be located in very close 

proximity of the site boundary. Both of these existing/planned outdoor recreational 

facilities are noise sensitive receptors, meaning the lack of any assessment of the 

impact on these sites is a very significant omission;

2. Per paragraph 8.1 of the assessment, its findings are based on the site containing the 

189 car parking spaces and 12 lorry parking spaces in total. It is not understood 

where these figures are taken from as they differ considerably from the figures put 

forward in the planning, design and access statement (which states 217 car parking 

spaces and 50 lorry spaces) and the application form (which indicates 159 car 

parking spaces and 50 lorry spaces). Evidently, the noise arising from the use of 50 

lorry spaces would be far greater than the noise arising from 12 lorry spaces; and

3.  Paragraph 7 of the assessment confirms that the development may include 

installations of ventilation and mechanical plant. However, as no details of these 

possible elements of the development are presently available, no assessment has 

been conducted of their noise impact. This is a significant omission that nullifies the 

results of the assessment as submitted. 

012 56Page 144



Ground of objection 14: Drainage 
The application site is located in an area with known drainage issues and water  

run-off vulnerabilities and insufficient information is provided concerning how 

the site’s drainage would be appropriately managed. As it stands, it is assessed 

that the development would unduly and unnecessarily exacerbate local drainage 

problems and water quality concerns.

The Parish Council is aware of drainage issues in the local area and consider that the 

development as submitted would only exacerbate these. The site also falls within the 

Ardleigh Reservoir Catchment Area where it is subject to local policy PPL 13 which 

seeks to ensure that new development in the vicinity of the reservoir does not harm its 

water quality. 

Ultimately, this is an area that is exceptionally sensitive to run-off water and drainage 

issues. Consequently, it is not an area where the permanent loss of multiple hectares of 

free-draining Greenfield land to non-permeable buildings and hardstandings should be 

contemplated in the absence of very compelling need or justification. The Parish 

Council is convinced that no such need or justification for the development exists.  

012 57Page 145



Ground of objection 15: Future development
Although the applicant suggests that the previously proposed “Phase 2” part of 

the application would no longer be pursued, the Parish Council has legitimate 

concerns that this is not the case. The Parish Council is similarly concerned that, 

if permission for this large application which stands in firm conflict with various 

important development plan policies is forthcoming, it would be very difficult for 

the District Council to resist its future expansion.

Although the applicant suggests that “Phase 2” of the development would no longer be 

pursued, the Parish Council has legitimate concerns that this is not the case. Certainly, 

there are some aspects of the current application that would indicate a firm intention to 

pursue future development on the site. For example, the amended site layout plan (ref. 

2748) includes annotation 13: “Future expansion”.  It is not known what this could refer 

to other than the future expansion of the site’s B8 operations. 

The Parish Council is also concerned that if permission is forthcoming for the current 

application, it would be very difficult for the District Council to resist its future expansion.  

This is because the District Council would have granted permission in spite of all of the 

material planning harms and sizeable policy conflicts identified throughout this report 

and consistency in decision-making is a very important planning consideration. 

012 58Page 146



Conclusion
This document provides Ardleigh Parish Council’s multiple compelling grounds of 

objection to application 20/00594/FUL for a major B8 development in the small rural 

parish of Ardleigh. 

It demonstrates, with evidence, that the application is in substantial conflict with various 

important and strategic planning policies. Furthermore, the Parish Council agrees with 

Colchester Borough Council that whatever public benefits could be applied to the 

development would apply in equal or far greater measure - whilst fewer public 

disbenefits would arise - if the development were relocated to a more sustainable and 

suitable site. Consequently, there are no material planning considerations that would 

indicate that the proposed substantial departure from the recently adopted spatial 

strategy of the development plan is justified. 

This document also explores a number of the social, environmental and economic 

harms and disbenefits of the scheme which are serious and manifold. Given the major 

scale of the development - in terms of both its size and its impacts - its approval would 

very significantly undermine the achievement of sustainable development in the District. 

Notwithstanding the overwhelming lack of any public benefits and evidenced abundance 

of substantial public disbenefits, the scheme also makes very little practical sense from 

the perspective of the business. 

Taking full account of the contents of this document, the application must be refused by 

the District Council. 

In the event that the applicant resolves to make any changes to the application, it is 

requested that the Parish Council is provided with a further opportunity to comment on 

the alterations.  

012 59Page 147



Addendum prepared by Andrew Cann

The Author
Andrew Cann (B.A. (Hons) MCILT APM is a former senior manager at Hutchison Ports 

UK and member of the Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport. He is an expert on 

logistics and has given evidence in variety of forums and the House of Lords. He 

recently represented two parishes in East Suffolk and had a 112 ha employment 

allocation removed from the now adopted East Suffolk Local Plan based on the 

evidence he gave that the allocation was not needed.

Purpose of the document
This document, which accompanies a planning-policy-led examination of the proposal 

written by Nikki O’Hagan of Planning Direct, will demonstrate that the proposed site is in 

the wrong place in terms of employee commuting and the in and out HGV movements 

the business relies on. 

Surya Foods Business Model
The planning application includes little information on the business model for Surya 

foods which may well be because the application would be rejected on sustainability 

grounds alone if the real HGV and employee movements of the business were known.

Surya Foods is an importer of World Foods. Indeed it says it is a World Food Wholesale 

Specialist. Dry, tinned, frozen and shrink wrapped products are imported from locations 

such as South Asia, East Asia and Africa which are then sold through the wholesale 

network. Surya foods does not sell fresh food nor does it sell to the end consumer - 

hospitality and domestic customers. 

Surya foods claims to have outgrown its site at Harwich and needs another site to 

expand.

The application is poorly prepared with scant information for such a large site 

and one it must be assumed is designed as a speculative attempt to move ‘on the 

cheap’ with little or no consideration of the impact on the local and wider 

community and natural environment. It is inherently unsustainable and 

unsupportable. The applicant has failed to provide actual data for present HGV 

and employee movements as this would fatally undermine this application.

012 60Page 148



The wrong site
The site chosen by Surya foods is not the best placed for their business model nor is it 

best placed in terms of impact. Therefore, one must assume it is attractive to Surya 

Foods for other reasons. Presumably as a green field site with no planning permission it 

is cheap and that is the reason it was chosen rather than an allocated or otherwise 

suitable site (per local policy PP 7) conforming with the UK Government policy to have 

plan-led development.

So why do I say it is not the best site for Surya Foods business model? The location of 

logistics parks is primarily planned in order to reduce mileage and provide sufficient 

employees to fill vacancies. One needs to look at the mileage of vehicles entering the 

site and leaving, be they employees or goods vehicles. Margins in distribution are tight 

(about 2%). Ensuring that mileage of goods vehicles is reduced saves money on fuel 

and maintenance. Ensuring logistics activities are close to urban areas ensures that 

sufficient employees are available to work in the warehouse, reduces mileage and 

enables sustainable transport solutions for employees (such as walking, cycling and 

buses) to be provided. Reduction in both sole occupancy vehicle use and goods 

vehicles movements also reduces emissions and therefore is more sustainable. 

The model above is so well developed that the majority of all large scale warehouses in 

the country are either in the Golden Triangle (see overleaf) or at the port where the 

goods have entered the country - this is called port-centric logistics. For Surya Foods, 

as a national wholesaler they should thus have their new warehouse in the Golden 

Triangle or at the port of entry. 

It could be assumed that the port of entry for the majority of the goods Surya 

imports is Harwich as they claim: “it will significantly reduce the number of HGV 

movements to and from Harwich, as well as at the Harwich site.“ This is not true as 

very little is exported or imported through Harwich and whatever food stuffs are 

imported here are via ferries (from the near continent) and are fresh food - hence the 

rapid option of using a ferry. 

Surya foods is an importer of whole foods from India, Africa etc. The nearest port 

dealing with deep-sea  traffic such as this is Felixstowe. On-traffic from Felixstowe will 13

largely be going to the ‘Golden Triangle’. Thus being close to, or indeed on site at the 

 Vessels going to South Asia, Africa, East Asia13

012 61Page 149



Port of Felixstowe, or in the Golden Triangle, or at least somewhere between the two, 

will be the best location for the business, provided the location is also sustainably linked 

to a large urban centre. So whilst there is no traffic between Harwich Port and the 

existing or proposed site and therefore none of the benefit claimed from that source 

being closer to the Port of Felixstowe will be of benefit - however this benefit will 

increase being closer to the route between Felixstowe and the Golden Triangle (on the 

A14) or at the port.

The Golden Triangle
The Golden Triangle is an area of land in 

the centre of England that has a large 

concentration of national distribution 

centres. The reason for this is that the area 

is 4 hours from 90% of the UK population 

(see maps produced by Savills research on 

the right).

With most large scale retailers having one 

national distr ibution centre ( located 

predominantly in the golden triangle) other 

businesses that are part of the same supply 

chains (such as Surya Foods which as a 

wholesaler supplies goods to the national 

retailers) now locate themselves in locations 

that are the best to serve these national 

distribution centres. Thus for Surya Foods 

their best locations in the East of England 

would be at Felixstowe port or along the 

route (the A14) from Felixstowe Port to the 

golden triangle (see diagram overleaf). As 

Surya foods has a number of employees 

already working at the business at Harwich 

they would presumably want to stay in the 

area  (so these people could still work for 14

 It is difficult to judge as we neither know how many employees Surya currently has, where 14

they live, nor indeed how many employees they aim to take on at the new premises which is 
estimated. I discuss this lack of information in more detail later in this report.

012 62Page 150



the firm) but have access to the larger employment markets of Ipswich, Colchester or 

potentially Stowmarket).

So what site choice should Surya make?
Colchester, or indeed the proposed site, would be the wrong choice however. If we look 

at the diagram above the shortest route for HGV’s to travel to the Golden Triangle from 

Felixtowe Port is along the A14 (route marked with green arrows). 

Diverting to the proposed site, or further to Colchester, would result in two wasted trips - 

one to the site and 1 to the Golden Triangle (route marked with red arrows). 

Thus, in choosing a site close to the present site, the applicant would ideally select one 

of the sites marked in black - two sites at Felixstowe, 1 at the ‘Sugar Beet Site’, Ipswich, 

and 1 at Gateway 14 Stowmarket. 

All are on the route to the Golden Triangle, are close to large sources of labour, have 

012 63Page 151



space for 9ha of development and (with Gateway 14 and the Felixstowe on-port site) 

benefit from tax free status as part of the ‘Freeport East’ initiative. https://

www.freeporteast.com

What about existing employees?
One could of course argue that any employees commuting from Harwich would travel 

further to work however this argument is spurious for these reasons:

1) We do not know how many employees there are at the Harwich site;

2) Surya Foods has said they will retain the Harwich site so there will be no net loss of 

employees (and therefore no net movement of already existing employees to the new 

site);

3) It is very likely (given the size of the Ipswich and Colchester employment market) that  

majority of the employees at the Harwich site are from Ipswich and Colchester 

anyway; and

4) Given again the size of the employment market in Ipswich and Colchester the new 

employees will almost certainly be coming from those two conurbations and not 

Harwich nor indeed Tendring.

Of course we could be much more certain of the harm to sustainability that the 

proposed use at the proposed site represents if the applicant’s agent had bothered to 

get actual data on current employment levels and the distance existing employees 

commute, bothered to look at where the HGV’s were coming and going to at present 

and bothered to do a full site selection report looking at the relative merits of all 

available/suitable sites across the sub-region. 

The absence of such information shows very little regard for the consequences of their 

selection, whilst the attempt to try to claim the proposed site is sustainable based on 

estimated employee numbers is laughable.15

So why isn’t Surya Foods / the agent using actual data which will be readily available 

 This is a point picked up twice (and still not dealt with) by Essex County Highways who 15

correctly point out that for an existing business estimated employee numbers and commercial 
vehicles movements should not be used. 

012 64Page 152

https://www.freeporteast.com
https://www.freeporteast.com


from the business?  One can only assume this is because it proves my point above - 16

that the site is in the wrong place, inherently unsustainable and of limited economic 

benefit to Tendring.

Transport and Sustainability
The applicant has submitted a revised Transport Statement following the numerous 

criticisms made by Essex Highways (Highways) on 5th July 2021. The revised 

statement does not adequately deal with the comments made by Essex Highways.

• The applicant has designed visibility splays on the Old Ipswich Road access that 

accord with 85th percentile road speeds and not the national speed limit of 60 m.p.h. 

The access proposed therefore remains unsafe.

• Highways had requested that the access above be closed off and a new purpose-

designed access by provided for the site. A proposal has been made for access off the 

A12 / A120 junction eastbound but this has not been approved by Highways England 

and therefore the application should not be considered until this junction improvement 

is assessed and approved and a funding and delivery contract put in place for its 

delivery.

• The original Transport Statement recognises that the use of walking, cycling and 

public transport is very unlikely by the unknown number of employees working at the 

site. No assessment is made of travel specifically from Harwich, Colchester or Ipswich 

and the practicality of using sustainable forms of transport or indeed the feasibility of a 

Travel Plan working. 

• The applicant now indicates that accessibility improvements are yet to be agreed with 

Essex Highways presumably this is because there are no practical improvements that 

can be made to make a significant positive contribution to sustainability. Thus the 

development should be considered unsustainable (and therefore unsupportable) until 

such time as Essex Highways have approved of the proposed improvements.

• The applicant has failed to provide a Travel Plan. I would suggest this is because 

 We know this is available because the applicant / agent has calculated how big their site, 16

warehouse, parking etc needs to be and one can use postcodes of employees (so as to protect 
their Data) in order to establish where current employees are commuting from and inform the 
calculations needed to establish where employees in the future will reside.

012 65Page 153



given the location and paucity of options providing a workable Travel Plan is 

impossible and therefore, again, the application remains unsustainable and therefore 

unsupportable. Without a Travel Plan the sustainability of the proposed 

development cannot be assessed and the application should be refused for this 

reason.

• The Transport Consultant has, despite, Essex Highways attempting to correct 

the methodology used, failed to provide actual trip rates for the present 

operation. This is the wrong approach and again one must question why the 

applicant is unwilling to divulge current travel patterns of their employees and HGV 

traffic. 

The assumptions made by the applicant are inexcusably wrong. There is an assumption 

that only 10.9%  of traffic is northbound from the site where I would estimate that it is 17

more likely to be 80% to the Golden Triangle for reasons I have set out earlier. This is 

fundamentally dishonest and importantly greatly reduces the impact measured on the 

Ardleigh Crown (A12/A120) interchange which is already under traffic stress. This 

has severe implications for the Ardleigh Crown interchange and can only speculate 

that the applicant has not provided actual data as the predicted HGV movements 

from the proposed site on traffic at the Ardleigh Interchange (and perhaps Copdock 

junction) would in concert with already permitted development require significant 

improvement of the junction as large expense.  

Again the applicant should provide actual commercial vehicular movements now which I 

believe will confirm my hypothesis that the majority of ‘in’ traffic is from Felixstowe 

and ‘out’ traffic to the Golden Triangle all through the Ardleigh Crown interchange. 

This alone is  reason to refuse the application and the unwillingness of the applicant / 

agent to provide this actual commercial vehicle flow information from the present site 

should raise serious suspicion.

Conclusion
The application before is a poor one that, despite Essex Highways attempts, fails to use 

actual data to establish HGV movements and employee commuting routes. One can 

only speculate that the application is designed to get planning permission for this green 

 In Essex Highways response of 5th July 2021 they incorrectly state this as 20.9%. Whilst 17

Essex Highways notes this is far too low the applicants use of 10.9% understates the 
movements even further. 

012 66Page 154



field site because it is cheaper than other site provide through the plan-led planning 

system.

Surya foods is an importer of raw produce from Africa, South and Eastern Asia with the 

nearest port of entry being Felixstowe Port. The destination for the largest part of the 

finished product will almost certainly be the Golden Triangle. With the large-scale 

increase in the size of the business there will be a large number of HGV movements 

made both ways between the proposed site, through the Ardleigh Crown Interchange 

and onto the A14 at Copdock. All of these trips are unnecessary and therefore 

unsustainable as the correct location for the proposal is between Felixstowe Port at the 

Golden Triangle. For this reason alone, the application should be refused. 

The concomitant amount of traffic heading north through the Ardleigh Crown 

Interchange and Copdock Junction is a fraction of the real traffic that the business will 

generate and the effect on the already stressed junctions, with additional permitted 

development, could require significant infrastructure works at both junctions.

Highways England is unaware of this effect and notwithstanding this the 

proposed Eastbound improvement at the Ardleigh Crown has not been approved. 

This alone is a reason for refusal as is the use of the wrong HGV data which 

understates the effect on both major junctions.

The client has not provided a Travel Plan nor agreed any mitigatory 

improvements to achieve a more sustainable development for employees. At 

present it is likely that all employees will travel to the site by car and from some 

distance making the proposed site inherently unsustainable. This alone is a 

reason for refusal.

The National Planning Policy Framework requires all development to be 

sustainable. The present application is not sustainable and is not capable of 

being made sustainable. With the use of the actual employee and HGV movement 

data this station would, in my view, be much worse with real detrimental effects 

on other businesses and residents in the sub-region. This application should be 

refused.

012 67Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Report of Assistant Director (Planning) - A.1 - Planning Application – 20/00594/FUL – Land adjoining Ipswich Road and Wick Lane, Ardleigh, CO7 7QL
	20.00594.FUL - Stage one road safety audit - doc ref IT2114_RSA1_DR_13.09.21
	Ardleigh Parish Council Objection dated Feb 2022 by Planning Direct
	Executive Summary
	Grounds of Objection
	Ground of objection 1: Public Open Space
	Ground of objection 2: Development Plan
	Ground of objection 3: Unsustainable location
	Ground of objection 4: Employment figures
	Ground of objection 5: Social/economic deprivation
	Ground of objection 6: High quality agricultural land
	Ground of objection 7: Suitable alternative sites
	Ground of objection 8: Landscape effect
	Ground of objection 9: Harm to biodiversity
	Ground of objection 10: Harm to heritage assets
	Ground of objection 11: Net amenity impact
	Ground of objection 12: Air Quality Assessment
	Ground of objection 13: Noise Assessment
	Ground of objection 14: Drainage
	Ground of objection 15: Future development

	Conclusion
	Addendum prepared by Andrew Cann
	Surya Foods Business Model
	The wrong site
	The Golden Triangle
	So what site choice should Surya make?
	What about existing employees?
	Transport and Sustainability
	Conclusion




